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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I'm Jim

          3  Gennaro.  I'm Chair of the Council's Committee on

          4  Environmental Protection.  We are very happy to be

          5  joined by Council Member Leroy Comrie, Chair of the

          6  Committee on Consumer Affairs, with whom we are

          7  holding this important Joint Hearing today.  We

          8  thank you all for being here this morning.

          9                 We are here today to talk about the

         10  critical issues of reducing energy demand, enhancing

         11  energy efficiency and promoting the use of clean,

         12  on-site or distributed energy in New York City.

         13                 In addition to delving into what is

         14  already being done with respect to these areas, this

         15  Hearing seeks to look to the future and explore new

         16  opportunities that may exist, additional measures

         17  that can be taken and any obstacles that may stand

         18  in the way of reducing energy demand, enhancing

         19  energy efficiency and promoting the use of clean,

         20  distributed energy in New York.

         21                 There are a number of reasons why

         22  it's critical that we focus on reducing demand,

         23  enhancing energy efficiency and promoting clean

         24  on-site generation for several reasons.  First,

         25  doing these things helps to ensure that the City is
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          2  able to continue to meet energy demand and maintain

          3  a reliable supply of power.  As you know, due to

          4  physical constraints and in order to ensure

          5  reliability, 80 percent of the City's peak summer

          6  energy demand must be met in City.

          7                 In addition, although some may

          8  disagree on when, it is anticipated that new

          9  capacity will be needed in New York City, in the

         10  foreseeable future, to meet rising demand, both from

         11  projected population growth and increased power use.

         12    Demand reduction, energy efficiency and the use of

         13  clean, on- site generation all help to meet current

         14  and future energy needs and can help speak to the

         15  need for additional capacity.

         16                 Second, we must continue to strive to

         17  meet our energy needs in the cleanest way possible.

         18  The production of power can generate a host of air

         19  pollutants, such as particulate matter, sulfur

         20  dioxide, nitrogen oxides and mercury, which can

         21  result in serious harm to public health, including

         22  aggravated asthma, reduced lung capacity, cancer and

         23  other lung diseases.

         24                 In addition, the generation of power

         25  by the combustion of fossil fuels results in global
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          2  warming pollution. Global warming threatens to have

          3  disastrous impacts on New York City, including an

          4  increase in the frequency of droughts, the flooding

          5  of infrastructure and an increase in the loss of the

          6  wetlands and an increase in illness and death due to

          7  heat stress and increase in summer electricity

          8  demand in an already taxed power grid.  Making

          9  energy efficiency measures and, thus, decreasing

         10  demand helps reduce the need for additional capacity

         11  and associated air pollution, as well as the need to

         12  utilize existing, high polluting peaker plants.

         13                 In addition, the use of clean, on-

         14  site generation, including renewable resources such

         15  as solar and wind power and other sources, such as

         16  fuel cells and combined heat and power produce

         17  electricity with either low or even zero air

         18  pollution.

         19                 Finally, demand reduction, energy

         20  efficiency and the use of clean on- site generation

         21  all help to alleviate stress on our power

         22  distribution system.  And, as we witnessed this

         23  summer with the blackout in Queens, the failure of

         24  our distribution infrastructure can result in dire

         25  consequences.  We certainly all saw that.
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          2                 It is, thus, necessary to do all we

          3  can to ensure that this does not happen again.  In

          4  addition to other steps that should be taken, which

          5  are not the subject of today's Hearing, the topics

          6  we are discussing today can and will help alleviate

          7  stress on our power distribution system.

          8                 Before closing, I just want to say

          9  that I look forward to working with the

         10  Administration on the issue at hand today.  I see

         11  Gil is here with us and he's been a great partner in

         12  all of these efforts.  I look forward to working

         13  with the Administration on the issue at hand today,

         14  including as a member of the Mayor's newly

         15  established Sustainability Advisory Board, which

         16  will be addressing the City's energy policy, among

         17  many other important areas.

         18                 I also look forward to, you know,

         19  working with Con Edison on these issues, who I am

         20  profoundly disappointed in is not here to testify

         21  today.  I just, you know, feel compelled to sort of

         22  go on the record and really express my profound

         23  dismay at Con Ed for being here.  Certainly, they

         24  are part of any complete discussion with regard to

         25  energy supply in New York City, energy demand, all
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          2  of these issues.  They are critical to that and

          3  after my staff and their staff working together for

          4  the last almost two weeks to make the proper

          5  preparations for the meeting, we got a call after

          6  close of business expressing that they weren't going

          7  to come.

          8                 I don't want to speak for everyone

          9  here, but, certainly, from where I sit, in this

         10  Chairman's seat, this is profoundly disrespectful to

         11  this body and to the people who are here today that

         12  want to participate in the Hearing and anyone who

         13  will derive information from this Hearing.  So, it's

         14  lacking without Con Ed's presence, but, you know,

         15  what can I tell you, I am profoundly disappointed.

         16  So, I wanted to make that very clear.

         17                 However, we do have gracious people

         18  here in the audience, such as EPA, who has kindly

         19  deferred to the Administration, who will be

         20  testifying first.  Usually, we follow protocol, the

         21  Federal Government going first, but EPA is more than

         22  gracious in sort of giving the floor to the

         23  Administration, who will go first and I'm grateful

         24  for that consideration.

         25                 We are joined by Council Member
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          2  Melissa Mark Viverito, a Member of the Committee on

          3  Environmental Protection. The staff of the

          4  Committees worked very hard to make sure that we're

          5  going to have a terrific Hearing today.  The staff

          6  of the Committee on Environmental Protection, Donna

          7  De Costanzo, Daniel Avery, my own great Chief of

          8  Staff, Peter Washburn is here. Leroy's Committee,

          9  I'll mention them here, Thomas Ferrugia, Brian Sogol

         10  and all the good people that, you know, keep the

         11  Committee on Consumer Affairs going.

         12                 With that said, I'd like to turn

         13  things over to my gracious friend and colleague,

         14  Leroy Comrie, the Chairman of the Consumer Affairs

         15  Committee, of which I'm a proud Member.  So, I

         16  recognize Councilman Comrie for an opening

         17  statement.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Thank you Jim.

         19  Good morning. I am Leroy Comrie.  I'm Chair of the

         20  Consumer Affairs Committee and I want to thank

         21  everyone for attending this joint meeting.  I want

         22  to thank especially Jim Gennaro, a Member of the

         23  Committee, for scheduling this Hearing to discuss

         24  the methods to lower energy demand and improve

         25  overall energy efficiency in New York City.  I'd
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          2  also like to thank his staff.  He just mentioned

          3  their names, but Donna De Costanzo and Daniel Avery

          4  and his Chief of Staff, Peter and mine as well,

          5  Joshua Rivera, Brian Sogol and Thomas Ferrugia for

          6  putting this Hearing together.

          7                 The Consumer Affairs Committee has

          8  been conducting a series of Oversight Hearings

          9  stemming from the massive Queens County power

         10  outages last summer.  Today's Hearing is not

         11  directly in response to that emergency  --  I see

         12  we're blessed with a baby this morning and that's

         13  kind of unusual for this body, that's why I looked

         14  up.  Today's Hearing is not directly in response to

         15  that emergency, but instead we will be reviewing the

         16  broader concept of energy efficiency in New York

         17  City.  However, it should be noted that improved

         18  efficiency leads to reduced demand on the existing

         19  electrical system and goes towards supporting

         20  network longevity, lessens consumption of

         21  overutilized resources and is clearly an added

         22  benefit of energy- efficient technology.

         23                 It is generally agreed that the

         24  supply of electricity in New York City will be a

         25  serious concern in the near future.  A report
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          2  released earlier this year by the New York Building

          3  Congress calculated projection population growth,

          4  economic expansion, as well as generators expected

          5  to go off- line in the next 20 years.  The report

          6  concluded that the City would need additional

          7  generating capacity of between 2,400 and 3,000

          8  megawatts to support growth over the next 20 years.

          9                 However, in 2003, the New York

         10  Independent System Operator concluded that there is

         11  little evidence that serious consideration is being

         12  given to additional new generation in New York

         13  State, New York City or on Long Island.

         14                 In addition to concerns about

         15  sufficient energy supply to meet demand, energy use,

         16  including the combustion of fossil fuels to generate

         17  electricity, causes emissions of several dangerous

         18  pollutants.  These chemicals pose a number of public

         19  health problems, such as respiratory diseases,

         20  asthma, heart disease and cancer.  Improved energy

         21  efficiency, reduced energy demand and clean energy

         22  have the potential to combat, or at least slow, the

         23  progress of several of these challenges facing our

         24  City.

         25                 Today's Oversight Hearing will
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          2  consider some of the methods the City and other

          3  entities are using to address problems stemming from

          4  increasing energy consumption.  To speak on these

          5  issues, we have invited representatives of the

          6  Economic Development Corporation, the Environmental

          7  Protection Agency, Con Edison, KeySpan, the New York

          8  Power Authority, The Natural Resources Defense

          9  Council, as well as organizations promoting

         10  environmental conservation and the use of

         11  alternative power.

         12                 We look forward to listening to all

         13  of the witness testimony and it's because we have a

         14  child here, I'll bring her back here, we have to

         15  make sure that we have a future for our children,

         16  that we can have a City that has enough energy and

         17  does it in an efficient way.  Clearly, the City

         18  Planning is expecting that this City will grow by a

         19  million people in the next ten to 15 years.  Also,

         20  the region, as you know, is exploding in population

         21  and our general energy consumption per household is

         22  increasing with the use of technology, smart homes

         23  and everything else.  We need to be much smarter

         24  about how we develop energy, how we use energy and

         25  how we expend our energy.
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          2                 So, hopefully, this Hearing will show

          3  and highlight some of the new initiatives that all

          4  parties are doing to make that happen.  We haven't

          5  been joined by any other Members and I'd like to

          6  turn it back over to my good colleague, good friend

          7  and Chair, Councilman Jim Gennaro.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you Mr.

          9  Chairman. I'll take this opportunity to thank you in

         10  a special way for the, for the host of Hearings that

         11  you have held since the unfortunate events of the

         12  summer.  I believe this is the fifth Hearing of the

         13  Consumer Affairs Committee related to energy issues

         14  and it's a great testament to your commitment, to

         15  this vital issue for the folks in New York City.

         16  So, thank you, Mr. Chairman, for that.

         17                 Before we call our first witness,

         18  what do you say, this Hearing, we talk about energy

         19  conservation, how about we save a little energy?

         20  I'd like to direct the Sergeant to turn the lights

         21  down a little bit.  I'm starting to perspire here or

         22  whatever.  So, before we even have our first word of

         23  testimony we're already saving power.

         24                 I'll direct staff to calculate the

         25  positive environmental impact over the next couple
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          2  of hours over the reduced lighting in terms of, you

          3  know, decreased carbon emissions and everything

          4  that's  --  we're from the government, we're here to

          5  help.  So, yes, if you could turn the lights down a

          6  little bit, that would be great.

          7                 It gives me great pleasure to call

          8  our first witness, Gil Quiniones of EDC and Susan

          9  Cohen of DCAS.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Whenever you're

         11  ready, you can begin.

         12                 MR. QUINIONES:  Good morning.  Just

         13   --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Sorry, sorry, I

         15  was just doing a costume change there.  It's our

         16  process in this Committee to swear all witnesses in.

         17    So, I'll just have Donna De Costanzo proceed with

         18  that before you start with your good testimony.

         19                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Please raise

         20  your right hand.  In the testimony that you are

         21  about to give, do you swear or affirm to tell the

         22  truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         23                 MR. QUINIONES:  Yes.

         24                 MS. COHEN:  Yes.

         25                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Thank you.
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          2                 MR. QUINIONES:  Just  --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yes, I just

          4  want to jump in, I've been informed by Counsel that

          5  the baby in the audience is your baby, Gil.

          6                 MR. QUINIONES:  Just in case I will

          7  not be able to answer some of your questions, she's

          8  ready to take, under oath and  --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Oh, I see.

         10                 MR. QUINIONES:  --  Answer those

         11  questions today.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, okay.

         13  She's waiving to us, how cute.  How cute.  Wow, this

         14  is, happy Halloween to her.  Happy Halloween to her.

         15    So, yes, Gil, please.

         16                 MR. QUINIONES:  Okay.  Good morning

         17  Chairman Gennaro, Chairman Comrie, Members and staff

         18  of the Environmental Protection and Consumer Affairs

         19  Committees.  For the record, I am Gil Quiniones,

         20  Senior Vice President of Energy and

         21  Telecommunications at the New York City Economic

         22  Development Corporation and the City's Energy Policy

         23  Coordinator.  With me today, as you had mentioned,

         24  is Susan Cohen, Executive Director, Program

         25  Evaluation and Energy at the Citywide Department of

                                                            17

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  Administrative Services or DCAS.

          3                 My professional background is in

          4  mechanical engineering, with a primary focus on

          5  energy management, particularly energy efficiency,

          6  clean on- site generation, high performance building

          7  design and peak load management.

          8                 I appreciate the opportunity to

          9  testify on the energy- related issues you have

         10  identified and on the Administration's current

         11  energy policies.  At the Mayor's direction, the

         12  Economic Development Corporation's Energy Department

         13  addresses energy- related matters in coordination

         14  with various City agencies.  In my capacity as the

         15  Energy Department Head, I also act as the City's

         16  chief consultant on energy policy issues.

         17                 As you know, the Mayor also recently

         18  formed the Office of Long Term Planning and

         19  Sustainability, which will play a key role in, among

         20  other things, comprehensively addressing energy

         21  issues, energy demand, green buildings, energy

         22  supply and distribution.  It will be taking a 25-

         23  year look at how best to improve our energy outlook,

         24  reduce CO2 emissions and secure our natural

         25  resources both Citywide and within the City's own
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          2  facilities and operations.

          3                 In my testimony today, I would like

          4  to touch on a few different areas where the Energy

          5  Department and the Department of Citywide

          6  Administrative Service have focused their efforts

          7  towards reducing demand, improving energy efficiency

          8  and supporting clean distributed generation.

          9                 The Energy Department at EDC works

         10  closely with the City Law Department on various

         11  energy regulatory matters. Through this

         12  collaboration, the Energy Department has advocated

         13  for and achieved the establishment of groundbreaking

         14  demand side management programs statewide and

         15  specifically for the Con Edison service territory.

         16  Allow me to elaborate.

         17                 In 1996, the New York State Public

         18  Service Commission established the System Benefits

         19  Charge Fund, to fund public policy initiatives in

         20  areas not expected to be adequately addressed by

         21  competitive energy markets, such as energy

         22  efficiency, peak load management, low- income energy

         23  affordability, research and development and

         24  environmental monitoring and mitigation.

         25                 The New York State Energy Research

                                                            19

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  and Development Authority, who are also called

          3  NYSERDA, was designated as the administrator of this

          4  statewide public benefits program.  In the ten years

          5  that followed, the original SBC program has been

          6  expanded and enhanced significantly.  In 2001, SBC

          7  Two was initiated with a goal of 250 megawatts of

          8  demand reductions in the Con Edison territory and an

          9  ultimate budget of $765 million statewide.

         10                 The program came to an end in 2006

         11  and estimates reflect that 450 megawatts of demand

         12  reductions have actually been achieved in the Con

         13  Edison service territory.  That's 200 megawatts more

         14  than the original goal.  With the City's active

         15  support, the SBC program was renewed for another

         16  five- year term. Similar projects and objectives are

         17  being applied to this SBC Three program, which will

         18  run from November of this year to 2011. NYSERDA

         19  expects to achieve 300 megawatts in the Con Edison

         20  service area with $875 million in statewide funding.

         21                 Due to the unique market and needs of

         22  the Con Ed service territory, as you had indicated

         23  in your opening remarks, the City of New York

         24  advocated strongly for an additional demand side or

         25  DSM program specifically for New York City and
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          2  Westchester.  Largely due to the efforts of the

          3  City, $224 million has been allocated to a DSM

          4  program here, with a goal of 300 megawatts to be

          5  achieved through a focus on energy efficiency, peak

          6  load management and clean distributed generation.

          7                 NYSERDA will manage $112 million of

          8  these funds. The NYSERDA program is the System Wide

          9  Program or we call is SWP, which provides incentives

         10  for demand reductions to all customers in the Con Ed

         11  area.  Con Edison manages the other $112 million in

         12  what is called Targeted Program or TP.  These

         13  incentives are distributed through a request for

         14  proposal bidding process, available to anyone

         15  meeting Con Edison's requirements and reducing load

         16  in targeted load pockets or energy constrained areas

         17  of the City.  In sum, these City- supported

         18  projects, SBC and both Demand Side Management

         19  Programs, should achieve a total of 700 megawatts in

         20  demand reductions by 2011.

         21                 Another area EDC's Energy Department

         22  focuses its efforts on is in leading a public-

         23  private Energy Policy Task Force that

         24  comprehensively assesses the City's energy needs and

         25  recommends specific policies and programs to meet
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          2  those needs.  I serve as the Chair of this Task

          3  Force.  Our most recent comprehensive scorecard and

          4  action item implementation schedule was issued in

          5  July of this year and is attached to my testimony.

          6  As I will discuss further, a number of those items

          7  are relevant to the energy issues under

          8  consideration by your Committees today.

          9                 Besides successfully rallying for SBC

         10  Three and the introduction of a Demand Side

         11  Management program in the Con Edison service

         12  territory, another recent highlight from the Energy

         13  Policy Task Force is the passage of the New York

         14  State Appliance and Equipment Energy Efficiency

         15  Standards Act of 2005.

         16                 The City of New York and other Energy

         17  Policy Task Force Members now serve on the New York

         18  State Appliance Efficiency Standards Advisory Group

         19  convened by NYSERDA and the New York State

         20  Department of State, New York Department of State,

         21  to help develop these new efficiency standards.

         22                 This brings me to my final area of

         23  focus, peak electric demand reduction and energy

         24  efficiency efforts in City of New York government

         25  facilities.
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          2                 For a number of years, DCAS has

          3  helped facilitate City agencies' purchase of

          4  EnergyStar products.  Using these products save

          5  energy, helps prevent global warming and promotes

          6  cleaner air without sacrificing product quality and

          7  performance. Additionally, Local Laws 118, 119, 120,

          8  121 and 123 of 2005 are setting new, more stringent

          9  requirements for the energy efficient products

         10  purchased by City agencies, ranging from building

         11  materials to appliances that will build upon the

         12  City's successes under the EnergyStar program.

         13                 The City is also working to improve

         14  the energy efficiency of its own facilities.  Local

         15  Law 86 of 2005 requires the majority of City

         16  governmental capital projects, including new

         17  construction, building additions and substantial

         18  reconstruction projects be built according to green

         19  building standards and efficiency requirements.

         20                 In conjunction with the Department of

         21  Design and Construction, DCAS' Citywide Training

         22  Center now offers a Design and Construction

         23  Excellence introductory course to educate City

         24  architects, engineers and Capital Program staff

         25  about the U.S. Green Building Council's Leadership
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          2  in Energy and Environmental Design or what's

          3  normally called LEED program and its requirements.

          4                 Projects targeted specifically for

          5  energy efficiency in existing City facilities are

          6  generally carried out by the DCAS Office of Energy

          7  Conservation under the Energy Cost Reduction

          8  program.  A typical energy efficiency project

          9  includes the installation of energy efficient

         10  lighting and controls, motors, and heating,

         11  ventilating and air conditioning equipment. The City

         12  has carried out an average of 20 of these projects a

         13  year in the last decade.  Through fiscal year 2006,

         14  those projects saved more than 90 million kilowatt

         15  hours a year and brought peak demand down by more

         16  than 20 megawatts.

         17                 In summer 2006, a record 43 City

         18  facilities, representing seven City agencies,

         19  including the City University of New York,

         20  Department of Environmental Protection and

         21  Department of Sanitation and Parks helped meet the

         22  challenge of reducing grid connected electric load

         23  on five peak load days. The average reduction over

         24  the five days was 21 megawatts.

         25            On August second, in the middle of the

                                                            24

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  heat wave, the reduction reached 34 megawatts.  That

          3  amount is equivalent to the energy needed to power

          4  34,000 households and will result in a total

          5  incentive payment from the New York Power Authority,

          6  the City's electricity supplier, to participating

          7  agencies of approximately $840,000.00.

          8                 I also want to point out that DCAS,

          9  as the City's utility account holder, the Office of

         10  Emergency Management and the Mayor's Office

         11  directly, took very active roles during the August

         12  heat wave.  They required City agencies and

         13  encouraged City residents and businesses to join in

         14  the efforts to reduce electricity demand.  These

         15  directives and appeals for emergency load reductions

         16  resulted in prompt and effective action to reduce

         17  the pressure on the electric grid.  Across multi-

         18  site agencies, participation went far beyond just

         19  those buildings formally enrolled in the NYPA Peak

         20  Load Management program.

         21                 The City has engaged in and continues

         22  to undertake many other efficiency efforts.  An

         23  initiative I have mentioned before is the Department

         24  of Transportation's reduction in its own energy use

         25  by more than ten percent annually through the
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          2  installation of new lower- wattage street and park

          3  lights and LED or light emitting diode traffic

          4  lights.

          5                 You may also know that DCAS provides

          6  extensive monthly energy cost and usage data to the

          7  Energy Liaison Officers or ELOs, who handle agency

          8  energy matters and provides regular workshops for

          9  ELOs on how to best use that data.  Regarding clean

         10  distributed generation, the City has developed over

         11  two megawatts of electricity generated through clean

         12  technologies at 13 different locations.  Six sites

         13  use solar power, generated either through building-

         14  integrated or rooftop systems.  Four additional

         15  small, clean DG projects, one fuel cell and three

         16  solar installations are currently under

         17  construction.

         18                 I hope my testimony has been helpful

         19  to the Council.  As you can see, the Administration

         20  shares your concerns and fully recognizes the need

         21  to address improved energy efficiency both in the

         22  City of New York operations and by the public at

         23  large.  Once again, we appreciate the opportunity to

         24  appear before you and we would be happy to answer

         25  any questions you may have.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

          3  Thank you, Gil. I just want to recognize that we're

          4  joined by Council Members Domenic Recchia, a Member

          5  of the Committee on Environmental Protection and

          6  John Liu, a Member of the Consumer Affairs

          7  Committee.

          8                 I have a question or two for Gil.

          9  According to the New York City Energy Policy Task

         10  Force 2006 Status Report, the City is "currently

         11  working on a broad- based energy management plan to

         12  improve the energy efficiency of its buildings, as

         13  well as to promote the use of renewable energy, peak

         14  load management and smart metering."  The Report

         15  states the plan will be finalized in the second half

         16  of 2006.  The questions are, what is the status of

         17  this plan and can you share with us any elements

         18  that this plan will include?

         19                 MR. QUINIONES:  Well, we are

         20  continuing to work on the plan now as part of the

         21  Mayor's Office of Long Term Planning and

         22  Sustainability.  As you know, there is one working

         23  group, one of the working groups in that initiative

         24  specifically addresses managing demand and so this

         25  particular item is now one of the pieces of the
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          2  puzzle that integrated into that plan.  So, it will

          3  be incorporated and we will work with the working

          4  groups and the advisory board as the plan is put

          5  forth.

          6                 The second part of your question, the

          7  elements will be what has been discussed to date in

          8  that working group. It will include energy

          9  efficiency, peak load management, clean distributed

         10  generation and high performance building design.

         11  So, all of the, the same elements will be

         12  incorporated in that plan now, not only from the

         13  lengths of energy reduction and energy efficiency,

         14  but now sustainability and climate change.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.  To

         16  what extent does the City utilize the process of

         17  building commissioning in both existing and new

         18  facilities?

         19                 MR. QUINIONES:  It is my

         20  understanding that part of Local Law 86 that

         21  commissioning could be a part in the point rating

         22  system for LEEDs.  So, under Local Law 86, that

         23  could be a component.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I was thinking

         25  more about existing buildings.  I should have
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          2  clarified that.

          3                 MR. QUINIONES:  Yeah, in existing  --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Because we know

          5  that Local Law 86  --

          6                 MR. QUINIONES:  Correct.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  --  Going

          8  forward is going to have a lot to say about that.

          9                 MR. QUINIONES:  In existing buildings

         10  when we do energy efficient retrofits in buildings,

         11  part of, of doing that, when we do the punch list

         12  towards the end of completing a project is a

         13  commissioning effort.

         14                 Now, in terms of whole building

         15  commissioning for existing buildings, that's going

         16  to be part of the, the work I had mentioned and you

         17  had asked about where will this fit in part of the

         18  long- term plan and sustainability.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  The

         20  Energy Policy Task Force 2004 Report states that

         21  load growth in New York City is "largely a product

         22  of increased residential construction and of sharply

         23  lower prices for home air conditioning units."  In

         24  light of this fact, what is the City doing to

         25  promote energy efficiency and conservation in the
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          2  residential sector?

          3                 MR. QUINIONES:  We're doing, we're

          4  attacking it on several fronts.  As I mentioned in

          5  my testimony, the first area that we're really

          6  keeping on top is appliance efficiency standards.

          7  We want to make sure that air conditioning equipment

          8  sold in New York City and New York State are of the

          9  highest efficiency.

         10                 We are also working with NYSERDA and

         11  Con Edison in direct load program, meaning be able

         12  to control residential air conditioners during, when

         13  the grid is constrained.

         14                 Third, we have been a, a big advocate

         15  and successful in our work with the PSC in

         16  introducing more real time pricing and smart

         17  metering, because that is the only way to provide

         18  visibility to consumers and to be able to react when

         19  needed by the grid or by high prices.

         20                 Lastly, all of the, the RFPs that HPD

         21  and EDC are doing that are related to residential

         22  development includes LEED and high efficiency

         23  standard requirements.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.  I

         25  just want to follow- up a little bit with the real
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          2  time pricing.  I don't know, just a little more in-

          3  depth on how that's going.  There's been a lot of

          4  discussion about that.  We have witnesses here today

          5    --

          6                 MR. QUINIONES:  Correct.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  --  We're very

          8  interested in that.  Just, I don't want to belabor

          9  it.  I know that we have to --

         10                 MR. QUINIONES:  Correct.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  --  We have so

         12  many good witnesses to hear from and I don't want to

         13  ask too many questions, but I couldn't resist.

         14                 MR. QUINIONES:  Well, there are two

         15  areas where real time pricing is being introduced.

         16  Just recently, all customers with peak electric

         17  demand of over 1,500 kilowatts are now required to

         18  go to real time pricing.  So, for large commercial

         19  buildings, anybody with 1,500 kilowatts of peak

         20  electrical demand or higher are now going to be

         21  required to be in real time pricing.  Hopefully, by

         22  giving them the right price signals, that they will

         23  react and behave accordingly.

         24                 On the residential, it's a little

         25  slower in its introduction.  We are working with
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          2  the, you know, some of the folks here who will be

          3  testifying.  We are working with them, the PSC and

          4  NYSERDA to accelerate the implementation of real

          5  time pricing in residential sector.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

          7  Yes, just a couple items on on- site generation.

          8  What opportunities now exist for the expansion of

          9  clean on- site generation in City operations?

         10                 MR. QUINIONES:  It's, it's, clean on-

         11  site generation is really one of the measures that

         12  we look at when we evaluate various energy projects.

         13    If there is an appropriate application and a cost-

         14  effective application of on- site generation in any

         15  of our larger facilities, we, that will be

         16  incorporated in what we call our ENCORE projects.

         17                 One thing to note with clean on- site

         18  generation, there are, it fits in a, in a very

         19  specific type of facility, usually facilities with a

         20  lot of heat requirement, either for process or have

         21  longer hours of operations, like hospitals. That's

         22  one.

         23                 The other thing is there is a

         24  technical issue within the Con Edison grid.  Because

         25  of the way the Con Ed grid is designed, not a lot of
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          2  clean distributed generation can be installed

          3  without compromising the reliability of the grid.

          4                 In fact, in the last rate case of Con

          5  Edison, we had asked that they do an evaluation, an

          6  analysis of this problem and do some physical

          7  upgrades at their substations around the City, so

          8  that it can accept more of this clean distributed

          9  generation into the grid.  But, it is, there's a

         10  technical issue that, unfortunately, compromises the

         11  reliability of the grid at this point in some areas.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  The upgrading

         13  of substations that you just referenced, how is that

         14  going?

         15                 MR. QUINIONES:  The last report that,

         16  Con Edison is required to submit a progress report,

         17  they're actually ahead of schedule at this point.

         18  So, over, you know, the rate case that was approved

         19  in March of 2005, is a three- year rate case. So,

         20  they were supposed to complete the work, I believe,

         21  within that time period.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.  In

         23  the Energy Policy Task Force 2006 Status Report, you

         24  mention the bi- annual reporting requirements for

         25  Con Ed regarding their on- site generation
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          2  application process.  I guess, in the absence of Con

          3  Ed, can you talk a little bit about that?

          4                 MR. QUINIONES:  Yes.  They are, they

          5  are required. If you check the Con Ed website today,

          6  they actually are also required to post a lot of

          7  the, their progress in this area. Progress on how

          8  many breakers have they upgraded in their

          9  substation, the customers who have applied to

         10  connect to their grid for clean distributed

         11  generation, and their, you know, their status in the

         12  application process.  So, because of the City's

         13  efforts in the last rate case, we made sure that Con

         14  Edison streamlined the process, number one, and also

         15  to make it more transparent.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

         17  Thank you Gil. Chairman Comrie has questions.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Can you expound

         19  on what you talked about with the real time pricing

         20  and the smart metering? Is that for, you said

         21  buildings of over a certain amount of wattage?

         22                 MR. QUINIONES:  For the commercial

         23  customers of Con Ed  --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  That are over

         25  how many?
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          2                 MR. QUINIONES:  1,500 kilowatts.  So,

          3  if your peak electric demand is 1,500 and higher,

          4  you are now required to be under real time pricing,

          5  meaning that your price of electricity varies every

          6  hour  --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Right.

          8                 MR. QUINIONES:  --  Depending on the

          9  market conditions.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  And they have,

         11  Con Edison has a meter that's a smart meter for

         12  those type of facilities now?

         13                 MR. QUINIONES:  I wouldn't call them

         14  smart meters, but more advanced meters compared to

         15  residential customers.  So --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Do you have a,

         17  because our last Hearing talked about the whole

         18  implementation of smart metering and you said smart

         19  metering, so that caught my attention.

         20                 MR. QUINIONES:  It's not smart in the

         21  sense that it will, like in the last, in your last

         22  Hearing, where it will transmit a signal back to Con

         23  Ed if the customer doesn't have power.  It's not

         24  that type of a smart meter.  But, it is more

         25  sophisticated than a residential meter because it
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          2  measures demand instantaneously, as well as energy.

          3  Whereas, in residential facilities, it only measures

          4  the amount of energy used.  It doesn't measure

          5  demand right now.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  So, it can

          7  adjust for peak load conditions, will it help on

          8  peak days reduce the power that the building is

          9  needing or?

         10                 MR. QUINIONES:  The goal is it will

         11  make the, the usage pattern of the building visible

         12  to the operator of the building so that then they

         13  can implement measures to lower load either by

         14  cutting back on usage or running their emergency

         15  generator and they can actually see the reduction of

         16  those actions that they have taken.  Therefore,

         17  report that back to Con Ed or to the New York

         18  Independent System Operator and then that's the way

         19  how they get their incentives that are associated in

         20  this program.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  And a 1,500

         22  kilowatt building, that's typically what type of

         23  building?  It could be a manufacturer or a high rise

         24  building?

         25                 MR. QUINIONES:  It's most likely a
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          2  large, commercial building.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Can buildings be

          4  retrofit to meet these standards?

          5                 MR. QUINIONES:  No.  They already

          6  have the necessary equipment to be put in real time

          7  pricing.  So, there's no additional retrofits

          8  needed.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay.  According

         10  to your Energy Policy Task Force 2006 Report, you

         11  hired a consultant to analyzed the City's energy

         12  discount programs to determine how they can better

         13  encourage investments in energy efficiency.  That

         14  was supposed to be completed some time this fall.

         15  Can you give us an update on that?

         16                 MR. QUINIONES:  It's actually still

         17  ongoing and it, it is a much bigger study.  EDC is

         18  actually looking, has hired a consultant and looking

         19  at all the benefit and incentive programs that we

         20  provide to our customers.  So, whether they're

         21  industrial development authority low cost financing

         22  or tax abatements that are as of right, capital

         23  contribution programs that sometimes we get into and

         24  energy discount programs, we're looking at the whole

         25  gamut and that study is still ongoing.
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          2                 In the meantime, just by our own

          3  policies, when we give energy discount programs to

          4  customers, we actually require them to conduct

          5  energy audits, so that they can identify cost

          6  effective measures that they can implement while

          7  they're doing their renovations.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  So, as you

          9  expanded the scope of the study, have you included

         10  other agencies to be involved in it, such as DEP or

         11  Housing with the Code Committee to try and implement

         12  all of the practices and best practices?  And, HPD,

         13  you said earlier, you're asking them to build or

         14  require people to build to higher LEED standards and

         15  energy efficiency standards, are they a part of this

         16  study as well?

         17                 MR. QUINIONES:  I am not sure.  I

         18  could get back to you if they are included in that.

         19  My understanding is we're, the consultant was hired

         20  to look at the portfolio of EDC incentives.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  We've been

         22  joined by Council Member Andrew Lanza from Staten

         23  Island, Council Member Kendall Stewart from Brooklyn

         24  and Council Member Diana Reyna from Brooklyn.

         25                 Have your consultants been working
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          2  with the reality that the City is going to be

          3  expanding by another million people in the next 15

          4  years?

          5                 MR. QUINIONES:  The consultant

          6  looking at the incentives is not really looking at

          7  that part of the work.  We do have, our, my team at

          8  EDC, with our own set of consultants working with

          9  the Mayor's Office of Long Term Planning and

         10  Sustainability, are addressing the needs of, the

         11  energy needs, both supply and demand of the City,

         12  between now and 2030.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay.  You

         14  talked in your statement, on page seven, about the

         15  2006 effort that you worked with 43 City facilities

         16  to meet the challenge of reducing the grid connected

         17  electric load on five peak load days and that you

         18  were averaging at least 21 megawatts during that

         19  particular time and also that you were able to get

         20  up to 34 megawatts.  Was that a sustainable

         21  reduction and is that a reduction that could be

         22  increased by next year?

         23                 MS. COHEN:  Hi.  Good morning.  I'm

         24  Susan Cohen.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Good morning.
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          2                 MS. COHEN:  Is it sustainable?  I

          3  guess you'd have to ask all the people who were very

          4  warm those days.  I mean, it was a real effort by

          5  people to do with less energy and the energy, you

          6  know, buys us comfort.  So, you know, I wouldn't say

          7  it's sustainable in the sense that people aren't

          8  used to keeping their air conditioning thermostats,

          9  you know, at 72 or 74 or 76 on a very hot summer

         10  day.

         11                 I know that DCAS has, each year,

         12  reached out to agencies to encourage more facilities

         13  to participate in the program, if they're big

         14  enough.  They have to be big enough. They have to

         15  have a sheddable (phonetic) load to qualify and the

         16  number has crept up every year in terms of numbers

         17  of facilities who participates.

         18                 In addition, you know, I think we, as

         19  you, you said that difference between the 21 average

         20  and the 34 peak, I think we can add to that with

         21  more and more facilities, stretching the, you know,

         22  the limits on those days.  So, in that sense, I

         23  think we can increase somewhat our savings.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Were any

         25  services lost or were any agencies forced to send
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          2  personnel home during that particular period?

          3                 MR. QUINIONES:  Not to my knowledge.

          4  If you recall, during the heat wave and the outage

          5  in northwest Queens, the City put Riker's Island in

          6  emergency generators, as well as the water pollution

          7  control plant in the area.  The City agencies,

          8  through DCAS, within that area, were asked to reduce

          9  not just in northwest Queens, but Citywide.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Is there a plan

         11  to develop those sites that are constantly being

         12  asked to reduce power to come up with some self-

         13  generation or solar or other types of generation to

         14  try to take them off the grid eventually?

         15                 MR. QUINIONES:  Again, I think the

         16  way we're approaching the issue is to, first of all,

         17  try and solve the technical problem in the Con Ed

         18  grid, because even if we find suitable candidates

         19  and suitable buildings, until we solve the technical

         20  problem with Con Ed, this is not going to be a

         21  feasible solution.

         22                 That's the first step.  The second

         23  step is to not, in all of our facilities, where we

         24  think clean distributed generation is a good

         25  application, is a cost- effective application, we're
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          2  going to investigate it and implement it if, if,

          3  again, if it makes good business sense to do so.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  I could see

          5  Riker's Island being a beneficiary of self-

          6  generation and clean generation. Also, the power

          7  plants as a location, since those are high usage and

          8  critical plants.

          9                 Actually, in an emergency situation,

         10  I mean, you've called on them to do power reduction

         11  and it could be good if they could eventually get

         12  off the grid.  I got some great questions in a

         13  minute, because that still perplexes me how a grid

         14  cannot, well, let me, you can answer the first

         15  question first. Is there a plan underway to increase

         16  the ability of those larger facilities, like Riker's

         17  Island and the power plants to become self-

         18  generating through new technology?

         19                 MS. COHEN:  The Department of

         20  Corrections has come to DCAS because we hold the

         21  ENCORE Agreement to look, to undertake a feasibility

         22  study of just that and EDC is participating in that

         23  process to be sure that the right questions are

         24  asked in that study.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  I would strongly
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          2  suggest that that's part of the consultant's overall

          3  study, more larger facilities, especially self-

          4  contained facilities, like Riker's, that probably

          5  has space to put up a clean power plant would be

          6  helpful to us overall.  It's not in your district?

          7  Okay, I hear you.  We've been joined by Public

          8  Safety Chair Vallone from Astoria.

          9                 You talked about also the, also on

         10  page seven, you talked about the active roles that

         11  the City took, and actually very excellent roles

         12  that the City took once they were aware of the

         13  details of the blackout during the August heat wave.

         14    Those directives that you made in the appeals for

         15  energy load reductions, which got the actions to

         16  reduce the pressure, is that policy being reviewed

         17  at this time and being updated as a result of what

         18  happened last summer?

         19                 MR. QUINIONES:  As you know, the lead

         20  agency that implements this plan on behalf of the

         21  Administration is the Office of Emergency Management

         22  and my understanding is that, and I believe in their

         23  testimony to your Committees' Hearings before, is

         24  one of the things that they have done is to create a

         25  Power Outage Response Team, PORT, which is, which is

                                                            43

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  a new, a new initiative in addition to the current

          3  protocols that they have between the City and Con

          4  Edison on  --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Are you an

          6  active member?

          7                 MR. QUINIONES:  --  On summer peak

          8  and also on heat- related issues in the winter.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Right.  Are you

         10  an active member of the PORT team?

         11                 MR. QUINIONES:  I am not personally a

         12  member of the PORT team, but I do coordinate with

         13  the Office of Emergency Management as part of EDC.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay.  All

         15  right.  I don't want to ask you too many questions

         16  since your little one is here. But, I just want to

         17  ask you, you talked about the Con Ed substation grid

         18  having technical issues that compromises the ability

         19  to incorporate new technology.  Can you just expound

         20  on that a little?

         21                 MR. QUINIONES:  Yes, sorry.  There is

         22  a technical issue.  When the Con Ed grid was built,

         23  and really, the way to envision the Con Ed grid is,

         24  it's a, it's 56 minigrids put together within New

         25  York City.  So, we actually have 56 minigrids, Long
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          2  Island City grid is one of the 56 grids.  When the,

          3  100 years ago, when the electric system was

          4  designed, it was not conceived that there would be a

          5  lot of little generators connected to the grid all

          6  over the place.  It was, it was designed based on a

          7  system where there will be a few big power plants

          8  and transmission systems supplying into these 56

          9  minigrids.

         10                 So, now that there's new technology

         11  for putting a lot of these little clean distributed

         12  generation all over, those 56 grids, the

         13  substations, in each of those 56 areas, were not

         14  really designed for a lot of little power plants in

         15  addition to the big power plants supplying the grid.

         16    It's almost like in your home, you know, there's a

         17  circuit breaker in a substation and that circuit

         18  breaker cannot take many of these little generators

         19  the way those substations were designed.

         20                 In the last rate case, Con Edison, in

         21  March, 2005, we had asked Con Ed, number one, to

         22  analyze the issue and number two, to upgrade those

         23  circuit breakers, so that they have more capacity to

         24  accommodate those small generators, clean the

         25  distributed generation technologies onto their grid.

                                                            45

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2    That's kind of where we are at this point.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay.  So,

          4  that's why they haven't been able to absorb extra

          5  energy from buildings that have been able to or have

          6  the ability to give back to Con Ed extra energy, is

          7  that?

          8                 MR. QUINIONES:  That's correct.  Now,

          9  there are locations where the Con Ed grid can accept

         10  these small clean distributed generation units.  For

         11  example, the Bank of America building in Time

         12  Square, in that particular area, they are actually

         13  installing a clean distributed generation unit in

         14  that new building.  In that particular area, the

         15  substation can accept this extra technology onto

         16  that grid.  But, in some of the 56 areas, they just

         17  can't accept anymore.  They need to upgrade the

         18  breakers first, in the substation, and then be able

         19  to accept these little generators to be connected to

         20  it.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Just, I'll sum

         22  up with just one last question.  Has there been any

         23  kind of calculations on what kind of savings this

         24  could possibly mean to consumers if, once this

         25  technology is implemented?  Would it  --
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          2                 MR. QUINIONES:  It is, it's been

          3  estimated, it's different for different facilities.

          4  So, it's kind of hard to pin one number of savings,

          5  especially recently, when natural gas prices spiked

          6  up.  You know, the primary fuel for this small,

          7  clean distributed generation is natural gas.  So,

          8  it's been very difficult to pin down a number.  They

          9  vary depending on the types of facilities.  A

         10  hospital will have a different set of savings

         11  relative to an office building.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  You haven't done

         13  anything for individual homeowners, as far as their

         14  ability to, any estimates as far as maybe even just

         15  holding the line with prices once the energy

         16  reduction is done?

         17                 MR. QUINIONES:  There aren't really,

         18  right now, cost- effective small distributed

         19  generation that can be put in homes.  It's, the

         20  technology is only cost- effective for large

         21  buildings, hospitals, or high rise residential

         22  facilities or industrial facilities.  It hasn't come

         23  down to the scale where it could be applied in a

         24  single- family home or a multi- family home.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Thank you.  Mr.
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          2  Chair, I don't have any, I have more questions, but

          3  I know we have a lot of witnesses, so I'm going to

          4  defer.  Thank you.  Thank you very much.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you

          6  Council Member Comrie.  I just want to follow- up on

          7  something that Chairman Comrie had, with regard to

          8  the interconnection problems.  You talked a bit

          9  about the interconnection problems regarding clean

         10  on- site generation.  Just for clarification, do you

         11  have any idea when these problems will be figured

         12  out regarding the interconnection, timetable?

         13                 MR. QUINIONES:  I don't know the

         14  exact, it could be three years or a five- year

         15  program.  I have to get back to you on the exact

         16  order of the PSC, which was given in the March, 2005

         17  rate case.  But, there was a specific schedule.  Con

         18  Edison is required to submit progress reports where

         19  they are in the upgrade program of the substations.

         20                 Now, I must say that it's, it's not

         21  going to make the problem completely disappear.  It

         22  will just increase the, the capacity for the grid to

         23  accept more clean distributed generation.  At some

         24  point, it's going to max out again.  The breakers

         25  are going to max out again and either a new
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          2  technology or another upgrade may be necessary at

          3  that point in time.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  Thank

          5  you.  Thank you.  What measures, if any, does the

          6  City currently have in place to promote energy

          7  conservation and efficiency throughout New York City

          8  on hot, high energy demand days?  Not just with City

          9  operations, but everything in New York City.

         10                 MR. QUINIONES:  There are actually

         11  three existing programs that, that are in place.

         12  One is when the grid, when there is a supply

         13  capacity constraint, meaning there's not enough

         14  electrons from power plants or transmission systems,

         15  the, our state's grid operator, New York Independent

         16  System Operator, will call on customers who have

         17  previously committed to reduce load. They would call

         18  for those reductions and provide incentive payment

         19  for those customers who, who will comply to that

         20  call. So, that addresses supply capacity.

         21                 Con Edison, they have their own

         22  program that is not focused on supply capacity, but

         23  more distribution constraint. So, I mentioned to you

         24  before, there are 56 of these minigrids in New York

         25  City and if some of those grids are getting
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          2  constraint, they will start calling their customers,

          3  especially the large ones, and start asking them to

          4  reduce power.  And, in return, Con Edison provides

          5  an incentive to those customers, again, who comply.

          6                 The third component is the program

          7  that we have with our partner, The New York Power

          8  Authority, where, again, during those, the hottest

          9  of the, the hottest days in the summer, that we ask

         10  large City operations, through DCAS, working with

         11  NYPA to reduce its load.  When we do that, we do get

         12  incentive payment from the New York Power Authority

         13  as part of that program.  So, there are really three

         14  programs that are already in place addressing both

         15  supply and distribution issues.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  What is the

         17  nexus between what you do in your efforts to reduce

         18  energy consumption on these high demand days and

         19  what Con Ed does?  How does that synergy work?

         20                 MR. QUINIONES:  Well, the, it's,

         21  they're complimentary because during the, most of

         22  the time, during the, when we have heat waves, when

         23  the grid is constrained, the supply capacity, most

         24  likely, is also reaching its highest levels.  So,

         25  while they are not necessarily contemporaneous in
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          2  all cases, in most cases, when the New York ISO

          3  calls for a reduction, Con Ed and NYPA will, as

          4  well, call for reductions.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.  We

          6  have a few, oh, before we proceed and call our next

          7  witness, we just want to recognize, in a special way

          8    --  we have a couple of more Council Members that

          9  want to ask questions of this panel, but we just

         10  want to recognize, we have PS81 from Ridgewood

         11  Queens is here. PS81, hello.  Then, we also have

         12  PS84 from Williamsburg Brooklyn. These schools are

         13  represented very ably by Council Member Reyna, who

         14  is here.

         15                 This is what Council Member Reyna

         16  does when she comes to work.  This is what happens.

         17  Today, as you can see, we're having a Hearing on

         18  energy consumption, to try to make sure that we all

         19  have enough power.  So, that's what this Hearing is

         20  about.  Thank you for visiting City Hall and have a

         21  good day.

         22                 Yes, of course, staff is informing me

         23  that, of course, the two Chairmen have taken up so

         24  much time questioning, Leroy and I, so now I'm in

         25  the position of having to ask my colleagues to be
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          2  brief.  Why don't you have Leroy ask them to do

          3  that?  Anyway, anyway, so, we do have to move along.

          4    We have Members that have questions.  I guess we

          5  certainly want to ask the Members to limit their

          6  question to the specific scope of this Hearing.

          7  With that said, I recognize my good friend and

          8  Member of this Committee and Chairman of our Public

          9  Safety Committee, Council Member Vallone.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Thank you

         11  Mr. Chair. Just wanted to first apologize for my

         12  lateness, but I was Grand Marshall of a Halloween

         13  parade with a bunch of kindergartners. I'm not sure

         14  where that ranks in importance with this Hearing,

         15  but it was a lot more fun, so.

         16                 I just want to quickly say, you were

         17  mentioning power plants when I walked in and I want

         18  to thank you for your work and for your testimony

         19  today.

         20                 I just remind you, that my district

         21  does provide now probably over 70 percent of the

         22  power for this City.  So, when these decisions are

         23  being made, you know the State Energy Policy is

         24  probably an oxymoron, because there is none.  It's

         25  basically, if you're a friend of Pataki and donate
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          2  to him, you can put a power plant any where you

          3  want.

          4                 So, I would appreciate your help in

          5  making sure that we do have clean, new power plants,

          6  that it's tied to a program of closing down the old,

          7  filthy power plants and it's also disbursed fairly

          8  throughout the City.  So, I just didn't want to miss

          9  this opportunity to say that and thank you for your

         10  all your help.  Thank you Mr. Chairmen.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Wow, Peter,

         12  thank you, thank you for being brief.  We should all

         13  be like Peter.  We should all be like Peter and

         14  Peter's been a great advocate for energy sanity in

         15  this town.  I know he's always continue in that

         16  vain.  Council Member Stewart.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Thank you

         18  Mr. Chair.  I'm going to try to be brief also.  You

         19  mentioned 56 grids.  Is that being distributed, you

         20  know, in and around our communities?

         21                 MR. QUINIONES:  No.  I mentioned that

         22  if you look at the Con Ed grid, the way to visualize

         23  the Con Ed grid is really, is that it is composed of

         24  56 interconnected  --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  All right
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          2   --

          3                 MR. QUINIONES:  --  Grids.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  --  Is that

          5  like substations?

          6                 MR. QUINIONES:  Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  All right

          8  and 56 in and about  --

          9                 MR. QUINIONES:  Distribution areas,

         10  correct.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  All right.

         12  With the wave of construction that is going on right

         13  now, is that going to create greater demand for

         14  energy?

         15                 MR. QUINIONES:  Definitely and  --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  All right.

         17                 MR. QUINIONES:  Part of the, in fact,

         18  in the late, last Con Edison rate case, because of

         19  the increased activity and economy, growing economy

         20  of New York City and all of the building permits and

         21  construction, Con Edison requested and was approved

         22  to spend $3.4 billion over the next three years,

         23  starting March, 2005, just to address what you're,

         24  what you've mentioned in making the grid reliable

         25  and make sure that there is sufficient supply to all
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          2  the  --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  And, most

          4   --

          5                 MR. QUINIONES:  --  Growth.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  --  Likely,

          7  substations.

          8                 MR. QUINIONES:  Part of it are

          9  substations  --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Right.

         11                 MR. QUINIONES:  --  Part of it are,

         12  you know, just basic infrastructure of our power

         13  system.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Having said

         15  that, are there any comprehensive study that has

         16  been done to relay the fears of health issues around

         17  these substations?

         18                 MR. QUINIONES:  I am not familiar of

         19  any recent studies done.  I know some research

         20  institutions have done previous studies, but I am

         21  not familiar of any one, that recent studies on it.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Do you think

         23  that in that three point something billion dollars

         24  that Con Ed is going to invest, they should, at

         25  least part of it, a little portion of it could have
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          2  gone into studies as to health effects around these

          3  substations?

          4                 MR. QUINIONES:  Again, I'm not

          5  familiar whether, they may have.  I have to double

          6  check and get back to you.  I'm just not familiar

          7  whether it's included in that, in that capital

          8  upgrade plan.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  All right.

         10  I'm just concerned that in our quest to satisfy

         11  energy concerns and all of that, that we do it in a

         12  way that, you know, is prudent to making sure that

         13  there's no negative effect as we increase

         14  substations and these grids.  All right?  Thank you

         15  Mr. Chair.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

         17  Thank you Council Member Stewart.  Council Member

         18  Reyna.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Thank you Mr.

         20  Chair.  I just wanted to ask a question, because I

         21  was just reviewing the testimony and there's an

         22  accompanying chart.  Within the chart,

         23  recommendation numbers 15 through 18 mention a few

         24  of the rezonings including the

         25  Greenpoint/Williamsburg rezoning, as far as an
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          2  energy infrastructure master plan that, I guess, is

          3  in progress.  Stages have been completed.  Other

          4  phases are in planning stages.

          5                 I wanted to just ask, within this

          6  scope of a chart, if you can briefly explain to me

          7  whether or not, you know, how does this affect our

          8  neighborhood?  Is this, you know, the signal for us

          9  to fear that there's going to be a request for a

         10  neighborhood to have an energy plant in, on the

         11  waterfront or the expectation that our neighborhood,

         12  because it's going to assume more units, should be

         13  the first to be slated for a  --

         14                 I'll take a, you know, quick example,

         15  Transgas Energy, everyone knows, is trying to get

         16  cited on the waterfront. Separate and aside from

         17  that, the issue of net metering and energy

         18  efficiency as far as our industrial manufacturing

         19  businesses, whose demands to try to reduce costs by

         20  being able to sell back energy, unused energy, and

         21  they're not able to, goes into the whole

         22  conservation issue.

         23                 They've been, the technology is not

         24  as advanced as it should be to be able to do that.

         25  So, we have many business people out there ready and
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          2  willing to, their operation plants use the most

          3  energy and at night and on weekends, they're not

          4  using it.  So, there's no reason for that energy to

          5  not  --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Council Member

          7  Reyna, Council Member Reyna, I've just got to ask

          8  you to like ask a question.  I'm just, I apologize.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  That was a

         10  question.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  I

         12  apologize.  We just have to move along.

         13                 MR. QUINIONES:  Okay, there are four

         14  things in your, in your question.  The first one,

         15  the energy infrastructure master plans are not, were

         16  not targeted to determine whether one area will need

         17  a plant or not.  It was really more the delivery

         18  infrastructure.

         19                 Since we're anticipating a lot of

         20  growth in areas of large scale, rezoning and

         21  redevelopment, like the Far West Side,

         22  Greenpoint/Williamsburg, Downtown Brooklyn and Lower

         23  Manhattan, that we had asked Con Ed to take a look,

         24  a 20- year look, that if all of our projections of

         25  number of commercial residential mixed use buildings
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          2  actually occur in these areas, how would you, Con

          3  Edison, invest and build your system?

          4                 We asked them to look at scenarios,

          5  what if all the units or the buildings are going to

          6  be 30, 40 percent more efficient than current

          7  standards, what, how will that change your plans?

          8  So, that was really the purpose of those studies.

          9                 In terms of the other three, net

         10  metering, I know is being discussed and we're

         11  supporting that before the Public Service

         12  Commission.  Transgas, you know the Administration's

         13  position of that since the beginning as part of the

         14  state citing board process.

         15                 In terms of energy efficiency, we

         16  have all these programs now that will address not

         17  only large buildings, but small to midsize

         18  manufacturing and we're going to make sure that

         19  we're going to work with NYSERDA and Con Ed, so that

         20  we, and EDC, through EDC and Small Business Services

         21  Department's efforts, reach out to those entities.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Thank you Mr.

         23  Chair.  I just wanted to reiterate the demand of

         24  energy and how there's going to be an even larger

         25  demand and to have an outlook 20 years from now is a
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          2  great way of planning responsibly.  But, this is

          3  part of what your Hearing is all about and so I

          4  needed to just make sure that this was not the

          5  evidence the City needed to site another energy

          6  plant in our neighborhood.  In addition to that,

          7  just making sure that we're doing as much as

          8  possible as far conservation is concerned, advancing

          9  technology to assist those businesses that consume

         10  the most.  Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you

         12  Council Member Reyna.  Council Member Melissa

         13  Mark-Viverito.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  Thank

         15  you Mr. Chair. Actually, I wanted to follow- up.

         16  You just mentioned, you know, because I guess my

         17  question here with regard to, as a City, how we look

         18  at energy conservation in general, is what role kind

         19  of plays in that?  You know, I have concerns as well

         20  that they're not here.

         21                 I wonder, just my cynical side,

         22  whether they have an interest in looking at

         23  conservation period.  So, I wanted to know, you just

         24  mentioned something where you did request of Con Ed

         25  that if, hypothetically, this were to happen, how
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          2  would that impact your plans and your outlook.  What

          3  was their response to that?

          4                 MR. QUINIONES:  They did produce the

          5  report.  The report, the Energy Infrastructure

          6  Master Plan for Hudson Yards in Lower Manhattan

          7  have, those, that one has been completed and

          8  submitted before the Public Service Commission and

          9  to the City. So, I would, and we would be more than

         10  happy to share that report to.

         11                 Essentially, it showed that if our

         12  projections of development and the rate of that

         13  development will occur over the next 20 years, Con

         14  Edison then came back to ask, well, then we need, we

         15  probably need to reinforce our system in this area,

         16  maybe add a substation, put more gas pipelines to

         17  supply those buildings.

         18                 The second question, which was part

         19  of the report, we said, what if all of the buildings

         20  are going to be ten percent more energy efficient or

         21  40 percent more energy efficient compared to current

         22  standards, how will that effect the number of

         23  investment that you have to make in those areas?

         24  They have delineated those as well in the report.  I

         25  think what's best is we share that report with you.
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          2  It's a public document.  I should also say that

          3  they're currently doing and in the process of

          4  finishing a similar report for Downtown Brooklyn and

          5  Greenpoint/Williamsburg.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  Now,

          7  but those reports are based on your request.  It's

          8  not something that they did on their own, correct?

          9                 MR. QUINIONES:  It was based on our

         10  request in their last rate case, which was concluded

         11  in March of 2005. That's correct.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  So,

         13  just follow- up kind of question, what role do you

         14  think that Con Ed, outside of being prodded or being

         15  encouraged or pushed by the City, by any agencies,

         16  what role could they play in this effort moving

         17  forward, independent of that?

         18                 MR. QUINIONES:  Yeah.  I think Con Ed

         19  plays a crucial role and they are a part, they are a

         20  member of our team in the Mayor's, the new

         21  initiative of the Mayor in, through the Mayor's

         22  Office of Long Term Planning and Sustainability.

         23  Con Ed is working hand- in- hand with us in trying

         24  to determine what we should do and how we should

         25  design our system as effectively and efficiently as
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          2  possible between now and 2030 to accommodate the

          3  growth that Chairman Comrie cited, which he derived

          4  from the New York Building Congress Report.

          5                 In the short- term, though, we

          6  believe that we need to set the right incentives and

          7  regulatory framework for Con Ed to be more proactive

          8  in energy efficiency.  There is a current proceeding

          9  before the Public Service Commission, where the

         10  Commission is asking stakeholders whether Con

         11  Edison's ability to earn money should be tied or

         12  should not be tied to the amount of electrons or gas

         13  molecules that they sell, because, there's a notion

         14  that if they make more money if they sell more, that

         15  they are not incentivized to do energy efficiency-

         16  type programs.  So, that proceeding is ongoing.  The

         17  City is a very active party in that proceeding and,

         18  again, we'll be more than happy to share that

         19  information to you as well.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  My

         21  last question, Mr. Chair, if you will indulge me.

         22  I'm encouraged by that.  But, I'm also, you know,

         23  just looking at the report here and what your

         24  testifying, I'm also encouraged by the steps that

         25  the City is taking about increasing energy
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          2  efficiency in New York government facilities.

          3                 You mentioned a couple of sites where

          4  solar energy is used, six sites used solar power and

          5  four additional DG projects are currently into

          6  construction.  Where would those be? Under what

          7  agencies do they fall under?  What are they exactly?

          8                 MS. COHEN:  A few of them are DDC-

          9  initiated projects.  One of the children's museums,

         10  my agency, DCAS, initiated a demonstration project.

         11  We got some state funding at Bronx High School of

         12  Science.  This is for rooftop solar and the Queens

         13  Hall of Science.

         14                 But, you should know that,

         15  unfortunately, as Gil had said, the technology isn't

         16  there yet to make those projects really cost-

         17  effective.  There is still a premium for solar

         18  energy far above the cost of conventional energy.

         19  So, there are demonstration projects, you know, we

         20  hope that people will get interested.  We hope that

         21  will spark technological breakthroughs so that costs

         22  can come down.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  Thank

         24  you Mr. Chair.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you
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          2  Council Member Mark-MARK-VIVERITO.  I just want to

          3  thank this panel in a special way. You're kind of

          4  doing double duty.  Oh, yes, okay, all right. Yes,

          5  what I'll do, Diana, is I'll call the next panel and

          6  then we're going to recognize the kids upstairs.

          7  Okay.  I'm going to do it right now.  I'm just going

          8  to dismiss this panel and we're going to call the

          9  other panel and then as they're getting seated,

         10  we're going to do it.  Guys, thanks very much.

         11                 MR. QUINIONES:  Thank you.

         12                 MS. COHEN:  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I really

         14  appreciate you being here.

         15                 MR. QUINIONES:  Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  We're calling

         17  our next witness, Walter Mugdan from EPA and Berry

         18  Shore, oh, just Walter will be testifying by

         19  himself, but Berry is here and he's a great guy.

         20                 While Walter's getting comfortable,

         21  we're going to recognize, in a very special way,

         22  more of Council Member Reyna's constituents are here

         23  for a tour of City Hall.  Let's hear it for PS75 in

         24  Brooklyn and PS299 from Brooklyn as well.

         25                 So, good to have you here.  You're
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          2  represented very, very ably by Council Member Reyna.

          3    We're having a Hearing on power generation and

          4  power supply and saving energy.  You did all such a

          5  great job of being here, I'm promoting PS75 to PS76

          6  and I'm promoting PS299 to PS300.  So, you are now

          7  promoted. Okay.  Thank you all very much for being

          8  here.

          9                 Walter, thank you so much for being

         10  patient.  We appreciate your willingness to go

         11  second here.  We're just indebted to you for being a

         12  good sport.  We have Mr. Carey from the Power

         13  Authority who is going to be testifying after you.

         14  We have a whole host of excellent witnesses.  So,

         15  we're just, we're in our groove now.  Okay, Donna

         16  will give the oath and then we'll proceed.

         17                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Please raise

         18  your right hand.  In the testimony that you are

         19  about to give, do you swear or affirm to tell the

         20  truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         21                 MR. MUGDAN:  Yes.

         22                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Thank you.

         23                 MR. MUGDAN:  Thank you Chairman

         24  Gennaro and Chairman Comrie and Members of the

         25  Committee on Environmental Protection and Committee
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          2  on Consumer Affairs for the invitation to appear

          3  here today.  My name is Walter Mugdan, I'm Director

          4  of the Division of Environmental Planning and

          5  Protection in the Region Two Office of the U.S.

          6  Environmental Protection Agency, or EPA.

          7                 I appreciate having the opportunity

          8  to highlight EPA's perspective on energy efficiency

          9  and reducing energy demand.  EPA applauds the City

         10  in its continuing effort to improve the environment

         11  and its thoughtful discussion of these topics and

         12  other significant environmental issues.  We are also

         13  very happy to have seen the recent creation of the

         14  Office of Long Term Planning and Sustainability here

         15  in the City, which we think is a good thing.

         16                 As you've heard, of course, there are

         17  couple of different ways of approaching the energy

         18  problem.  One is to look at energy efficiency,

         19  making appliances and buildings and managing demand

         20  side.  The other is to look at alternative energy

         21  sources.

         22                 Let me start with the first.  I'd

         23  like to begin my remarks by providing a brief

         24  overview of the federal EnergyStar program.  As was

         25  mentioned by the previous witness, it's a joint
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          2  effort of the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency

          3  and U.S. Department of Energy that has been helping

          4  to save money and protect the environment through

          5  energy- efficient products and practices for well

          6  over a decade now.

          7                 We introduced EnergyStar in 1992 as a

          8  voluntary labeling program that's designed to

          9  identify and promote energy efficient products and

         10  reduce greenhouse gas emissions. Computers and

         11  computer monitors were the first labeled products,

         12  the whole electronics sector has become a huge part

         13  of our energy demand now.  They were the first

         14  labeled products under the EnergyStar program.

         15                 By 1995, EPA expanded the label to

         16  additional office equipment products and also

         17  residential heating and cooling equipment.  Today,

         18  the EnergyStar label is on major appliances, office

         19  equipment, lighting fixtures, home electronics and

         20  more.

         21                 In fact, EPA has extended the label

         22  to cover new homes and commercial and industrial

         23  buildings.  A building can actually become an

         24  EnergyStar building by meeting certain benchmark

         25  standards.

                                                            68

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 Through its partnership with more

          3  than 8,000 private and public sector organizations,

          4  the EnergyStar program delivers the technical

          5  information and tools that organizations and

          6  consumers need to choose energy- efficient solutions

          7  and best management practices.

          8                 EnergyStar has successful delivered

          9  energy and cost reductions across the country,

         10  saving businesses, organizations and consumers about

         11  $12 billion, that's billion with a b, in 2005 alone.

         12                 Over the past decade, EnergyStar has

         13  been a driving force behind the more widespread use

         14  of such technological innovations as LED or light

         15  emitting diode traffic lights, efficient fluorescent

         16  lighting, power management systems for office

         17  equipment and low standby energy use.

         18                 Now, recently, energy prices again

         19  became a hot news topic, as we all know, and a major

         20  concern for consumers. To address the issue of

         21  rising costs, EnergyStar provides a trustworthy

         22  label on over 50 product categories, not products,

         23  but product categories, thousands of models within

         24  those categories, for both the home and office.

         25                 There are over 18,000 EnergyStar
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          2  labeled products, from roofing materials to

          3  commercial and industrial electrical equipment,

          4  including central and room air conditioners, as well

          5  as furnaces.  These products deliver the same or

          6  better performance as comparable models, while using

          7  less energy and saving money.

          8                 EnergyStar also provides easy to use

          9  building assessment tools that enable building

         10  managers to start down the path to greater

         11  efficiency and cost savings in managing their

         12  facilities.  There's an EnergyStar website that I've

         13  alluded to in the, that I've mentioned in the

         14  written testimony that you have there, which

         15  provides useful information about strategies, tools,

         16  professional assistance and recognition

         17  opportunities to help contribute to EnergyStar's

         18  nationwide challenge to improve the energy

         19  efficiency of facilities by ten percent or more.

         20                 You can actually get a sort of Good

         21  Housekeeping Gold Seal of Approval.  You get an

         22  EnergyStar Building Seal and you can proudly display

         23  it in your building if you meet these benchmark

         24  standards.  So, there is some incentive there as

         25  well.
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          2                 Since the inception of this program,

          3  64 buildings have received the EnergyStar label in

          4  New York State, of those, 15 are located right here

          5  in New York City.  13 of those are general office

          6  buildings, one's a financial center and one is an

          7  acute care hospital.  In fact, the federal building,

          8  where my colleagues and I work, 290 Broadway, is one

          9  of the 13 that are in the general office building

         10  category that has gone through the EnergyStar

         11  labeling process and we're proud of that.

         12                 I think this is a promising start and

         13  more positive results can certainly be achieved

         14  through expanding enrollment in the three sectors

         15  currently participating in the EnergyStar building

         16  labeling program and also through the recruitment of

         17  facilities in other sectors, including K through 12

         18  schools, hotels, residence halls, dormitories,

         19  medical offices, banks, courts, even supermarkets.

         20                 New York City has it all and I

         21  believe is fertile ground for the EnergyStar

         22  building labeling program.  We would be delighted to

         23  welcome one or more City- owned buildings into this

         24  program.  So, that's something that we would

         25  encourage the City Administration to consider.
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          2                 The path to energy efficiency

          3  includes some very simple actions that every member

          4  of the general public can undertake, every kid

          5  sitting up there, or I guess they were a few moments

          6  ago, they've left now, but all those children can

          7  certainly participate in.  One initiative that's now

          8  in its seventh year is the EnergyStar Change a Light

          9  program.

         10                 For this year's campaign, which is

         11  sponsored by EPA, the Department of Energy and the

         12  Department of Housing and Urban Development, our

         13  goal is to encourage at least 500,000 people

         14  nationwide to take the EnergyStar pledge to replace

         15  at least one light bulb with an EnergyStar certified

         16  compact fluorescent light bulb, CFLs, compact

         17  fluorescent light bulbs, over the course of the

         18  campaign year.  Although it may sound like a

         19  trivially small action, the fact is that nearly 20

         20  percent of our nation's household electricity use

         21  goes towards lighting. This is one of the easiest

         22  areas in which we can all save.

         23                 Compact fluorescent light bulbs and

         24  fixtures use about a third of the energy of

         25  traditional lighting and last at least six times
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          2  longer than conventional incandescent light bulbs.

          3  Each CFL bulb may save over $25.00 and prevent an

          4  estimated 500 pounds of greenhouse emissions,

          5  greenhouse gas emissions over its lifetime.

          6  Moreover, these bulbs generate 70 percent less heat

          7  than standard bulbs, which, of course, reduces home

          8  heating, home cooling costs in the summer time.  So,

          9  with these benefits in mind, the use of CFL bulbs is

         10  a helpful element in the strategy to lower power

         11  demand.

         12                 Since October of last year, residents

         13  within Region Two of EPA, which covers New York and

         14  New Jersey, as well as Puerto Rico and the U.S.

         15  Virgin Islands, have pledged to replace nearly

         16  32,000 light bulbs with EnergyStar CFL bulbs. These

         17  bulbs will reduce utility costs by nearly

         18  $900,000.00 and provide a reduction of over 14

         19  million pounds of greenhouse gases over their

         20  lifetime.

         21                 I'd like to ask your assistance in

         22  promoting this very simple, yet very important

         23  effort to the residents of New York City.  There's a

         24  variety of turnkey materials that have been

         25  developed to make is easy for government leaders at
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          2  all levels to join the campaign and, again, there's

          3  more detailed information about the program that's

          4  at our website, which I've identified in the written

          5  testimony that we've provided to you.

          6                 I'd also like to take this

          7  opportunity to touch on the topic of what's called

          8  green power.  There's a clear link between our

          9  burning of fossil fuels and a wide variety of

         10  environmental problems, including smog, soot, air

         11  toxics (sic), acid rain and, of course, greenhouse

         12  gas emissions.  While much progress has been made in

         13  controlling pollution generated by burning fossil

         14  fuels and many of those power plants are now pretty

         15  clean, other source of energy that completely avoids

         16  such pollution have become available for purchase by

         17  consumers.

         18                 I'm proud to tell you that on

         19  September first of this year, EPA became the first

         20  federal agency to purchase renewable energy or green

         21  power equivalent to 100 percent of its annual

         22  electricity utilization.  With the signing of a

         23  contract in June, EPA extended its already

         24  significant green power purchases to equal the total

         25  amount of electricity for use, that's used at all of
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          2  our facilities, there are more than 190 facilities

          3  nationwide.

          4                 Now, it costs a couple of cents more,

          5  it may cost, I should say, doesn't necessarily, but

          6  it sometimes and in some places may cost a penny or

          7  two more per kilowatt hour, but we think it's well

          8  worth it to make this investment.

          9                 Supporting renewable energy is a way

         10  that we at EPA can reduce our own environmental

         11  footprint, while achieving our mission.  This latest

         12  green power purchase brings our agency total to

         13  nearly 300 million kilowatt hours per year of direct

         14  green power delivery or renewable energy

         15  certificates.  That's equivalent to 100 percent of

         16  the electricity we use in the agency annually.

         17                 That's enough renewable energy to

         18  provide electricity for nearly 28,000 homes for an

         19  entire year and EPA's total green power purchases

         20  will offset more than 600 million pounds of carbon

         21  dioxide annually, which is equivalent to the amount

         22  emitted by nearly 54,000 cars over the course of a

         23  year.

         24                 My region, EPA Region Two, has been

         25  an integral player in the Agency's procurement of
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          2  green power.  Quite a number, about three, four

          3  years ago, we made a decision to invest in alternate

          4  power sources for our facilities here in New York

          5  City, in Edison, New Jersey and in San Juan, Puerto

          6  Rico.  Our efforts are really paying off for the

          7  environment.

          8                 At 290 Broadway, just two blocks away

          9  from here, by switching from fossil fuels to wind

         10  power, we've reduced annual CO2 emissions by 20

         11  million pounds, sulfur dioxide by 100,000 pounds,

         12  nitrogen oxides by 40,000 pounds.

         13                 This is progress, of course, but it

         14  would be much more significant if it was multiplied

         15  by the participation of more buildings in the City

         16  and beyond.  So, we encourage the New York City

         17  Government to take the same step for some or all of

         18  its own buildings.

         19                 I think, when it comes to alternative

         20  clean energy, if you come, they will build it.  If

         21  we buy it, they'll build it.  That's the way we can,

         22  as individuals and as corporate or government

         23  institutions, we can promote the construction of new

         24  clean power facilities elsewhere throughout the

         25  grid.
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          2                 This morning I provided a brief

          3  overview of several initiatives that the EPA

          4  actively supports in the interest of achieving

          5  energy efficiency and reducing energy demand.  We've

          6  talked about procurement of EnergyStar labeled

          7  products, involvement in the EnergyStar building

          8  labeling program, use of CFL bulbs, compact

          9  fluorescent light bulbs, and the procurement of

         10  renewable energy.  But, beyond this, I'm sure you're

         11  aware of numerous other programs and actions that

         12  can also reduce energy demand or to provide

         13  additional energy sources including:

         14                 Green buildings, from design through

         15  construction and operation, green building

         16  techniques minimize the environmental footprint of

         17  built structures.  We appreciate that the New York

         18  City DEP has partnered with us at EPA for the past

         19  several years in sponsoring a green building design

         20  competition;

         21                 Green roofs.  You can use flat roof

         22  space on urban buildings for planting grasses,

         23  shrubs and trees and that reduces cooling costs and

         24  also, by the way, storm water runoff;

         25                 Urban forestry is another element.
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          2  By increasing the number of trees in our urban area,

          3  we can actually reduce cooling, heating costs,

          4  excuse me, reduce cooling costs because of the

          5  cooling impact of the trees;

          6                 Beneficial use of waste products.

          7  For example, coal ash, the ash that comes from coal-

          8  fired power plants, can be used in place of Portland

          9  cement in making concrete.  Every ton of coal ash

         10  that is so used, offsets directly a ton of carbon

         11  dioxide emissions generated in making Portland

         12  cement;

         13                 Use of landfill gas.  Landfills

         14  generate huge amounts of methane from all the

         15  organic materials that's been placed into the

         16  landfill, which is, methane, of course, is a potent

         17  greenhouse gas, far more potent, actually, than

         18  carbon dioxide.  The methane can easily be captured

         19  and can be used to fuel power plants, offsetting the

         20  use of fossil fuels.  It's very similar to natural

         21  gas when you collect it;

         22                 Waste energy.  You know, garbage

         23  burning has had a bad reputation for many years, but

         24  the fact is it's a mature technology that can

         25  operate reliably with very well controlled air
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          2  emissions.  The power that's generated offsets

          3  fossil fuel usage;

          4                 Hybrid vehicles.  Cars with hybrid

          5  engines can get up to twice the mileage of the same

          6  vehicles with conventional engines.  I commend the

          7  City for investing heavily in hybrid vehicles for

          8  its own fleet.  That's great and I'd encourage you

          9  to keep you eyes on, for the future development of

         10  something called hydraulic hybrids.

         11                 This is technology for heavy duty

         12  vehicles that was developed by EPA, actually we hold

         13  the patent on it.  It's right now being, that patent

         14  will be distributed free to anybody who wants to use

         15  it.  It's right now being tested by UPS, on a UPS

         16  truck that was actually rolled out here, just two

         17  blocks north, back in June.  The truck is now

         18  running a route in Michigan and we're seeing how it

         19  works.  But, this is a very, very promising

         20  technology that can do for heavy duty vehicles what

         21  the hybrid electrics have done for light duty

         22  vehicles.

         23                 In closing, let me again thank both

         24  Chairmen and Members of your respective Committees

         25  for inviting me to provide testimony today.  Please
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          2  let me know if you have any questions that EPA might

          3  be able to answer or if we can of assistance to New

          4  York in any way in these important areas.  Thank

          5  you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you very

          7  much Mr. Mugdan.  I really appreciate your sort of

          8  upbeat and, you know, comprehensive testimony.  It's

          9  amazing what, you know, we can accomplish with

         10  these, as you say, you know, sort of seemingly small

         11  gestures.  But, if you do enough of them and then

         12  you do the math, we're taking some pretty big number

         13  off the board by doing this.

         14                 I commend EPA for being in the

         15  forefront and in that vain, certainly, I would like

         16  to see as many levels of government or, you know,

         17  private and public entities follow your lead.  In

         18  that vain, to what extent have you been partnering

         19  with the City on what you've mentioned in your

         20  testimony, you know the use of compact fluorescent

         21  light bulbs, green buildings, et cetera?  I know

         22  you've extended an invite to them and others, but to

         23  what extent is there, you know, real collaboration

         24  between you and the City?

         25                 MR. MUGDAN:  We haven't had a great
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          2  deal of interaction with the City as yet on this.

          3  We'd certainly be delighted to do so.  I mean, I

          4  think we share interest in it. You heard from the

          5  previous panel things that the City is doing, many

          6  of which are right in the same vains  --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Sure.

          8                 MR. MUGDAN:  --  Demand side

          9  management and so forth.  We would be happy to

         10  discuss the possibility of some kind of outreach

         11  program on compact fluorescent bulbs.  There are

         12  ways of subsidizing those and so people can get them

         13  for free at certain events or get them for

         14  discounted rates and  --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  You got to my

         16  next question. You got to my next question, you

         17  jumped right out there.  Is there any federal

         18  funding or, you know, financial incentives that we

         19  can do to promote the use of energy- efficient

         20  products and the use of, well, for those kinds of

         21  products, but also other things like clean on- site

         22  generation?

         23                 MR. MUGDAN:  I would say that for the

         24  light bulbs, I'm afraid the answer is no, not to my

         25  knowledge.  I'm not aware of any federal funding
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          2  streams right now for that.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  How about for

          4  the clean, on site generation, any federal tax

          5  incentives or whatever or any kind of financial

          6  assistance?

          7                 MR. MUGDAN:  There may be some tax

          8  incentives for that right now.  I'm not an expert on

          9  that, but we can get back to you on that and let you

         10  know, for sure, what current tax incentives there

         11  are built into the federal tax code for energy

         12  efficient activities or for solar panels or things

         13  of that sort. From time to time there have been such

         14  tax programs.

         15                 What the federal government is doing

         16  right now is spending a fare amount of money on

         17  research and development for the next generation of

         18  clean power.  For example, the Department of Energy

         19  is investing $750 million right now on a project

         20  called, on a project for a clean coal combustion

         21  facility that would be generating 250 megawatts of

         22  power.  So, it would be a big power plant.

         23                 The idea is that you would gassify

         24  the coal instead of burning it in the traditional

         25  way, you gassify the goal, you turn it into gaseous
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          2  products.  Some of those are then combusted or used

          3  to generate electricity.  It's an extremely

          4  efficient way of generating electricity, but perhaps

          5  most important, when you gassify the coal you can

          6  relatively easily extract the carbon dioxide from

          7  the stream and you can then capture the carbon

          8  dioxide and you can  --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  In what form?

         10  In what form would you capture?

         11                 MR. MUGDAN:  As, as gaseous carbon

         12  dioxide.  It's captured as carbon dioxide and you

         13  can then sequester the carbon dioxide by injecting

         14  it into deep underground geologic formations.

         15                 There's only one plant in the United

         16  States that currently does this.  It's not doing it

         17  because they're obliged to it.  It's doing it for

         18  the best reasons for economic reasons. It's a plant,

         19  it's a power plant in North Dakota that gassifies a

         20  very, very low dirty type of coal and makes it into

         21  a very clean product.  The sulfur can be taken out,

         22  the mercury can be taken out, a lot of the

         23  impurities can be taken out.

         24                 They have, for purely economic

         25  reasons, chosen, a couple of years ago, to start
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          2  capturing the CO2, previously to that it just went

          3  into the air like at a regular power plant. But,

          4  they now capture the CO2 and they pump it through a

          5  pipeline 200 miles into Saskatchewan, Canada and

          6  sell it to an oil company that injects it a mile

          7  underground into a played out oil field. It's

          8  injected under pressure, it pushes more oil back to

          9  the oil wells and they get 40 percent more oil out

         10  of an old played out oil field.

         11                 Now, of course, that oil is still

         12  going to get burned somewhere and be creating carbon

         13  dioxide emissions, but the point is this carbon

         14  dioxide from this power plant in North Dakota is

         15  going underground and there's every reason to

         16  believe it's going to stay there for the long run.

         17  So, there's a lot of research right now and a lot of

         18  promotion of research projects by the U.S.

         19  Government into the technologies of carbon

         20  sequestration.  Coal gassification plants for

         21  generating electricity, rather than fossil fuel

         22  burning plants are a great way to capture that CO2.

         23  Once you capture it, then at least you have the

         24  potential for being able to sequester it.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Well, thank
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          2  you.  Thank you for this really illuminating

          3  testimony.  I recognize the presence of Council

          4  Member Koppell, who is here.  Chairman Comrie has

          5  questions.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  I'm going to

          7  defer to Council Member MARK-VIVERITO this time and

          8  then I'll  --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  Oh,

         10  thank you Mr. Chair. I just have a, I'm just curious

         11  about the 290 Broadway site  --

         12                 MR. MUGDAN:  Yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  --

         14  And you talk about the wind power.  How does,

         15  explain it to me.

         16                 MR. MUGDAN:  When you buy alternative

         17  energy or green power, what you do is it's really an

         18  accounting exercise. You say, here's how many

         19  kilowatt hours we use per year and we place an order

         20  with a company that, a wind power company, actually,

         21  in Upstate New York, that we will buy that many

         22  kilowatt hours.

         23                 Now, I, there's no way of telling

         24  whether their electrons end up in our light bulbs.

         25  But, the fact is, we know that into the grid is
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          2  being pumped that many kilowatt hours of wind power

          3  that we have purchased and that's equal to the

          4  amount of wind, of kilowatt hours that we use in our

          5  building.  So, that's how, when you buy green power,

          6  you can do that.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  But,

          8  how does it, how does it get back to New York?  Is

          9  it through the Con Ed, I mean how does it  --

         10                 MR. MUGDAN:  No, all the grids

         11  throughout the entire United States is basically all

         12  interconnected  --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  Right.

         14                 MR. MUGDAN:  --  And so the power

         15  plants, I mean, we have power plants here in the

         16  City of New York, but there are also power plants

         17  throughout the entire region that are providing

         18  electricity into our grid.  So, when you buy green

         19  power, as I say, there, to a certain extent you can

         20  look at it as an accounting exercise, because you're

         21  buying that many kilowatts within a certain

         22  geographic area that you know has an impact on your

         23  electricity shed, if you want to think of it as that

         24  way.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  Right.
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          2                 MR. MUGDAN:  But it does not

          3  guarantee that those specific electrons from those

          4  specific wind mills end up in your particular house.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  So,

          6  this is something that any agency could do?

          7                 MR. MUGDAN:  Not only any agency and

          8  any institution, but, for that matter, every single

          9  individual customer in the State of New York can do

         10  it.  I had, in my own home, two years ago, switched

         11   --  I'm a Con Ed customer, I live in Queens like,

         12  like many of us here, live in the City and are Con

         13  Ed customers.

         14                 I simply registered with something

         15  called Con Ed Solutions, which is their subsidiary

         16  for alternative energy and I now get, 100 percent of

         17  the electricity I use in my house comes from either,

         18  on an accounting basis, comes from either wind power

         19  or what's call run of the stream hydropower, which

         20  is small scale hydro.  It's not the big hydropower

         21  plants that are, have a lot of environmental impact.

         22    It's the small stream ones that are much more

         23  environmentally friendly.

         24                 So, I pay, I don't know, an extra

         25  penny a kilowatt or whatever it is.  It amounts to a

                                                            87

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  few dollars a year.  It's trivial in my own budget

          3  and at least I feel that I'm doing my little part.

          4  So, every  --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  No, I

          6  think that's  --

          7                 MR. MUGDAN:  --  Consumer can do

          8  that.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  --

         10  Great.  I did not know that.  I think I will

         11  definitely look into that myself. Also, I think that

         12  just, I think you've raised several challenges in

         13  your testimony and one of them., which I will take

         14  to heart and maybe consult with others, is maybe how

         15  we can look at making City Hall  --

         16                 MR. MUGDAN:  That would be great.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  --

         18  EnergyStar  --

         19                 MR. MUGDAN:  We would be delighted

         20   --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  --

         22  Certified or  --

         23                 MR. MUGDAN:  --  To work with you  --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  --

         25  However we go about that.  But, thank you very much
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          2  for your testimony.

          3                 MR. MUGDAN:  Great, thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Director Mugdan,

          5  you heard the City, they kind of snuck this in on

          6  the way out and since they were leaving, I didn't

          7  challenge them on it.  But, they made an assertion

          8  that it was not cost- efficient to equip building

          9  with energy- efficient materials or opportunities.

         10                 I know that, I'm well aware of some

         11  of the buildings that are meeting the green

         12  standards and the LEED standards, but do you think

         13  that it's cost- efficient or cost effective, at this

         14  time with the existing technology, to make a

         15  building 100 percent LEED certified?

         16                 MR. MUGDAN:  It probably depends on a

         17  tremendous amount of, on the exact building and how

         18  old the building and what all the design challenges

         19  are.  I'm not an architect or an engineer  --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Right.  Let's

         21   --

         22                 MR. MUGDAN:  --  So, I don't have

         23  expertise

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  --  Talk about

         25  new  --
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          2                 MR. MUGDAN:  --  In that.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  --  Construction

          4  for a moment.

          5                 MR. MUGDAN:  But, for new

          6  construction, I think it's completely wrong.  I

          7  think it's extremely, again, I don't want, I'm not

          8  sure exactly what they said or exactly what the

          9  context of  --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  But, you heard,

         11  he slipped that in  --

         12                 MR. MUGDAN:  --  What he said was.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  --  On the way

         14  out.

         15                 MR. MUGDAN:  I think for new

         16  construction, I'd be surprised if they felt, that

         17  they said it wasn't energy efficient.  I wonder

         18  whether there was a misunderstanding there because

         19   --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Right.

         21                 MR. MUGDAN:  --  I think it's

         22  generally understood that it is cost- efficient to

         23  be energy- efficient.  Now, it depends on how you do

         24  the calculus.  If you figure out only your current

         25  cost per kilowatt hour and how many dollars you'd
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          2  have to spend to reduce the number of kilowatt hours

          3  you use and compare the cost of the kilowatt hours

          4  today to the cost of retrofitting or designing your

          5  building to be most efficient, you may find that you

          6  have a long- term, it's long- term before you get a

          7  pay back.

          8                 But, you really have to make a couple

          9  of other assumptions.  You have to assume what the

         10  energy costs will really be ten years from now or 20

         11  years from now.  The fact is, I think we're on a

         12  tipping point and some of the increases in the cost

         13  of electricity and the cost of power that we saw

         14  this past year are only going to be magnified in the

         15  future, especially if we, if there comes a time

         16  where regulations increase the pollution control

         17  costs of generating power, as they may.

         18                 At that point, the equation changes

         19  and being efficient becomes very, very, being

         20  energy- efficient becomes very cost- efficient as

         21  well.  So, again, I'm not an architect, I'm not an

         22  engineer, I can't comment specifically on these

         23  questions. It's my understanding that it certainly

         24  makes extremely good financial sense, as well as

         25  good societal sense, to build new buildings in an
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          2  energy- efficient way.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Right.  Well,

          4  I'll have to get them back to talk about

          5  retrofitting and other things.  But, I think that,

          6  from what I've read, the ability of technology, even

          7  for retrofitting, makes it a lot more cost-

          8  efficient over time.

          9                 MR. MUGDAN:  I think you're right.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Have you, as far

         11  as private homeowners, NYSERDA and the other state

         12  agencies now have put together packages for

         13  homeowners to be completely solar- powered or self-

         14  sufficient.  They do have a cost benefit analysis

         15  for that.  Do you believe, within the next two

         16  years, that will be efficient enough so that it will

         17  be more attractive for homeowners to utilize?

         18                 MR. MUGDAN:  My  --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Right now, it's

         20  about a 15 to 24 grand out of pocket  --

         21                 MR. MUGDAN:  Yeah.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  --  For most

         23  homeowners to convert.

         24                 MR. MUGDAN:  Again, I have to stress

         25  that I'm not an expert in these fields, but I'll
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          2  give you what my understanding is.  I think that in

          3  the immediate future, a year or two years, in order

          4  to be economically attractive to the homeowner, it

          5  still has to be subsidized through tax incentives or

          6  direct subsidies or something of that sort.

          7                 Otherwise, the pay back time is just

          8  very, very long.  We're talking about maybe a 20- or

          9  30- year pay back time for houses in this area

         10  because we have a limited amount of sunshine by

         11  comparison to, let's say, Florida or Arizona.

         12                 Nevertheless, I think what we have to

         13  look forward to is a tremendously increased

         14  efficiency and decreased cost of solar panels.

         15  We're looking for flexible, thin foil solar panels

         16  to become the technology of the future for solar

         17  energy.  Right now, solar panels are rigid.  They're

         18  expensive.  They're expensive to make and they're a

         19  little delicate.  If they get broken, it's expensive

         20  to change them.

         21                 Flexible thin foil solar collectors

         22  take solar energy, turn it into electricity just

         23  like a big panel does now, but it basically looks

         24  like a sheet that you can roll off of a big roll.

         25  They can be hooked together very easily.  So, you
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          2  can make roofing material out of this stuff.  This

          3  is a little bit, we're talking about, you know,

          4  several years down the road before this becomes

          5  commercialized, but that's the expectation of where

          6  solar energy will be going.  When that happens, I

          7  think, then there's a tremendous opportunity to have

          8  homeowners across the entire country start to adopt

          9  solar technology much more than has so far been the

         10  case.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  I want to

         12  commend you and the agency for working to develop

         13  new technology and the hydraulic hybrids and the

         14  other things that you're doing to embrace new

         15  technological opportunities are commendable.  Just

         16  from a consumer point of view, is there a, when you

         17  walk into an appliance store, almost every appliance

         18  now has some tag on it, saying energy efficiency  --

         19                 MR. MUGDAN:  Right.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  --  But can you

         21  just elucidate for the audience and the viewing

         22  audience what is actually the proper tag to look for

         23  as opposed to, you know, the, it may be a sales tag

         24  versus a real EPA energy reduction tag.

         25                 MR. MUGDAN:  That's right.
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          2  Typically, the appliances will have on them a

          3  comparison tag that shows this appliance, compared

          4  to others of similar size and, you know, purpose,

          5  has either more or less or the same as the average,

          6  giving you some sense of how that particular product

          7  compares to other products in the market.  That's

          8  usually a yellow tag that's right on the thing.

          9                 What I think people should really be

         10  looking for is the so- called EnergyStar label.

         11  This is a logo that looks like it's got a star with

         12  a little, it's like a shooting start, I guess you

         13  would call it, and it says EnergyStar.  Only

         14  products that meet the highest standards within

         15  their product category are entitled to get that

         16  logo.

         17                 So, this is a way, a quick way of the

         18  consumer seeing, they go into, you know, Home Depot

         19  or something like, and look at ten different

         20  refrigerators or whatever equipment it might be.  If

         21  you see two of them have the EnergyStar label, you

         22  know right off the bat those are the two that I

         23  really should be looking at if I want to buy the

         24  most efficient equipment.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Right.  Okay.
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          2  Are there different classifications of EnergyStar

          3  labels? Because it seems like, I was in a Home Depot

          4  last night and I just happened to notice, there

          5  seemed to be different classifications of labels. Is

          6  there just one rating or more than one rating to any

          7    --

          8                 MR. MUGDAN:  Well, I didn't think

          9  there were different classifications, but I'm going

         10  to go back now and ask my EnergyStar expert and find

         11  out if that's the case.  If so, we'll let you know.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  I appreciate

         13  that.

         14                 MR. MUGDAN:  Who knows, maybe there's

         15  a gold standard.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Right.

         17                 MR. MUGDAN:  They may.  I know

         18  they're always working on these programs to try and

         19  make them even more challenging in a way  --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Right.

         21                 MR. MUGDAN:  --  But, so maybe there

         22  is something like that that I'm not aware.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  I think it was

         24  more of a marketing ploy on some  --

         25                 MR. MUGDAN:  Well, that could be  --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  --  Of the

          3  appliances.

          4                 MR. MUGDAN:  --  Too, yeah.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  I think that's

          6  something that we might have another Hearing on at a

          7  future date just to inform consumers of the proper

          8  choices versus the marketing choices. Thank you for

          9  coming.  Thank you for coming.

         10                 MR. MUGDAN:  Thank you very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you

         12  Walter.  Pleasure to have you here.  Thank you so

         13  much.  Timothy Carey, President and CEO of New York

         14  Power Authority.  Mr. Carey, you were just, the

         15  Sergeant has copies of your statement that are being

         16  passed around.  I thank you very much for your

         17  patience and your willingness to come here and

         18  testify.  We greatly appreciate it. The Counsel to

         19  the Committee will give the oath and then you can

         20  state your name for the record and proceed with your

         21  good testimony.  Thank you again, sir, for being

         22  here.

         23                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Please raise

         24  your right hand.  In the testimony that you are

         25  about to give, do you swear or affirm to tell the
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          2  truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          3                 MR. CAREY:  I do.

          4                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Oh, you have to

          6  press the button there.

          7                 MR. CAREY:  Good morning.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yes, okay.

          9                 MR. CAREY:  How does that work?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  You got it.

         11                 MR. CAREY:  You'd think as the head

         12  of a power company, I would know how to turn the

         13  switch.  I'm Timothy Carey, the President and Chief

         14  Executive Officer of the New York Power Authority.

         15  I appreciate this opportunity to appear before your

         16  Committees.  These are somewhat familiar

         17  surroundings to me.  I testified in support of Local

         18  Law 86, which was enacted last year, to promote the

         19  development of green buildings in New York City.

         20                 That legislation, which takes effect

         21  January first, will require that most non-

         22  residential new construction and major alterations

         23  financed by the City of New York achieve

         24  certification under the U.S. Green Building

         25  Council's LEED program, as well as sustainable
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          2  energy cost savings.  I want to commend the Council

          3  for approving this bold and comprehensive

          4  legislation, which can serve as a model for cities

          5  throughout the nation and truly the world.

          6                 This is a matter of particular

          7  interest to me, as President and CEO of the Battery

          8  Park City Authority, I led construction of the

          9  nation's first green highrise residential building,

         10  the Solaire, which earned the coveted LEED Gold

         11  Certification.  Earlier this year, I was privileged

         12  to be named to the USGBC Board of Directors.  So,

         13  I'll be watching with great anticipation as the

         14  benefits of Local Law 86 become apparent to

         15  everyone.

         16                 I should also note that the Power

         17  Authority is engaged in a major project to earn LEED

         18  EB Certification for our headquarters building in

         19  White Plains.  We hope to share the experience we

         20  gain in this endeavor with our customers, including,

         21  of course, the City of New York.

         22                 We have completed our energy retrofit

         23  on this building, which I know is of concern to the

         24  Chairman and I'd like to report that we invested

         25  approximately $7 million, we cut our energy use in
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          2  half on a 20 year- old office building, 440,000

          3  square feet, and we are saving $450,000.00 per year,

          4  which means we have a simple pay back of seven years

          5  on a retrofit that will work, last over 20 years.

          6                 This morning, I'd like to discuss

          7  some of the Power Authority's efforts in cooperation

          8  with the City to promote energy efficiency, cut peak

          9  demand for electricity and demonstrate the benefits

         10  of clean, renewable energy resources. These

         11  activities contribute significantly to the vital

         12  goals of ensuring reliable power supply, protecting

         13  the environment and reducing our dependence on

         14  foreign oil.

         15                 The Power Authority's partnership

         16  with the City dates back more than 30 years, to

         17  December of 1976, when we began supplying

         18  electricity for government buildings, schools, the

         19  street lights and a wide range of other public

         20  facilities and purposes.  The City has realized

         21  sizable savings ever since, approximately $250

         22  million a year in savings.

         23                 Our relationship was further

         24  strengthened last year when we concluded a new long-

         25  term electric supply agreement with the City and
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          2  other government customers.  These agreements called

          3  for the City and other public customers to obtain

          4  electricity from the Power Authority through the end

          5  of 2017. They break new ground in providing for

          6  extensive involvement by the customers in choosing

          7  payment and risk management options, selecting power

          8  sources and scrutinizing the Authority's planning

          9  and decision- making and, significantly, they

         10  reflect the importance we now ascribe to energy

         11  efficiency and the development of new clean energy

         12  technologies.

         13                 Our focus 30 years ago was strictly

         14  on supplying low cost electricity to the City.  We

         15  now go beyond that.  The new agreements, for

         16  example, commit the Power Authority to financing

         17  $100 million in energy efficiency and clean

         18  technology projects each year for its government

         19  customers.  We intend to obtain more than 70

         20  megawatts of green power from upstate wind

         21  facilities for use by the City and other government

         22  customers beginning in 2008.  The Power Authority

         23  has also demonstrated an ongoing commitment to

         24  clean, renewable energy within the City.

         25                 Just last week, in line with Governor
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          2  Pataki's Executive Order 142, requiring expanded

          3  purchases of biofuels by state agencies and

          4  authorities, we successfully demonstrated the use of

          5  biodiesel fuel, blended with oil, at our Poletti

          6  Power Plant in Astoria.  Preliminary data indicates

          7  an emission reduction of about ten percent compared

          8  with burning number six fuel oil.  We believe this

          9  test was one of the largest biofuel applications

         10  ever carried out in the United States and the first

         11  at a power plant of this size.

         12                 Beginning in 1999, we have installed

         13  fuel cells, running on natural gas, at historic

         14  Central Park police station in Manhattan, North

         15  Central Bronx Hospital, the New York Aquarium in

         16  Brooklyn and the MTA maintenance depot in Corona,

         17  Queens. Each unit is 200 kilowatts.  Another fuel

         18  cell of that size is awaiting installation at the

         19  Bronx Zoo.

         20                 We've installed eight other 200

         21  kilowatt fuel cells designed to run on anaerobic

         22  digester gas at four City waste water treatment

         23  plants.  This gas is produced in the treatment

         24  process and would otherwise be flared off into the

         25  air with significant environmental impacts.  We also
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          2  intend to provide nearly five megawatts of fuel cell

          3  capacity at the New World Trade Center Complex in

          4  what will be one of the world's largest fuel cell

          5  installations.

          6                 Meanwhile, we have completed rooftop

          7  solar photovoltaic projects in seven New York City

          8  locations.  These include a 300 kilowatt project at

          9  New York City's Transit Gun Hill Bus Depot that is

         10  one of the largest facilities of this type in the

         11  nation.

         12                 On behalf of the City, we have two

         13  additional solar projects planned for completion

         14  next year in Brooklyn at Kingsborough Community

         15  College and the Children's Museum.  A list of our

         16  operating and pending fuel cell and solar projects

         17  is attached as Appendix A to my submitted testimony.

         18                 The Power Authority believes that it

         19  is extremely important to encourage, by every means

         20  possible, the installation of clean generation and

         21  the efficient use of energy.  We have, therefore,

         22  joined the City government and others in supporting

         23  an effort at the state Public Service Commission to

         24  end the linkage between the profits of investor-

         25  owned utilities and the amount of electricity and
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          2  gas that they sell to customers.  This would remove

          3  the potential disincentive for the utilities to

          4  encourage either energy conservation or the

          5  development of distributed power sources.  Simply

          6  put, the delivery charge should be decoupled from

          7  consumption levels, as it has been in California.

          8  The PSC is considering this matter and we hope that

          9  a new policy will be forthcoming.

         10                 The Power Authority's own energy

         11  efficiency programs have brought substantial

         12  benefits to the City and the state.  We recently

         13  passed the $1 billion mark in overall statewide

         14  funding for energy efficiency and clean energy

         15  projects completed or in progress.

         16                 Within the City, we've completed

         17  projects at nearly 1,200 public facilities

         18  throughout the five boroughs, at a total cost of

         19  close to $565 million.  The projects save City

         20  agencies and tax payers nearly $58 million a year.

         21  They lower peak demand for electricity by more than

         22  95 megawatts and they annually save more 1.1 million

         23  barrels of oil and reduce greenhouse emissions by

         24  close to 480,000 tons.

         25                 In addition to installing efficient
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          2  lighting, motors and other equipment, we have

          3  replaced pollution, polluting coal burning furnaces

          4  with clean oil and gas fuel boilers at 78 public

          5  schools located in every borough and have installed

          6  efficient EnergyStar refrigerators, using one- half

          7  to one- third of the energy of previous models, in

          8  City housing's nearly 185,000 apartments.  A list of

          9  our completed energy efficiency projects in the

         10  City, arranged by borough, is attached as Appendix B

         11  to my submitted testimony.

         12                 We hope to build on our past

         13  accomplishments and to implement still more energy

         14  efficiency projects within the City.  At the moment,

         15  we have $27 million worth of projects that are ready

         16  to go into construction as soon as we get approval

         17  from DCAS.  They are among the $130 million in

         18  projects at various stages of development.

         19                 Looking ahead, the Power Authority is

         20  planning to begin a major study next year of further

         21  energy efficiency potential at facilities operated

         22  by our government customers throughout New York

         23  City.  In line with this, we have offered to conduct

         24  energy audits and to follow- up with energy

         25  efficiency measures at every City- owned facility,
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          2  beginning with the largest energy users.

          3                 Our energy efficiency projects are

          4  complemented by our very successful summertime peak

          5  load management program, in which we pay our

          6  government and business customers in the City $40.00

          7  for each kilowatt of load that they agree to cut

          8  upon our request.

          9                 This past summer, the program

         10  included 92 locations in five boroughs, ranging from

         11  City sanitation garages and water treatment plants

         12  to college campuses and banks.  Total hourly peak

         13  demand on the summer's peak day, August second, was

         14  cut by an average of 84 megawatts, nearly twice the

         15  original customer commitment.  A summary of load

         16  reduction by borough and of the performance of

         17  several program participants is attached as Appendix

         18  C to my submitted testimony.

         19                 Limitations in time and the scope of

         20  this Hearing have precluded me from discussing

         21  numerous Power Authority efforts to protect and

         22  improve the City of New York's environment that go

         23  beyond our energy efficiency and clean energy

         24  initiatives.  These include our help in putting some

         25  370 electric and hybrid electric vehicles of various
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          2  types on the City's streets, our installation of

          3  pollution control on more than 1,400 school buses in

          4  the Bronx, Brooklyn, Queens and Staten Island and

          5  our support for various local environmental

          6  projects, ranging from the green roofs that I

          7  recently dedicated with Borough President Carrion in

          8  the Bronx County Courthouse to the innovative

          9  initiatives we funded throughout the Queens Clean

         10  Air Project.

         11                 My goal, as head of the New York

         12  State Power Authority, is no less than to make us

         13  the cleanest, greenest electric utility in the

         14  United States of America.  The success and

         15  continuing growth of our partnership with the City

         16  of New York is essential to achieving that goal.

         17  Thank you.  I'll be pleased to answer any questions.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you Mr.

         19  Carey.  I'm so impressed by your testimony and by

         20  your commitment in your ultimate goal to make the

         21  Power Authority the cleanest and greenest utility in

         22  the United States.  It seems like you're, you now,

         23  well along your way and I applaud you.  I have some

         24  questions, but first I'm going to recognize Council

         25  Member Melissa Mark-MARK-VIVERITO, who indicated a
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          2  desire to pose questions.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  Thank

          4  you Mr. Chair.  I have to personally say, I mean,

          5  I'm really enjoying this Hearing today, because I'm

          6  really encouraged by the efforts that are being made

          7  and, you know, also getting information that I think

          8  is very helpful in terms of how we can approach

          9  things moving forward.

         10                 I have a couple of questions on the

         11  MTA and some of the work that's been done there.  On

         12  page two of your testimony, at the bottom, you're

         13  talking about fuel cells, et cetera, that have been

         14  set up, MTA maintenance depot and further in your

         15  testimony you mention another site.  We had a

         16  Hearing recently, I represent East Harlem and part

         17  of the South Bronx, two areas heavily, heavily

         18  impacted by asthma in our children and probably one

         19  of the highest asthma rates in the City, if not the

         20  country as well.  We had a Hearing recently in the

         21  Adam Clayton Powell State Office Building, the

         22  Committee on Transportation, with regards to bus

         23  depots concentrated in Upper Manhattan and adverse

         24  health impacts.

         25                 One of the questions that came up was
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          2  about some of these measures that some of the MTA

          3  facilities are taking to kind of cut down on the

          4  pollution to the external, you know, to the

          5  surrounding communities.  But, I'm wondering how

          6  decisions like the ones you mention here are

          7  prioritized.  I would think, and I would hope that

          8  you would look at obviously looking at communities

          9  that have really serious health impacts and maybe

         10  looking at working on those depots or working at

         11  those facilities in those communities, maybe

         12  prioritizing them in terms of some of these measures

         13  that are taken.

         14                 If that's, I don't know how it's

         15  decided.  I would hope and I would ask that that

         16  would be considered moving forward.  Because, I've

         17  been a real strong proponent on green technology in

         18  my district because of, obviously, I understand,

         19  moving forward, how we can cut down on costs and

         20  also on how they can really benefit our communities

         21  in terms of health.  So, looking at that, if you can

         22  answer the question about prioritizing and how those

         23  decisions are made.

         24                 MR. CAREY:  The decisions are made in

         25  consultation with our partners, our clients.  The
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          2  New York Power Authority supplies energy to a number

          3  of customers  --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  Right.

          5                 MR. CAREY:  --  You're our customer,

          6  you're the City of New York.  We do not supply

          7  residential.  We supply basically bulk power.  We do

          8  have a number of commercial clients, particularly

          9  those that are being supplied with power in Lower

         10  Manhattan that was for the World Trade Center.  But,

         11  with our clients, the City of New York, the MTA, the

         12  Port Authority, et cetera, what we do is we

         13  recommend that they do an energy audit. We've been

         14  looking at that energy audit purely on energy

         15  factors and cost benefit ratios.

         16                 When I came into the Power Authority

         17  back in February, became the President and CEO, I

         18  announced to my staff that we were going to look

         19  beyond that.  Right now, I have, am in the process

         20  of putting out an RFP that will be taking the same

         21  kind of look at the New York Power Authority that we

         22  did when I was at Battery Park City at the

         23  development of high rise residential buildings.

         24                 We're going to be looking not only at

         25  cost, but the life cycle cost to what we do.  We're
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          2  going to be looking at the air quality concerns.

          3  We'll be looking at the public safety aspects.

          4  We'll be looking at the materials that we'll be

          5  using, recycling.  Already, we have cut the use of

          6  non- green cleaning products throughout our company.

          7    So, these are things that we will be looking at in

          8  the future and I'll be glad to share that RFP with

          9  you if you'd like to see a copy of it.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  No,

         11  definitely, but I guess, you know, I also, there's a

         12  concern  --

         13                 MR. CAREY:  You know, I've always

         14  felt  --  and this story goes back to my early days

         15  with developing green buildings  --  I've always

         16  felt that the indoor air quality would be the

         17  selling point of these buildings and that's really

         18  been one of the big selling points.  The air, for

         19  instance, in the buildings at Battery Park City in

         20  the green buildings is all filtered.  There's no

         21  window air conditioners, because window air

         22  conditioners bring in the pollutants that are

         23  outside.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  But,

         25  some of these measures that you're talking about
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          2  also impact the CO2 emissions, correct?  And, impact

          3  emissions period, which could have an effect on the

          4  surrounding community, correct?

          5                 MR. CAREY:  What, yes, what we're

          6  doing  --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  Okay,

          8  so that's  --

          9                 MR. CAREY:  What we're doing is

         10  limiting emissions --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  Right.

         12                 MR. CAREY:  --  Through our greener

         13  technologies.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  Right

         15  and I guess, you know, that's, and obviously that's

         16  my role and I will advocate for that.  But, I would

         17  hope that certain decisions are made taking into

         18  account some of the things that you've measured

         19  also. So, I think that that's just the point I

         20  wanted to make.

         21                 You mentioned also with regard to the

         22  paragraph before that, biodiesel fuel blended with

         23  oil.  Is that something that can be purchased by, I

         24  mean, is that, how is that purchased? How is that

         25  available  --
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          2                 MR. CAREY:  Biodiesel is now mandated

          3  for all state operations and I believe the City's

          4  mandated for all operations in Lower Manhattan.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  Right,

          6  but I'm saying it's not  --

          7                 MR. CAREY:  It's not  --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  --

          9  Available  --

         10                 MR. CAREY:  It's not available to the

         11  general public  --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  Right.

         13                 MR. CAREY:  --  At this point.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  It

         15  would have to be done

         16  through large authorities or  --

         17                 MR. CAREY:  Right.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  --

         19  Through the City or the state.

         20                 MR. CAREY:  Or. When you buy in bulk

         21  purchases.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  Bulk

         23  purchases, okay.

         24                 MR. CAREY:  Yeah, for companies as a,

         25  you know, companies that are using heavy equipment
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          2  in Lower Manhattan, for instance, redeveloping the

          3  World Trade Center, are all using biodiesel  --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  Okay.

          5                 MR. CAREY:  --  In their vehicles.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  Okay.

          7  The last question have, because you touched on it

          8  and it was an issue that I was thinking about with

          9  New York City Housing Authority because that's also

         10  an area of key interest to me.  Outside of the

         11  installing efficient refrigerators, what other

         12  measures are being looked at with regards to NYCHA?

         13  Do you supply the power to NYCHA?

         14                 MR. CAREY:  Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  Okay.

         16                 MR. CAREY:  They are one of our

         17  customers and we are working with them on a number

         18  of options that they have.  You know, it was

         19  interesting, earlier, to hear about smart metering,

         20  when in public housing we have no meters.  You know,

         21  there was a time when we didn't meter water in this

         22  City.  I know there was some recent news reports

         23  that they were surprised that New York City is using

         24  less water than it did in the past, but none of the

         25  articles mentioned that you now meter water.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  I see.

          3    So, there's no metering of electricity in New York

          4  City Housing Authority?

          5                 MR. CAREY:  That's correct.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  Okay.

          7  Outside of that, any other things that  --

          8                 MR. CAREY:  Oh sure, lighting  --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  Okay.

         10                 MR. CAREY:  --  You know, purchasing

         11  of green power, taking a look at the boilers.  I

         12  mean, we do a top to bottom review of each building.

         13                 One of the things that we've noticed

         14  in some of the older buildings, for instance, we did

         15  a, what was an 1840's post office in Rochester, New

         16  York that was turned into a county facility.  We did

         17  an energy retrofit in that building and besides the

         18  energy savings, because of the smart building

         19  program that we were able to put in, the building

         20  manger also told us they were saving about

         21  $20,000.00 a year on O and M.  Now, that's one of

         22  the benefits of green buildings.

         23                 We noticed that when we built the

         24  Solaire, for instance, that the Albanese (phonetic)

         25  Corporation was actually spending a dollar, a dollar
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          2  and 25 cents less a year on O and M. Now, it doesn't

          3  sound like much, a dollar, a dollar and 25 cents,

          4  but when you think that it's a 330,000 square foot

          5  building, and that that's going to recur every year,

          6  I mean that makes a developer smile.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  Right.

          8    Well, thank you Mr. Carey.  Thank you Mr. Chair.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you

         10  Council Member Mark-MARK-VIVERITO.  Before I

         11  recognize Councilman Koppell, I just have two quick

         12  questions for Mr. Carey.

         13                 You mentioned in your testimony

         14  joining City government and others in supporting an

         15  effort at the state Public Service Commission to end

         16  the linkage between the profits of investor- owned

         17  utilities and the amount of electricity and gas they

         18  sell to customers.  As you may know, Speaker Quinn

         19  and myself signed onto that statement.  You said

         20  that the PSC, that this is under consideration at

         21  the PSC now.  Is there any sense of the timing of

         22  when they're going to render a decision on that?

         23                 MR. CAREY:  Chairman, I wish knew.

         24  It's, as I said in my testimony, you know, it has

         25  been accomplished in California.  It has, you know,
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          2  Con Edison has always said that they are for

          3  distributive generation and for energy efficiency,

          4  but, you know, when you look at their books, they

          5  way they make money is basically running electrons

          6  through a meter.  So, decoupling, you know, changing

          7  that formula, I believe, will break down one of the

          8  barriers to distributive generation.  I happen to be

          9  a big fan of distributive generation.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Me too.

         11                 MR. CAREY:  Technology today, you

         12  know, there's less reasons for wire charges,

         13  particularly in rural areas, but, as you heard

         14  testimony from Gil Quiniones, my good friend, Bob

         15  Fox, you know, is building at Two Bryant Park a,

         16  basically, add to the grid building, you know, four

         17  megawatts of power that will be able to be added to

         18  the grid and, therefore, eliminate the need for

         19  large power plants.  That is going on in Battery

         20  Park City.

         21                 Every building in Battery Park City

         22  that's been built since 2000, under the guidelines

         23  that I helped develop, has the ability to do that.

         24  But, at this point, because of Con Edison's

         25  structure, it's not allowed.
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          2                 Even the protocols that we have to

          3  develop with Con Edison to place each one of these

          4  fuel cells in your facilities has to be negotiated

          5  one at a time.  We are unable, as many other states

          6  have done, to have one protocol for an

          7  interconnector.

          8                 So, every time, and we're a

          9  government agency, we can afford to do it, but you

         10  can imagine the barrier to a realtor and I, I know

         11  saw some representatives of Reveny (phonetic) here

         12  before.  I mean, you know, for realtors to be able

         13  to sit down and pay consultants and engineers and

         14  lawyers to negotiate with Con Ed for a month or more

         15  about a interconnector, it's money that they can't

         16  afford.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Sure.  Thank

         18  you.  Thank you for that answer.  Also, in your

         19  statement, you indicated the Power Authority's

         20  gracious offer to conduct energy audits and follow-

         21  up with energy efficiency measures at every City-

         22  owned facility beginning with the largest energy

         23  users.  Has the City taken you up on this offer?

         24                 MR. CAREY:  We are working with them

         25  right now to hopefully enter into a contract to
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          2  allow us to do that.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  You do that

          4  through Gil or, who do  --

          5                 MR. CAREY:  Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.

          7                 MR. CAREY:  Yes, we work, well, we

          8  work with Gil and DCAS and you know  --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Sure.

         10                 MR. CAREY:  One thing I learned

         11  working, you know, at Battery Park City is that, you

         12  know, the City's not a monolift.  I mean, even

         13  though you have a Mayor, you have all these Deputy

         14  Mayors and you have to learn to sort of deal with

         15  each one and make sure you don't step on anybody's

         16  toes to get something done.  Then, I used to have to

         17  go to the City Comptroller and, you know, thank God

         18  you have a great City Comptroller in this City

         19  because he's a very reasonable man  --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yes.

         21                 MR. CAREY:  --  Allows you to get

         22  things done.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I've been in

         24  City government 23 and a half years and I'm still

         25  finding my way too.  But, thank you for working so
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          2  hard, for being willing to go through the labyrinth

          3  to get a good result.  We really do appreciate that.

          4                 MR. CAREY:  You know, I was, as you

          5  know, I was a county legislator in Westchester

          6  County for ten years, so, you know, I had the

          7  experience of, a similar experience of being a

          8  legislator, like, like you are, and understanding

          9  that getting government to work sometimes takes more

         10  art than science.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Well, it looks

         12  like you've been able to do a lot.  I look forward

         13  to reading your book, if you have one, if you have

         14  one.  I recognize Council Member Koppell has a

         15  question.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Thank you

         17  Mr. Chairman. I apologize for being late today.  I

         18  was with the Speaker in my district and you know

         19  that that has first priority.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I do.  The

         21  Speaker was in my district last night, so I  --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  I'm sure you

         23  were there too.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yes, of course.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Just a
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          2  couple of questions.  I'm impressed with what you're

          3  doing at the Power Authority.  You mentioned that

          4  you've been using, on an experimental basis, biofuel

          5  in one of your power plants.  What percentage of

          6  that fuel is from biological, I guess, material,

          7  from plants?

          8                 MR. CAREY:  We ran it at different

          9  levels of mixes.  I'll be glad to send you a report,

         10  if you'd like a copy of the report, which is not

         11  even finished yet.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  About what

         13  percentage though?

         14                 MR. CAREY:  I mean, how was the  --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Yes, how

         16  much was  --

         17                 MR. CAREY:  15 percent  --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  --  Oil and

         19   --

         20                 MR. CAREY:  I think it was ten to, I

         21  think the one was ten percent and then we made it

         22  higher.  I don't know how high we went up, but we

         23  kept mixing more biofuel in and then what we have to

         24  do is we have to test the air emissions  --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Right.
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          2                 MR. CAREY:  --  And then we have to

          3  get, you know, pure verification.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Do you also

          5  use biofuel in your vehicles?

          6                 MR. CAREY:  Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Do you know

          8  what percentage you use?

          9                 MR. CAREY:  It's, I believe it's 15

         10  percent.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  This is

         12  ethanol or what is it?

         13                 MR. CAREY:  Ethanol.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Ethanol.

         15                 MR. CAREY:  We have, we have, in our

         16  fleet, we have many different types of energy-

         17  efficient vehicles that we're, you know, testing for

         18  different purposes.  We have vehicles that run on

         19  ethanol.  We have hybrid electric vehicles. We have

         20  Prius's.  We also have some trucks that we're

         21  utilizing for that purpose as well.

         22                 Very excitingly, we are going to have

         23  in January, we're going to get a plug- in Sprinter

         24  Van from Daimler Chrysler. This is a vehicle that

         25  you can run up to 20 miles by just plugging it in
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          2  your house at night and it, at night it charges up

          3  the vehicle and then it has a four bred (phonetic),

          4  excuse me, a four cylinder diesel engine that you

          5  can either run as a hybrid electric vehicle or you

          6  can run purely off electric.  Now, what's really

          7  great about these vehicles is that you can run your

          8  house off the car.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  You can do

         10  what?

         11                 MR. CAREY:  You can run your house

         12  off the car. So, if the, in Westchester, where we

         13  get all these trees come down and knock us our for

         14  weeks from Con Ed, we just plug our house into the

         15  car and we're set.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:   I see.  So,

         17  if the car engine is running, it will  --

         18                 MR. CAREY:  Well, you don't even have

         19  to run the car.  As long as it's charged, you don't

         20  even have to run it, you just plug it in.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  I see, I

         22  see, because there's a rechargeable battery in  --

         23                 MR. CAREY:  Yeah.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  --  The car.

         25                 MR. CAREY:  Yeah.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  And when

          3  you're working with  --

          4                 MR. CAREY:  I don't think you can run

          5  a high rise residential building off of it, but you

          6  can run, you know, you can run a small house off of

          7  it.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  I wasn't

          9  here when the City testified, but are you looking

         10  also with the City at the use of biofuels, at least

         11  in City vehicles?  Are you looking at that?

         12                 MR. CAREY:  We are, we are not

         13  working with the City on that.  I would assume that

         14  DEC might be.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Okay, but

         16  we'll look at it  --  I thought if you were, but if

         17  you're not, then you're not.  The green roofs, I

         18  note that you were involved with the Bronx project,

         19  which I'm aware of.  Do you see that as a

         20  substantial contributor to both, to energy

         21  efficiency?

         22                 MR. CAREY:  Absolutely.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  The green

         24  roofs?

         25                 MR. CAREY:  Yes, green roofs, as the
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          2  EPA testified, you know, green roofs, properly

          3  built, as they are in Battery Park City, as we did

          4  in the Bronx at the courthouse and we did, I

          5  believe, six others in the Bronx as well and a

          6  number in Queens.  Green roofs are not only energy-

          7  efficient and they will actually save about 12

          8  percent of the energy utilized to heat and cool,

          9  because they keep the building warmer in the winter

         10  and cooler in the summer.  But, also, for the City's

         11  purposes, they mitigate runoff, which is a big

         12  problem in the City of New York, is runoff from the

         13  buildings.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Right.

         15                 MR. CAREY:  They will actually hold

         16  more water, which is what helps as an insulator.  In

         17  Battery Park City, we also created cisterns that

         18  allowed us to capture the runoff so that we could

         19  then utilize that water for irrigation as well. And,

         20  and they minimize and basically can almost eliminate

         21  the hot house effect of, of a building.

         22                 So, you have, there are so many

         23  things.  Besides that, they're beautiful and when

         24  you're up on top of a green roof in the middle of

         25  the City of New York and you've got the grass
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          2  blowing and the, you know, the birds flying around,

          3  I mean, it's really incredible.  If you go up to

          4  Building Seven now, at the World Trade Center, if

          5  you go up to Larry's building and you now look down

          6  at Battery Park City, you see all these green roofs.

          7  It's really quite nice.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Are there

          9  incentives currently in place, other than the

         10  natural incentives, that is to say the savings you

         11  achieve by putting the green roof on, are there any

         12  incentive programs, state, federal or local?

         13                 MR. CAREY:  No, right now, it's the

         14  energy savings.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  So, would

         16  you favor incentives, for instance, for builders who

         17  build buildings or do you think there's enough of an

         18  incentive in the advantages that the green roof

         19  provides?  Or, do you think we need additional

         20  incentives?

         21                 MR. CAREY:  I was a supporter and,

         22  you know, helped the Governor pass the Green

         23  Building Tax Credit at the state level back in 2000.

         24    That was, that was at the same time as we were

         25  working on coming out with our first RFP at Battery
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          2  Park City.  That $25 million and the dollars in tax

          3  credits has been expended.  There was an extension

          4  of, for another $25 million. That is now in,

          5  working.

          6                 I think, at this stage of the game,

          7  we still need to subsidize these buildings to get,

          8  really one of the benefits has been, when I heard

          9  the Chairman talk about going into Home Depot and

         10  seeing EnergyStar appliances, now, you know, in

         11  January of 1995, they weren't there.  You know, when

         12  the Governor's, and I was at, I was in the cabinet

         13  then, when the Governor said that we were going to

         14  buy EnergyStar appliances for public housing, well

         15  that really sent a shockwave through, you know, GE

         16  and Seaman and Westinghouse, because then, here, I

         17  mean somebody's going to buy 100,000 refrigerators

         18  and only buy EnergyStar.

         19                 When he was the Mayor of the City of

         20  Peekskill, and I was the county legislator, I mean,

         21  it upset him that he had to buy the worst

         22  refrigerators possible off the state list when

         23  rehabbing a public housing project.  We don't have

         24  to do that anymore.  We have the power of the public

         25  purse and we can set, through our RFP process, the
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          2  quality that the public deserves  --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Well, my  --

          4                 MR. CAREY:  --  And we've been doing

          5  that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  My question

          7  is kind of leading to a proposal that I have that I

          8  hope the Council will consider, which is to create a

          9  tax incentive program, a real estate tax incentive

         10  program to give, as we have now things like the 421

         11  program, but a tax incentive program to encourage

         12  green roofs on all new buildings, so you have a

         13  declining tax credit. Do you think that would make

         14  some sense?

         15                 MR. CAREY:  I think that would make

         16  absolute sense and I'll be glad to come back and

         17  testify.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Yes, well,

         19  good.  I think the Chairman knows it's one of my

         20  objectives and so I hope we'll be looking at that in

         21  the next months.

         22                 MR. CAREY:  Well, you know, one of

         23  the things you're going to have now is with your

         24  buildings in the Bronx and Battery Park City and

         25  throughout the City of Queens, where this has been
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          2  done, you'll actually have the metrics.  I mean,

          3  when you can show the people what the savings are,

          4  you'll have the metrics and that changes the way

          5  developers look at what, how they build.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Thank you,

          7  appreciate it. Any, we'll keep in mind that you're

          8  interested in this and perhaps can help us with some

          9  numbers, because it's hard to figure out exactly at

         10  what level to put this kind of subsidy program.

         11  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you

         13  Councilman Koppell.  Thank you, again, oh sure, I'm

         14  sorry.  I was just going to thank you for appearing

         15  before us today and for being so gracious and for

         16  waiting and Council Member Comrie has comments or

         17  questions as well.  Thank you again Mr. Carey.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Yes, I'll leave

         19  it to a comment as we're running late.  I just

         20  wanted to thank you for your leadership and your

         21  forward thinking.  Are you a member of this

         22  Sustainability Committee that the Mayor put together

         23  for long term sustainability?

         24                 MR. CAREY:  No, I'm not.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Are you on the

                                                            129

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  PORT to deal with the emergency energy reduction?

          3                 MR. CAREY:  No, I'm not.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  We've got to fix

          5  that.  All right, thank you Mr. Carey.

          6                 MR. CAREY:  Thank you Chairmen.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Our next

          8  witness, David Lawrence of the New York Independent

          9  System Operator, to be followed by a panel:  Allen

         10  Roberts, Herb Healy, Ruben Brown and Anthony

         11  Pereira.  So, those individuals will appear in a

         12  panel after Mr. Lawrence.

         13                 MR. LAWRENCE:  Thank you Mr.

         14  Chairman.  My name, my name is David Lawrence.  I

         15  appreciate the opportunity to address this group.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  We have to

         17  swear you in as a witness first, Mr. Lawrence.

         18  Okay, so we'll just do the swearing in and then you

         19  can proceed with your testimony.

         20                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Please raise

         21  your right hand.  In the testimony that you are

         22  about to give, do you swear or affirm to tell the

         23  truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         24                 MR. LAWRENCE:  I do.

         25                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Thank you.
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          2                 MR. LAWRENCE:  I appreciate the

          3  opportunity to address this Joint Hearing of the

          4  Consumers Affairs and Environmental Protection

          5  Committees on behalf of the New York Independent

          6  System Operator, that is the NYISO.  I apologize for

          7  not having hard copies of this for you right now.

          8  We will be providing that you.  Unfortunately, due

          9  to the lateness of the hour putting this together,

         10  we weren't able to pull them together.

         11                 My position at the NYISO is the

         12  Manager of Auxiliary Market Products and in this

         13  role I manage and oversee the design and monitoring

         14  of the NYISO's Demand Response programs and

         15  assessing their larger impact on the system load in

         16  the environment.  I have a Bachelor's and Master's

         17  degree in electric power engineering from Rensselaer

         18  Polytechnic Institute in Troy, New York.

         19                 The NYISO is a not- for- profit

         20  organization formed in 1998 as part of the

         21  restructuring of the New York State Electric Power

         22  Industry.  Our mission is to ensure the reliable,

         23  safe and efficient operation of the state's bulk

         24  electricity transmission system and to administer

         25  open, competitive and non discriminatory wholesale
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          2  electricity markets in New York State.

          3                 Our activities are overseen and

          4  regulated through tariff by the Federal Energy

          5  Regulatory Commission.  Our board, management and

          6  staff are all completely independent of any entity

          7  with a financial or other interest in the

          8  generation, sale or distribution of electricity.

          9                 We believe that the NYISO is at the

         10  forefront of the national effort to open wholesale

         11  markets to demand reduction.  Both, because it makes

         12  economic sense for those who participate and because

         13  these resources are needed to ensure the reliability

         14  on peak load days, especially in New York City.  The

         15  absence of adequate demand response has been cited

         16  by FERC as a major impediment to full functioning,

         17  efficient wholesale electricity markets throughout

         18  the nation.

         19                 Since 2000, the NYISO staff has

         20  worked with its stakeholders to develop what many

         21  regard as the most advanced market for demand

         22  resources in the U.S. And a model for others to

         23  adopt.  Currently, the NYISO offers two programs

         24  which call on demand side resources to avoid short-

         25  term reliability problems and a third that offers
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          2  load resources the opportunity to economically offer

          3  their load reduction resources into our energy

          4  market.

          5                 Regarding these reliability- based

          6  programs, they pay customers to curtail usage or

          7  operate emergency backup generators during times

          8  when reliability of the electric grid could be in

          9  jeopardy and I can comment that certainly the NYPA,

         10  Con Ed and many other organizations participate very

         11  actively in this program.

         12                 For customers unsure of their ability

         13  to reduce their need when called upon, the strictly

         14  voluntary program, called the Emergency Demand

         15  Response program, will pay them for their verified

         16  energy reductions.  Customers who participate in our

         17  installed capacity market, as special, what we call

         18  special case resources, have obligated themselves to

         19  reduce load for a specified contract period and

         20  they're additionally compensated through what we

         21  call monthly capacity payments.

         22                 From May, 2001 to October, 2006, the

         23  scope of the NYISO's Reliability- Based Demand

         24  Response programs has grown from approximately 200

         25  megawatts to 1,820 megawatts.  The number of in- use
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          2  customers that participate in these programs is

          3  increased from approximately 200 in March, 2002 to

          4  over 2,600 today.  I think, more specifically,

          5  roughly one- half of these customers, that would be

          6  about 1,300 of these customers, that represent

          7  approximately one- third of the total megawatts,

          8  that's about 650 megawatts, of this load reduction

          9  is located here in New York City.

         10                 During peak demand periods, the

         11  NYISO's Demand Response programs have proven to be a

         12  major contributor to maintaining grid reliability.

         13  Since the inception of these programs in 2001, the

         14  NYISO has called upon demand response resources on

         15  16 occasions.  You'll be interested that during the

         16  August, 2003 northeast blackout, demand response

         17  resources were used to assist in actually restoring

         18  the system in the days following the blackout,

         19  permitting almost 900 megawatts to reconnect to the

         20  grid in a timely manner, which is roughly akin to

         21  two medium- sized generating plants coming back on-

         22  line.

         23                 In 2006, getting more to our

         24  experience over this past summer, the NYISO invoked

         25  the reliability programs on six occasions, five of
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          2  those times occurring here in New York City. On the

          3  NYISO's record peak load day, which was August

          4  second of this year, resources are estimated to have

          5  contributed over a thousand megawatts of load

          6  reduction, roughly three percent of the peak load in

          7  the entire state and, again, an amount equal to

          8  approximately two medium- sized generation plants.

          9                 From the inception of the NYISO's

         10  Demand Response programs, the New York State Public

         11  Service Commission has been instrumental in ensuring

         12  that utilities in the state, such as Con Ed, offer

         13  programs that are consistent with the NYISO program

         14  designs.  In addition, the New York State Energy

         15  Research and Development Authority, NYSERDA, has

         16  offered innovative programs to assist program

         17  participants with load reduction strategies, such as

         18  interval metering and emergency generator tune- up

         19  and emissions testing.

         20                 New York stakeholders in all sectors

         21  have worked together to develop market rules that

         22  are both equitable and effective.  Some of the other

         23  benefits that we see from these programs, we've

         24  noted a growth in what we term aggregation

         25  organizations.  These are companies that principally
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          2  are involved in providing demand responses, serving

          3  the link between New York ISO and the end use

          4  customers, where that is their principal business

          5  rather than supplying, say, commodity electricity to

          6  these customers.

          7                 The growth of these organizations

          8  offering demand response services indicates that

          9  demand response can be a viable business model in

         10  New York.  Roughly half of the megawatts in the

         11  mandatory Installed Capacity Special Case Resources

         12  program are currently registered with aggregation

         13  organizations.

         14                 The NYISO relies on programs that

         15  include over 200 megawatts of emergency generators

         16  to maintain short- term reliability and as we get

         17  into some of the environmental issues at this point.

         18    However, the NYISO supports restricting

         19  participation in its Non- Reliability or our

         20  economic Demand Response programs only to those

         21  distributed generators that carry the environmental

         22  permits required of regularly operating resources.

         23                 The NYISO is committed to include in

         24  its future economic program designs environmental

         25  requirements that are likely to be imposed based on
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          2  vintage of equipment that may participate.  As a

          3  reliability measure, however, quick response

          4  emergency back- up generation remains necessary

          5  until cleaner alternatives appear.

          6                 The NYISO proposes that we use these

          7  reliability necessary resources infrequently and

          8  only as a last resort.  The NYISO has been working

          9  over the past couple of years with the New York

         10  State Department of Environmental Conservation to

         11  develop consistent and effective rules for

         12  distributive generator participation in these types

         13  of Demand Response programs.

         14            Again, I wish to thank the Committees and

         15  each of the Council Members for the opportunity to

         16  make this presentation and I'll be happy to answer

         17  any questions that you might have.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you Mr.

         19  Lawrence. We've appreciated the role that the ISO

         20  has always played in being sort of like the good

         21  traffic cop for our New York State power grid.  We

         22  appreciate your willingness to come here today and

         23  share the benefits of your thoughts.  You made a

         24  very, very comprehensive statement, which I

         25  appreciate and I would be grateful for a hard copy
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          2  of it  --

          3                 MR. LAWRENCE:  Certainly.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  --  As well.

          5  But, I don't have any questions further than to, you

          6  know, thank you for your statement.  Okay, thank you

          7  Mr. Lawrence and give our best to the good folks at

          8  the ISO.

          9                 The next panel, as I called, Anthony

         10  Pereira of AltPOWER, INC., oh a couple of different

         11  entities that Mr. Pereira is involved in, can't make

         12  them all out, can't make them all out, but welcome;

         13  Ruben Brown of E Cubed and Climate, looks like

         14  Climate Energy; Herb Healy, United Technologies

         15  Corporation; Allen Roberts of Clean Energy Systems

         16  New York.  To be followed by the patient folks at

         17  KeySpan.

         18                 So, we thank you all for your

         19  patience, for your willingness to be here, but most

         20  especially for your innovation, which, no doubt,

         21  will lead us to do very sensible things in the

         22  energy sector.  So, we thank you all for being here.

         23    Donna De Costanzo is going to administer a group

         24  oath and then we'll proceed, I guess, in order that

         25  I called the witnesses.  Right, so it would be from
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          2  your left to your right we'll proceed.  So, Donna.

          3                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Please raise

          4  your right hand.  In the testimony that you are

          5  about give, do you swear or affirm to tell the

          6  truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          7                 MR. PEREIRA:  I do.

          8                 MR. ROBERTS:  I do.

          9                 MR. HEALY:  I do.

         10                 MR. BROWN:  I do.

         11                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, so I have

         13  one statement here.  I want to make sure that

         14  whoever has a  --  oh, and we're joined by Council

         15  Member Bill de Blasio from Brooklyn, a Member of the

         16  Environmental Protection Committee.  Pleasure to

         17  have Bill here with us today.  So, I have  --  are

         18  there other statements being distributed?  Okay.

         19  Who has a prepared statement?  Okay.  I mean, a

         20  written statement that's being circulated.  Okay.  I

         21  have Anthony, okay Anthony and then I'll, by the

         22  time the next witness goes I'll have the others.

         23  Okay. Anthony.

         24                 MR. PEREIRA:  Okay, thank you sir.

         25  Thank you for having me here.  I'm honored to speak
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          2  before the City Council. I'd like to clarify what

          3   --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  You've got to

          5  speak right into the microphone like I'm doing.

          6                 MR. PEREIRA:  Okay, sorry about that.

          7    Again, I'm just honored to be here and speak

          8  before, testify before the City Council.  Again, my

          9  name is Anthony Pereira.  I'm the President and CEO

         10  or altPOWER, INC., which is a locally- based

         11  renewable energy company responsible for many

         12  projects throughout the City, including the Solaire

         13  project and all the projects at Battery Park City,

         14  Bronx High School of Science, New York Hall of

         15  Science, Queens Botanical Garden, several projects

         16  for Economic Development Corporation, also the

         17  Greenpoint Manufacturing Design Center, 55 kw system

         18  at Humboldt Street, which was required to have a

         19  protective relay under the network grid here in Con

         20  Edison, and I'll get into that a little bit more,

         21  and also the 55 kw system at Greenpoint

         22  Manufacturing Design Center on Manhattan Avenue.

         23                 As you mentioned earlier, I also

         24  represent the New York Solar Energy Industries

         25  Association and the Alliance for Clean Energy, New
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          2  York, where I am a Board Member.

          3                 Just yesterday, Sir Nicholas Stern,

          4  under the leadership of Tony Blair, published a

          5  report on global warming.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  If you could

          7  speak louder for my benefit, too  --

          8                 MR. PEREIRA:  Okay, I'm sorry.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  --  I'd

         10  appreciate that.

         11                 MR. PEREIRA:  Just yesterday, a

         12  report was published by Sir Nicholas Stern of the,

         13  of Tony Blair's guidance to, just look into the

         14  threats of global warming and economically what

         15  would that mean.  The threat to New York City is

         16  tremendous. We expect that there will be a three

         17  foot rise in the sea levels for New York City.

         18                 You know, when we talk about

         19  economics on renewable energy systems, you have to

         20  also consider that building dikes to protect New

         21  York City within the next 100 years will be a very

         22  expensive thing to do.  We're expecting 200 million

         23  people to be displaced, that's refugees, globally.

         24  Global economic slow down greater than the great

         25  depression is predicted if global warming were to
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          2  not be addressed by the governments of the world.

          3  You know, the current generations will judge us on

          4  what we do today and we need to act very quickly.

          5                 If we spend one percent of global GDP

          6  today we can prevent a lot of the problems,

          7  possibly, that are to come because of our

          8  shortsightedness and in our burning of fossil fuels

          9  over the last 50 to 100 years.  The alternative is

         10  expected to be 20 percent of GDP within 100 years if

         11  we don't spend it now.

         12                 New York City is a non- attainment

         13  zone for air quality, for most of the air.  New York

         14  City has one of the highest rates of childhood

         15  asthma for any major city in the world.  As you

         16  know, 80 percent of the peak demand electricity

         17  generation for NYC must be located within the five

         18  boroughs. This has become harder to do with

         19  communities fighting construction of power plants,

         20  coupled with the rapid growth of power demand in New

         21  York City.  Electricity demand is near 13,500

         22  megawatts currently in New York City and expected to

         23  grow at 150 megawatts per year over the next ten

         24  years.

         25                 Solar energy as an option.  You know,
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          2  New York City is actually, New York State is one of

          3  the leaders, globally, for the implementation of

          4  renewable energy systems and new technologies.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  What's that?

          6  Pardon.

          7                 MR. PEREIRA:  New York State is one

          8  of the leaders, globally, as a government,

          9  implementing new green technologies, energy

         10  efficiency.  We have many wind farms upstate and a

         11  lot of solar installations throughout the state.  We

         12  have been the leader, honestly, we're starting to

         13  lose ground to other nations and other states, as

         14  they implement more aggressive programs.

         15                 Studies show that enough solar energy

         16  falls on the surfaces of New York City to provide

         17  two and a half times the energy generation that Con

         18  Ed currently generates or that is generated within

         19  the network.  Other studies show that New York City

         20  rooftops alone could provide 6,000 megawatts of

         21  energy production through solar energy generation.

         22  Current capacity of solar generation in the City is

         23  only around two megawatts, far short of the

         24  potential.

         25                 Solar electric system installations
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          2  are amongst the largest job creators for any energy

          3  production source worldwide.  I give a graph towards

          4  the end of the document that shows you that, based

          5  against coal and wind.  We produce many more jobs

          6  than either of the technologies.  Con Edison, you

          7  know, honestly can be encouraged to own DG and

          8  they're allowed by law. So, distributed generation

          9  could be owned and they could actually benefit and

         10  profit from it if it was implemented.  They could

         11  own PV systems throughout the City, fuel cells, they

         12  have that right.

         13                 PV generation should be allowed to

         14  participate in the local Demand Response program, as

         15  it has been proven to be more effective at lower

         16  cost and without pollution.  Demand Response

         17  programs are when the New York ISO calls up

         18  generators throughout the City, turn on their

         19  generation capacity, most of that is the dirtiest

         20  generation available, diesel fuel generation.  A

         21  recent report by Dr. Richard Perez at the State

         22  University of New York in Albany proves that PV can

         23  be three times more effective at demand response and

         24  actually save the City money and do it without

         25  creating pollution.
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          2                 Recently, solar and national groups

          3  have called for 500 megawatts to be installed within

          4  the five boroughs over the next ten years.  In

          5  consideration of all the things I stated before,

          6  this is actually easily achievable and it is a

          7  modest goal.  My company, alone, installed 1.25

          8  megawatts between the months of June and August this

          9  summer.  Most of that happened in New Jersey because

         10  they have an effective program there.

         11                 So, what is needed?  Well, first and

         12  foremost and something that isn't stated there, but

         13  it occurred to me it was one of the most important

         14  things is that current PV funding under their

         15  Renewable Portfolio Standard program that NYSERDA

         16  will manage, starting January first, the funding for

         17  PV has been reduced by about $2 million a year over

         18  the next three years. Considering the growth of the

         19  industry, how many jobs it's created and the

         20  problems we're having with generation and pollution,

         21  that makes absolutely no sense.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Is that a new

         23  statement?  Is that a new statement or are you just?

         24                 MR. PEREIRA:  Yeah, that's a new

         25  statement sir.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  Please

          3  continue.

          4                 MR. PEREIRA:  So, what I think the

          5  City can do. Well, you know, Tim Carey's an advocate

          6  and he's a leader in green renewable energy and

          7  that's been proven with Battery Park City Authority.

          8    So, I think that the greatest ally the City of New

          9  York has is to work with NYPA to install PV systems

         10  on public buildings throughout New York City,

         11  mandating PV systems for new public construction,

         12  like the highly successful Battery Park City

         13  Authority PV- mandate for all new buildings.

         14                 So, literally, just saying that every

         15  new building must have PV capacity.  It must be

         16  energy- efficient first and then put as much

         17  capacity of generation with clean technologies on

         18  those buildings as possible.  Solar just is the best

         19  option for that.

         20                 Public purchase of PV technology

         21  through a mandate will allow the industry to invest

         22  safely and eventually bring the cost down.  Also,

         23  just off the statement, sir, there, there's a big

         24  difference between incentives.  The PV industry is

         25  solely asking for incentives.  Incentives go away
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          2  over time.  They basically will reduce the cost and

          3  install the systems. Subsidies stay forever and many

          4  of the recurrent fossil fuel technologies have

          5  subsidies that remain in effect for many years,

          6  including coal, nuclear and oil.

          7                 A local incentive program, literally,

          8  a buy- down per watt, should be established to

          9  reduce the cost of consumers, consumer costs since

         10  the NYSERDA funding program provides no more

         11  incentive for New York City, even though

         12  construction costs are known to be higher, and New

         13  York City is one of the best locations in the entire

         14  nation for PV systems to be effective considering

         15  energy demand and solar resource availability

         16  combined with the high cost of electricity locally

         17  and the poor air quality of New York City.

         18                 Also, this Council should consider a

         19  local income tax credit, like the state and federal

         20  income tax credits for residential and commercial

         21  systems that are already in place.

         22                 It's time to help the industry,

         23  industry and solar industry and the environmental

         24  community with local policy goals which include:

         25                 Commercial PV system net metering;
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          2                 Commercial PV system sales tax

          3  exemption;

          4                 Pressure the PSC to follow the

          5  existing statutes when developing interconnection

          6  and net metering rules.  Often, these rules do not

          7  match the statutes;

          8                 Eliminate engineering review charges

          9  from utilities to commercial systems;

         10                 Work to make the interconnection

         11  rules more logical considering the advantages of PV

         12  systems provide to Con Edison;

         13                 Initiate a third- party review of the

         14  network grid system maintained by Con Edison.  This

         15  has come up a couple of times.  Instead of having

         16  Con Ed review it, why don't we have a third- party

         17  review what's going on with the network grid?  The

         18  reason why I'm stating that is because, in other

         19  parts of the country, just over the river, actually,

         20  in New Jersey, grid connected PV systems are allowed

         21  to export into network grids, same type of grids

         22  that New York, that Con Edison operates; and

         23                 Streamline the DOB and the Borough of

         24  Electrical Control permitting an inspection process

         25  for PV systems, limiting unnecessary costs.
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          2  Recently, there has been an additional requirement

          3  under the new New York City Electrical Code that

          4  will begin on January 1, 2007, that all PV systems

          5  installed, regardless of their certification, and

          6  most products, 99 percent of them have UL

          7  Certificates on their product listings for inverters

          8  and PV modules.

          9                 The City now will require that

         10  systems, even though they are labeled and certified

         11  by UL, get tested field evaluated at the sites

         12  they're installed by labs like UL. Literally, we've

         13  done this a few times and the UL person will come

         14  out and say, why am I doing this, this is already

         15  certified. That needs to be looked at.

         16                 You know, I have some supporting

         17  graphs and so on in the back of the document, but

         18  that is my testimony.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

         20  Thank you very much Mr. Pereira.  What we'll do is

         21  we'll go through the panel and as we have questions,

         22  we'll return.  Allen Roberts, where's Allen.  I

         23  guess it doesn't matter, Mr. Roberts, please,

         24  forgive me sir.

         25                 MR. ROBERTS:  Is this on?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yes.

          3                 MR. ROBERTS:  Given the time, I'm

          4  going to try and make mine brief.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, sure.

          6  And, just like I asked Anthony, just speak loudly

          7  right into the microphone.

          8                 MR. ROBERTS:  I will.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.

         10                 MR. ROBERTS:  Good afternoon.  We

         11  wish to thank Honorable Chairman Gennaro, Chairman

         12  Comrie, Legislative Attorney Donna De Costanzo and

         13  Counsel Gary Altman and, of course, Speaker

         14  Christine Quinn for inviting us to offer testimony

         15  with respect to this important energy and

         16  environmental concerns under discussion, reducing

         17  energy demand, enhancing energy efficiency and

         18  promoting use of clean energy in New York City.

         19                 Our principal task in this

         20  presentation is to introduce you to, to you

         21  Committee Members, the environmental and energy

         22  solutions that, in our opinion, present a realistic

         23  remedy to the challenges we face.  Before I describe

         24  the contribution urban wind technology can lend to

         25  our City, allow me to share our views regarding the
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          2  potential challenges to the deployment of renewable

          3  technologies.

          4                 Building owners and managers.

          5  Building owners and managers can contribute in a

          6  number of ways by replacing oil fired boiler burner

          7  systems with either upgraded systems or, preferably,

          8  clean cogeneration systems.  On- site cogeneration

          9  systems can provide electric power, heating and air

         10  conditioning from a single source, thereby realizing

         11  tremendous operating efficiencies and significant

         12  cost savings.  The result will remove tons of carbon

         13  dioxide and other pollutants from the atmosphere.

         14                 The Council should investigate,

         15  should also investigate how the Major Capital

         16  Improvement, MCI, regulations of the New York State

         17  Building Department can be amended to include

         18  additional energy and environmental technologies,

         19  such as solar heating and cooling, building- applied

         20  and building integrated photovoltaics, vertical axis

         21  wind turbines, fuel cells, microturbines and other

         22  on- site power generators.

         23                 Individual responsibility.

         24  Individuals can easily alter their wasteful habits

         25  by trading the SUV for a smaller, fuel efficient
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          2  vehicle, use and promote mass transit, insulate

          3  their home, purchase green products  --  that

          4  gentleman who was talking about replacing your light

          5  bulbs, he was right on the money.  Light bulbs and

          6  windows can save you 30 percent  -- install energy-

          7  efficient windows and lighting.  However, the

          8  portion of New Yorkers who live in rental

          9  cooperative and condominium buildings have little

         10  influence on building installed energy equipment,

         11  operations and maintenance systems.

         12                 Diesel trucks and buses.  Royal Dutch

         13  Shell, ChevronTexaco and ExxonMobil have introduced

         14  a new technology called gas to liquids, GTL.  GTL is

         15  a new process, currently in testing, to convert

         16  natural gas to clean diesel fuel.  The fuel is

         17  already available in Europe.  Perhaps the Council

         18  would consider requesting information from those

         19  companies regarding its availability in New York

         20  City.

         21                 Architects can design all new

         22  buildings to meet United States Green Building

         23  Council's leadership in Energy and Environmental

         24  Design standards.  Tim Carey said as much last week

         25  when we had a conference up there.  It would
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          2  probably cost, to build affordable housing, no more

          3  than two percent rather than installing sleeve air

          4  conditioners, as opposed to trigeneration.

          5                 I would note that this is already

          6  occurred. Battery Park City, Four Times Square,

          7  Seven World Trade Center and many other large

          8  projects are underway.  Several New York City

          9  architectural firms, including Croxton Collaborative

         10  Architects, Steven Winter Associates, Weisz and

         11  Yoes, Cogen Architects and Planners, Cook and Fox

         12  are committed to building green, but even they

         13  encounter stiff resistance from developers,

         14  contractors and financiers.

         15                 We are building larger,

         16  technologically advanced structures.  However,

         17  frequently, the developers insist that the building

         18  be completed faster, therefore eliminating the

         19  possibility of intellectual capital input that

         20  likely would have produced a better outcome.

         21                 In addition to the above- mentioned

         22  architectural firms, other organizations committed

         23  to green solutions in New York City include American

         24  Association of Energy Engineers, the American

         25  Institute of Architects and the Association for
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          2  Energy Affordability.

          3                 Renewable energy incentives.  First,

          4  let me say that the New York State Energy Research

          5  and Development Authority, NYSERDA, and the New York

          6  Power Authority, NYPA, have excellent programs that

          7  assist municipalities, business industry and

          8  individual homeowners to reduce energy costs and/or

          9  acquire environmentally sensitive and energy

         10  efficient equipment.

         11                 That said, the United States is years

         12  behind Europe and Japan in adopting aggressive

         13  incentivization strategies.  The gentleman who spoke

         14  first, he, that's what he was talking about.  We

         15  know how to fix the problem, it's just that they

         16  keep putting roadblocks in our way so the problem

         17  doesn't get fix.

         18                 The current Administration provides

         19  in its 2000, the current Federal Administration,

         20  provides in its 2005 Energy Policy, generous grants

         21  to nuclear, coal and oil industries and little to

         22  renewables.

         23                 Vertical axis wind turbine

         24  demonstration.  We would value the opportunity to

         25  provide the Committee on Environmental Protection
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          2  and the Committee on Consumer Affairs and other

          3  Members of the Council with a demonstration of the

          4  vertical axis wind turbine.  By the way, had they

          5  built the new Jets Stadium on the West Side, which

          6  I'm personally glad they didn't build, it would have

          7  used vertical axis wind turbines to power the

          8  lighting for that stadium.

          9                 We recently hosted a demonstration

         10  for representatives of the New York Power Authority,

         11  Bronx Initiative for Energy and the Environment at

         12  The Bronx Overall Economic Development Corporation

         13  and Bathgate Industrial Park LDC.  New York City

         14  municipal buildings are prime facilities for the

         15  installation of this technology, which can

         16  significantly reduce energy costs and mitigate power

         17  interruptions.  We believe that on- site power and

         18  distributive generation is the future.  Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you Mr.

         20  Roberts. Appreciate you being here and we'll have

         21  some questions for you as well.  Now, I, now

         22  originally, I said the panel was going go in a

         23  certain way and that I thought the slips were

         24  organized in that order and so  --  yeah, I think

         25  I'm in trouble if I call the next witness up.  So,
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          2  whoever's going to go next, just identify yourself

          3  for the record and proceed with your statement.

          4                 MR. HEALY:  Committee Chairmens (sic)

          5  Gennaro and Comrie, Members of the New York City

          6  Council, invited speakers and guests, good

          7  afternoon.  My name is Herb Healy.  I'm Acting

          8  Director for Regulatory Policy for UTC Power.

          9                 UTC, part of United Technologies

         10  Corporation, has more than 40 years of experience in

         11  distributed generation and, in particular, fuel

         12  cells.  We are the world leader in fuel cell

         13  technology and I would say the only company in the

         14  world that develops and produces fuel cells for

         15  applications that span each major market, that is

         16  on- site power, transportation, space flight and

         17  defense.  We are also a world leader in the

         18  development of innovative combined cooling, heating

         19  and power applications in the distributed energy

         20  market.

         21                 I would just point out that I did

         22  submit a statement from UTC Power.  In the interest

         23  of time, however, I am going to significantly

         24  abbreviate those comments.  So, if you're not

         25  staying with me on the same paragraph, my apologies.
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          2    But, I think we'll get through a lot quicker.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you Mr.

          4  Healy.

          5                 MR. HEALY:  I would say one thing,

          6  that I didn't realize where this meeting was going

          7  to be today.  When you look up New York City Council

          8  on the website, at least Google it, I almost ended

          9  up in Staten Island and so, I would appreciate, or

         10  my suggestion might be that you indicate where the

         11  meeting is going to be held.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Duly noted.

         13  All the witnesses usually get  --  sorry about that.

         14                 MR. HEALY:  Well, it would have been

         15  a, would have been an interesting tour for me, but

         16   --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Staten Island's

         18  a nice place but  --

         19                 MR. HEALY:  Yes, I'm sure it is.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  --  I'm glad

         21  you're here. Sorry about that.

         22                 MR. HEALY:  Okay.  I noted with

         23  interest some of the earlier comments by other

         24  speakers.  I have, would love to comment on some of

         25  those, however, I'm going to focus on two things.
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          2  One is, what are the opportunities that we see for

          3  fuel cells in New York City in particular.  Then,

          4  what are some of the barriers and some of the

          5  opportunities that I think the City Council here in

          6  New York City could address for greater deployment

          7  of fuel cells.

          8                 Fuel cells provide an opportunity to

          9  address a variety of both New York City's and our

         10  nation's energy needs, including:  One, reducing

         11  dependence on foreign oil with zero emission fuel

         12  cell vehicles; delivering assured high quality

         13  reliable power for facilities, including emergency

         14  shelters; decreasing toxic air and greenhouse gas

         15  emissions; and improving energy efficiency.

         16                 The basic, excuse me, the basic

         17  concepts of fuel cell technology have long been

         18  proven.  Our task, as a manufacturer is now to

         19  enhance key performance characteristics, such as

         20  durability and reduce costs.  I can assure you that

         21  the manufacturers, not just ourselves, but other

         22  fuel cell manufacturers in the world are perfectly

         23  prepared to do that.

         24                 I do want to take just a moment and

         25  recognize New York's Green Building Tax Credit,
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          2  Mayor Bloomberg's creation of the Office of Long

          3  Term Planning and Sustainability and the recent

          4  announcement of the City's plan to install fuel

          5  cells at the World Trade Center.  These are all very

          6  positive policy developments that help to create a

          7  fuel cell marketplace.  With that creation of that

          8  marketplace, the challenge in front of the fuel cell

          9  manufacturers that I just mentioned will be

         10  addressed.

         11                 The four areas where progress can

         12  make a measurable difference in promoting the use of

         13  clean distributed energy in New York City include

         14  permitting; utility, technical and rate- related

         15  issues, such as stand by rates, interconnection and

         16  net metering; utility incentives and unduly

         17  restrictive reliability requirements and local

         18  property and income tax relief that I'll comment on

         19  in a moment.

         20                 UTC Power understands that each of

         21  these is not within the exclusive jurisdiction of

         22  the City Council.  But, because they are so critical

         23  to the end you seek to achieve, we being them to

         24  your attention, so that you can implement them or

         25  urge other policy makers to take action as
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          2  appropriate.

          3                 We appreciate your interest in

          4  increasing the amount of clean energy in New York

          5  City's energy portfolio.  It is clear New York

          6  consumers, both individually and collectively, and

          7  New York's electric distribution system will only

          8  realize the full economic environmental and

          9  reliability value of increased fuel cell deployments

         10  with sustained and comprehensive initiatives at all

         11  levels of government.  To that end, UTC Power

         12  encourages New York City to take the following

         13  steps:

         14                 One.  Ensure a streamlined permitting

         15  process, essentially, with one- stop, with one- stop

         16  process requirements;

         17                 Consider mandating that all new

         18  municipal facilities consider installing fuel cells,

         19  both for prime power and heating and the potential

         20  to use such facilities as emergency shelters and

         21  operation centers in the event of grid outages;

         22                 Thirdly, consider providing property

         23  and income tax relief to compliment tax incentives

         24  offered by other levels of government.  For example,

         25  we have the Federal Income Tax Credit for fuel cells
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          2  and other types of high efficiency distributed

          3  generation.  Some states have sales tax exemptions

          4  for the sale of clean, distributed generation, just

          5  to name some;

          6                 Lastly, to proactively encourage New

          7  York State officials to advance streamlined

          8  interconnection and we've heard a lot about that

          9  this morning already, to ensure stand by rates and

         10  net metering rules that assist consumers' decision

         11  to invest in clean energy technologies.  I can

         12  assure the City Council that both stand by rates and

         13  current net metering rules significantly inhibit

         14  widespread deployment of DG; and

         15                 Lastly, to make certain that utility

         16  programs do not impede deployment of reliable energy

         17  technologies.  It was mentioned a couple times this

         18  morning that Con Ed has a targeted distributed, I'm

         19  sorry, Demand Side Management program, looking for

         20  150 megawatts of demand side capacity.  In fact, I

         21  can almost assure you that distributed generation

         22  will not be able to play a significant role in that

         23  targeted DSM program because of the, I'll say,

         24  unduly restrictive reliability requirements that Con

         25  Ed has placed on each individual project that would
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          2  choose to participate.

          3                 One last thing, that electric

          4  utilities' earnings opportunities do not

          5  discriminate in favor of historic poles and wires

          6  solutions to New Yorkers' energy needs.  This was

          7  exactly Mr. Carey's comments earlier about

          8  separating delivery charges from, from utility

          9  profits.  That is a key core issue that faces the

         10  distributed generation industry today.

         11                 UTC Power appreciates the opportunity

         12  to be here today and we welcome the opportunity to

         13  provide any further information that you may find

         14  helpful.  Thank you very much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you Mr.

         16  Healy.  I appreciate your testimony and your being

         17  here.  Mr. Brown, before I call you, I'm just

         18  curious, you mentioned Con Ed in your statement.  Is

         19  there a representative from Con Ed in the audience?

         20  I'm not going to call you.  Don't be afraid to put

         21  your hand up.  I'm not going to call you.  I won't

         22  call you forward, but if you're here.  Is Con Ed in

         23  the house?  I know there was.  I'm, this is like a

         24  strategic review here.  So, not only did they not

         25  want to come and testify, but they don't even want
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          2  to stay here and hear the whole thing.  Okay.  All

          3  right. We'll talk to them later.  Or, maybe not.

          4  Mr. Brown, thank you for your patience.  We're

          5  grateful to have you here with us today.  Look

          6  forward to your statement.

          7                 MR. BROWN:  I'm honored to be here to

          8  speak about New York's indigenous resources once

          9  again.  I was hired by Mayor Lindsey to be the

         10  Director of the Council on the Environment of New

         11  York City in my boyhood and I had to be, to reflect

         12  on the power structure of New York at the time.  I

         13  had to be approved by three people.  I had to be

         14  approved by the Mayor.  I had to be approved by the

         15  Chairman of Con Edison and then the conservation

         16  member of the New York Times, Salsberger (phonetic)

         17  family.

         18                 The power of politics have evolved in

         19  the 30 years in a lot of ways in New York.  I've

         20  gone through waves of helping people bring new

         21  indigenous resources to market everything from

         22  resource recovery to the various technologies that

         23  we're talking about here.  My profession is midwife.

         24    I literally help energy technologies come to

         25  market.  So, the focus of my comments are going to
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          2  be on the market replacement, replacing natural gas

          3  furnaces in New York City with furnaces that can

          4  also produce electricity.

          5                 The overriding theme that I will

          6  underline is that ten to 12 megawatts a year, 8,000

          7  to 10,000 homes could be replacing their gas

          8  furnaces with gas furnaces that also use a 1.2

          9  kilowatt Honda generator to produce electricity,

         10  meeting half the household electric load within the

         11  same gas that is consumed in the household already,

         12  reducing emissions of carbon dioxide by 75 percent

         13  over the central generating stations in New York

         14  City right now reduce, meeting nox emissions

         15  requirements of, or exceeding them dramatically.

         16  One- tenth of a pound of nox per megawatt hour

         17  compared to the clean energy definition for the

         18  grants we heard talked about earlier of 1.2 pounds

         19  of nox per megawatt hour.

         20                 So, my comments are basically going

         21  to spend a few minutes describing an innovative

         22  technology that's here now and the results of 20

         23  beta tests in Massachusetts this past winter and how

         24  they need to move into this market immediately.

         25  There are a few policy criteria that I'm going to
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          2  flag for you as items to give some consideration to.

          3    The  --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Before you

          5  commence, Mr. Brown  --

          6                 MR. BROWN:  Sure.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I'm just

          8  wondering, do you have a prepared statement that was

          9  handed out?

         10                 MR. BROWN:  Yes, you should have one

         11   --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Do I have that?

         13                 MR. BROWN:  --  In your hands.  The

         14   --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I just want to

         16  make sure I have that in my hands before you go

         17  forward.

         18                 MR. BROWN:  Why don't those of you

         19  who have it up there take a look at the last two

         20  pages.  This is a graphic  --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, I got it

         22  now.

         23                 MR. BROWN:  Okay.  The, and let me

         24  just give one to the other people here at the table.

         25    These little charts sort of lay it out there.  You
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          2  got a house and New York City is full of individual

          3  residences.  Furnaces are being upgraded now to

          4  furnaces that are 93 percent heating efficient.

          5                 If you combine a 1.2 kilowatt

          6  generator, which is ultra quiet and ultra clean,

          7  with this, in the climate energy configuration,

          8  which we'll talk about in a moment, you, you still

          9  have over 85 percent overall efficiency.  You're

         10  getting 4,500 kilowatt hours a year against your

         11  household's 9,000 kilowatt hours.  So, you're

         12  getting about half your electric load.  The 20 units

         13  that were beta tested in Massachusetts to North

         14  American specifications this past winter saved about

         15  25 to 35 percent on the energy and gas, the

         16  electricity and gas costs of the household.

         17                 The importance of using the

         18  Massachusetts and Connecticut areas as models are

         19  that they allow net metering at residential houses

         20  up to 50 kilowatts or 60 kilowatts.  New York, at

         21  the moment, still restricts net metering to

         22  photovoltaics and farm waste, at this point, for the

         23  residents.

         24                 One of the policies we would

         25  encourage you to advocate is expansion of net
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          2  metering and this kind of combined heat and power

          3  technology or any combined residential combined heat

          4  and power technology to improve efficiency and to

          5  allow that 1.2 kilowatts to have a place to go at

          6  night when the load in the household is only three-

          7  quarters of a watt or kilowatt.

          8                 So, you know, that extra kilowattage

          9  sort of has to go somewhere and net metering allows

         10  it to feed back into the meter and net it out at the

         11  end of the month or net it out at the end of the

         12  year in an economic matter.  Con Edison and their

         13  filings in the New York case on net metering, which

         14  was required under the Energy Policy Act, a few

         15  weeks ago said we don't need that here in River

         16  City.  In fact, you do.  The agenda that I've laid

         17  out to you in the next ten years is worth at least

         18  100 to 150 megawatts of electricity reduction by

         19  people being able to generate in their own homes

         20  with the gas that they're otherwise buying.

         21                 There is an incremental cost of the

         22  electric unit. The electric unit and the furnace are

         23  sold as an integrated entity.  Technology could be

         24  provided by fuel, residential fuel cells.  It could

         25  be provided by, you know, any one of several other
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          2  kinds of technologies and I've identified

          3  alternatives in our statement.  But, the fact of the

          4  matter is we've got a technology that's here today.

          5  There are 30,000 units like this installed

          6  worldwide.  It's not a strange new phenomena, et

          7  cetera.  The fact of the matter is that you have

          8  technology that could be moved into homes in each of

          9  the districts that you folks represent immediately

         10  and be available, you know, literally this winter,

         11  next winter and beyond.

         12                 Our recommendation is that the

         13  Council give serious consideration to removal of

         14  disincentives for homeowners to have micro- CHP

         15  systems in their homes.  The Energy Policy Act

         16  defines microcogeneration and those definitions are

         17  in the document.  They're definitions that you could

         18  use in legislation or otherwise.  Clearly, there

         19  will be some interface with the plumbing agencies

         20  and this agencies and that agencies, but this is an

         21  appliance.  If functions as an appliance.

         22                 The interconnection of it

         23  electrically, it was treated by the experts at

         24  National Grid, Massachusetts Electric, who also

         25  happen to be the experts for the Upstate Niagra
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          2  Mohawk Company, as, we've seen two of these.  We

          3  don't need to go view any more of them.  Send us a

          4  photograph to prove that you plugged them into the

          5  house.

          6                 So, part of what we're trying to do

          7  with you today and we're trying to do in Rhode

          8  Island on Friday, they're working on similar issues,

          9  and in New Jersey last week, is raise the message

         10  that in the jurisdiction you have, there is a

         11  tremendous opportunity with indigenous resource of

         12  the furnaces that need to be replaced.  New York

         13  City replaces, the residents in New York City

         14  replace between 40,000 and 50,000 natural gas

         15  furnaces each year.  You know, all we've asked here

         16  is that 20 percent of those be the goal for swap

         17  out.  That's ten to 12 megawatts a year of people

         18  that could solve their problems.

         19                 Now, in Massachusetts, the affiliate

         20  company to KeySpan energy delivery here, is

         21  providing an additional rebate of $2,000.00 per unit

         22  to help.  So, you know, there's a lot of interest in

         23  eastern Massachusetts for doing this.  But, it's,

         24  the interest is spreading because it's something

         25  that could be done right now.  I hate to say it, but
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          2  it could be done at 20 percent of the cost of his

          3  technology.  So, that's the end of my comment.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

          5  I've taken in so much in this panel that I almost

          6  don't know where to begin.  To begin to delve into

          7  what you all have said and to, you know, follow that

          8  up with questioning, I think I'd be, I'd end up

          9  missing taking my daughter trick or treating tonight

         10  if I was to engage you in the amount of questioning

         11  that I would like to pursue.

         12                 Suffice it to say, I've learned

         13  immensely from each of the witnesses that this Joint

         14  Hearing has been a privilege to hear from.  That

         15  certainly will be fodder for discussions with my

         16  colleagues and staff.  I'll think you'll see

         17  legislative initiatives coming out the testimony

         18  that we heard from this panel.  So, in that sense,

         19  your appearance today is greatly appreciated and

         20  certainly will be acted upon.  Seems as though Mr.

         21  Brown has a statement he wishes to say.

         22                 MR. BROWN:  Let me make a comment.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  You're not

         24  going to go after any of the panelists, are you?

         25                 MR. BROWN:  No.  I did that one
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          2  already.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Oh, okay.

          4                 MR. BROWN:  That was a cheap shot,

          5  excuse me.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I thought so,

          7  but, anyway.

          8                 MR. BROWN:  But the immediate issue I

          9  want to raise comes from a variety of the panelists

         10  today and that is the value of the wholesale market

         11  opportunity as it relates to demand resources.  A

         12  number of us have been negotiating in New England a

         13  model that really is very attractive to the cities

         14  in New England and they're actively pursuing it.

         15  This is to treat energy efficiency, demand resources

         16  like distributed generation and load management as

         17  items that can get money directly from the ISO for

         18  the wholesale market.

         19                 So, beginning December One, in, in

         20  New England, a customer who practices energy

         21  efficiency, distributed generation, any of the

         22  technologies that we've been talking about at this

         23  table, can get $3.05 a kilowatt month from the ISO

         24  for the next year and so on.

         25                 We've created a value for capacity in
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          2  the wholesale market for the megawatt.  So, if the

          3  City of New York, under the leadership of the

          4  Council and the good public officials who talked

          5  earlier, were to say to the ISO, you claim you have

          6  the most modern demand response program.

          7  Incidentally, I coined the term demand response

          8  resource.  I know what I'm talking about.  It goes

          9  to the next step.  Other demand resources that you

         10  could call for getting money for the people in New

         11  York City from the wholesale market would be a

         12  tremendous boom.  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you, once

         14  again, Mr. Brown and Mr. Healy, Mr. Pereira and Mr.

         15  Roberts.  I greatly appreciate all of you coming

         16  here today.  Before I dismiss the panel, I just want

         17  to throw out a general question for whoever wishes

         18  to respond.  We heard some testimony about the issue

         19  of stand by rates and those rates being an obstacle.

         20    If one of you could elaborate, either one or more

         21  of you could elaborate briefly on that, I would

         22  appreciate that.

         23                 MR. HEALY:  Mr. Chairman, I'd be

         24  happy to.  I believe it was myself that commented on

         25    --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.

          3                 MR. HEALY:  --  Stand by rates.  Very

          4  simply, stand by rates are  --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Mr. Healy?

          6                 MR. HEALY:  That's correct.  Herb

          7  Healy, UTC Power.  I apologize.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

          9                 MR. HEALY:  Stand by rates are part

         10  of a typical utility tariff, whether it be

         11  residential, commercial or industrial.  But, they

         12  can be particularly onerous to distributed

         13  generation in that essentially they are a, a charge,

         14  a tariff charge, for the fact that the utility is

         15  basically providing an insurance, if you will, to

         16  back up a particular project.

         17                 Now, we're not saying that a utility

         18  should not be compensated for its actual expenses.

         19  In fact, you know, we certainly advocate that.  But,

         20  some of these stand by rates are set up such that

         21  they're ratcheted, they stay in existence for a long

         22  period of time.  For example, you may have a charge

         23  for one month, for example, your distributed

         24  generation asset may go down or you may take it out

         25  of service for maintenance et cetera, and those
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          2  demand charges for the fact the utility has backed

          3  you up can come into play for the next three, six

          4  and sometimes a year's worth of charges.

          5                 What we advocate are fair stand by

          6  charges based on actual expenses and we advocate the

          7  fact that the concept of distributed generation is

          8  putting multiple assets out there at multiple sites.

          9    One needs to take in the statistical probability

         10  of all of those distributed generation assets going

         11  out at the same time, which, in fact, is pretty

         12  negligible.  None of the rate structures in

         13  existence today really reflect that statistical

         14  probability.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

         16  Thank you for elaborating on that.  One final

         17  question for Anthony.  What is the current policy

         18  regarding net metering with respect to solar power?

         19                 MR. PEREIRA:  Currently, the state

         20  net metering rule allows only residential systems of

         21  ten kw or less to net meter officially.  In New York

         22  City, because of the network grid that Con Edison

         23  operates, those are reviewed individually.  So far,

         24  all residential systems have been allowed to

         25  participate in net metering.
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          2                 But, understand what net metering

          3  means.  It means it's only the power that actually

          4  leaves the residence or facility.  It's not, you

          5  know, if there's a ten kw limit to that, you know,

          6  if a home's using energy, it's unlikely the whole

          7  ten kw, even if you had ten kw of PV on a building,

          8  it's highly unlikely that it would actually send ten

          9  kw into the building because all the loads would

         10  have to be satisfied within the building first.  So,

         11  that's why, you know, there's some flexibility on

         12  the network grid already, already happening on

         13  residences.

         14                 As far as for commercial systems,

         15  there is no net metering allowed for commercial

         16  systems at all.  You can interconnect in, a

         17  commercial system, a PV system to the grid. However,

         18  if you export power, if you just get the wholesale

         19  rate of the energy value, you know, we're actively

         20  working to a two megawatt PV net metering rule put

         21  into place over the next year.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

         23  Yes, Mr.  Hang on  --

         24                 MR. ROBERTS:  Allen Roberts.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  --  I'm going
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          2  to find, Roberts.  Okay.

          3                 MR. ROBERTS:  Just a quick question.

          4  I think one of the challenges we have is to look at

          5  the current paradigm of energy distribution.  It has

          6  served us very well for a couple hundred years.  You

          7  have a central power plant.  You have a lot of lines

          8  running off it.  Then, in the summer time, those

          9  lines can lose anywhere from five to 20 percent,

         10  just escapes into the atmosphere.  Every time

         11  there's a wind storm or a rain storm, tree comes

         12  down, power goes out.

         13                 The head of LIPA, a few weeks ago, in

         14  an op- ed piece in Newsday said, you know, the

         15  problem is all these people using air conditioning

         16  and plasma television sets and all that. That's

         17  nuts.  On- site power, we should be looking at on-

         18  site power and shutting down power plants, not

         19  building new ones. This gentleman to my left, he's

         20  talking about fuel cells.  That makes sense.  Wind

         21  makes sense.  Solar makes sense.  But, to continue

         22  to say, well, let me ask Con Ed how this is all

         23  going to work out, I think we're living in the past.

         24    Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.  I
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          2  do appreciate that and we'll have that almost be the

          3  last word.  Yes, I just want to mention that this

          4  Committee, well the Committee on Environmental

          5  Protection, joining with the Committee on Economic

          6  Development, on November 14th at 1:00 p.m., in this

          7  room, is having a Hearing on taking advantage of

          8  markets for green products and services by promoting

          9  green manufacturing and green collar jobs in New

         10  York City.

         11                 You folks, as purveyors of this green

         12  technologies might have an interest in that Hearing.

         13    So, we want to make you aware of that.  That's

         14  November 14th at 1:00 p.m. In this room. Also, if

         15  you do me a favor, if you have business cards on

         16  you, if you could drop them off to my Chief of

         17  Staff, Peter Washburn, I'd like to have your

         18  business cards, if you have them.  So, thank you

         19  very much, oh, yes  --

         20                 MR. HEALY:  Mr. Chairman  --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  --  Yes Mr.  --

         22                 MR. HEALY:  If I may?  Just one  --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I'm going to

         24  get your names. Mr. Healy.

         25                 MR. HEALY:  Herb Healy, UTC Power.
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          2  In addition to the statement, I did hand out a

          3  brochure  --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yes.

          5                 MR. HEALY:  --  I think you might

          6  find it interesting, not necessarily from the

          7  standpoint of marketing, but from the standpoint of

          8  the different types of benefits that distributed

          9  generation can bring.  The case studies that I

         10  included in that brochure cover assured power, as

         11  well prime power and you might find that

         12  interesting.

         13                 Lastly, I would like to apologize to

         14  the Council if my earlier statement appeared like an

         15  admonishment.  It wasn't.  I thought it was kind of

         16  funny that I almost ended up at Staten Island this

         17  morning, but that was my own naivete' and I do

         18  apologize.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Oh, no, I

         20  always get admonished.  I mean, I'm married, you

         21  know, so I'm used to it. No, it's quite all right.

         22  It's quite all right.  Yes Anthony.

         23                 MR. PEREIRA:  Just one last statement

         24  about interconnecting systems on buildings.  All the

         25  projects in Battery Park City and including the NYPA
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          2  projects that were mentioned today, Bronx High

          3  School of Science and so on, they all have PV

          4  systems on them.  They are no threat to Con Edison

          5  because all the power generated never can leave the

          6  building because the load is so high on the

          7  building.

          8                 So, it's, to some degree, it's a non-

          9  issue to, as far as the City implementing PV systems

         10  or energy efficiency.  I mean, these buildings are

         11  big.  They have a lot of power to man and we can

         12  shape peak demand by putting these systems in and

         13  it's allowed right now.  I mean, we need to make it

         14  stronger and easier to export power, okay.  Thanks.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Even though you

         16  may be no threat to Con Ed, they're doing a pretty

         17  good imitation of an entity that's pretty afraid of

         18  you because they wouldn't set foot in the room.

         19  They sent their guy out of the room when you were

         20  testifying.  They were like so scared.  So, what can

         21  I tell you, maybe it's Halloween, they're just a

         22  little frightened today, generally speaking.  Yes.

         23                 MR. BROWN:  Our firm, E Cube Company

         24  is the managing agent for Red Hook Green Power.  Red

         25  Hook Green Power is managing or is operating a one
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          2  megawatt cogeneration facility at the new Red Hook

          3  stores of Fairway Market on the Brooklyn waterfront.

          4    I raise it because we created 400 jobs in the

          5  neighborhood that didn't have them before and

          6  reconverted a water front building, all powered,

          7  basically, off the grid.  So, thank you.  We may

          8  come and speak.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  You bet.  I

         10  look forward to that.  Okay.  Thanks folks,

         11  appreciate it.  We've been joined by Council Member

         12  Barron.  The next witness will be Bruce Johnson of

         13  KeySpan Energy.  To be followed by the final panel,

         14  after KeySpan, to be followed by the final panel of

         15  my good friend, Lewis Kwit, Adam Friedman, Alan

         16  Friedman and Peter Funk.  That's Adam Friedman.

         17  Forgive me, sorry Adam.  Yes, thank you very much

         18  for your patience.  We appreciate your willingness

         19  to stay for this part of Hearing.  Donna De Costanzo

         20  will administer the oath and then you can proceed

         21  with your testimony.  Thank you, once again, Mr.

         22  Johnson.

         23                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Please raise

         24  your right hand.  In the testimony you are about to

         25  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the
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          2  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          3                 MR. JOHNSON:  I do.

          4                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Thank you.

          5                 MR. JOHNSON:  Chairman Gennaro,

          6  Chairman Comrie, Members of the Committee, I'm Bruce

          7  Johnson.  I'm the Director of Energy Management for

          8  KeySpan Corporation.  KeySpan is the largest

          9  distributor of natural gas in the northeast, serving

         10  2.6 million customers in New York City, Long Island,

         11  Massachusetts, and New Hampshire.

         12                 As the Director, I'm responsible for

         13  KeySpan's regulated natural gas energy efficiency

         14  programs and KeySpan presently has gas efficiency

         15  programs operating in Massachusetts and New

         16  Hampshire and we have proposed programs for our

         17  natural gas customers in New York City as well as

         18  Long Island.  Now, you might wonder what natural gas

         19  has to do with distributed generation and electric

         20  efficiency, but because there's so much generation

         21  being produced by natural gas these days, they are

         22  in inextricably linked.

         23                 KeySpan's programs on the natural gas

         24  side have been recognized nationally as exemplary

         25  examples of the efficiency programs by the American
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          2  Council for an Energy Efficient Economy and we lead

          3  several efforts nationally to promote energy

          4  efficiency.  It's my pleasure to address you this

          5  afternoon and tell you a little about KeySpan's

          6  efforts to help our customers in the communities we

          7  serve reduce their energy consumption and

          8  consequently their environmental impact.

          9                 I've been responsible for the

         10  company's energy efficiency programs for the past

         11  ten years and in that time we've had hundreds of

         12  thousands of participant in our programs saving

         13  natural gas and reducing their energy bills.

         14                 In a recent filing to the New York

         15  State Public Service Commission, KeySpan proposed

         16  $30 million per year of similar programs in New York

         17  with $20 million of that earmarked to serve New York

         18  City customers.  This commitment is the largest of

         19  any gas company in the United States outside of

         20  California.

         21                 It's important to us that all of our

         22  customers be able to participate in our programs no

         23  matter what type of energy decision is facing them.

         24  We are particularly mindful of our low income

         25  customers, those that have the most difficult time
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          2  making ends meet and paying the cost of energy.  So,

          3  we earmark a significant portion of our budget for

          4  programs to help those customers weatherize their

          5  homes and improve their heating systems.  This

          6  includes small and multi- family buildings, small

          7  and large multi- family buildings as well.

          8                 For other residential customers and

          9  our commercial industrial customers, both large and

         10  small, we have a multitude of programs and options

         11  to help them choose energy efficiency and reduce the

         12  consumption of natural gas.

         13                 For example, our residential

         14  customers are provided with on- line and in the home

         15  energy audits to increase their awareness of energy

         16  use and ways to save with EnergyStar products.  We

         17  also provide incentives to reduce the first cost of

         18  higher priced yet more efficient products.  We

         19  promote green technologies, such as solar and micro-

         20  CHP.  You just heard about the micro- CHP product.

         21  We're leading the way in promoting even more

         22  efficient housing through our investigation of green

         23  homes and zero energy homes.

         24                 For our commercial industrial

         25  customers, we also offer on- line or in- person
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          2  energy audits and a full array of incentive programs

          3  to encourage the use of more efficient processes and

          4  technologies, so that our customers get the most

          5  value out of the natural gas that we deliver to

          6  them.

          7                 Here, again, we've been a leader in

          8  promoting cogeneration, solar thermal technologies

          9  and green buildings.  We also target funding to

         10  cities and towns and communities that we serve that

         11  are undergoing economic redevelopment, to ensure

         12  that those areas are built sustainably and with an

         13  eye to future energy costs.

         14                 Most importantly, KeySpan does not

         15  undertake its energy efficiency responsibilities in

         16  a vacuum.  For the past ten years, we've had a

         17  history of collaborating with all interested parties

         18  to design, develop and deploy the programs that we

         19  have to not only meet the needs of our customers and

         20  save energy, but also take into account the

         21  contributions of all constituents.

         22                 As we move ahead with our program

         23  proposals in New York, we look forward to working

         24  with this Committee and others to create a

         25  sustainable energy- efficient and environmentally
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          2  sensitive future wherever we serve.

          3                 In closing, I'd like thank you very

          4  much for this opportunity to address the Committee

          5  and I'd be happy to answer any of your questions.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Councilman

          7  Comrie has a question.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  You spoke about,

          9  well, first, before I ask you the question, I just

         10  want to congratulate KeySpan on their HeartShare

         11  program for low- income communities which I've

         12  utilized in my office for, since before I got

         13  elected. That's a very, it's the one utility that

         14  actually has a major program to help low- income

         15  people that are having problems with meeting their

         16  utility bills during the winter.  It's been a very

         17  effective program and I want to just thank KeySpan

         18  and to you, to get back to KeySpan management.  That

         19  program is really not only innovative, but flexible

         20  and it has helped many constituents in my district

         21  and throughout the City and I want to thank you for

         22  continuing it.

         23                 You kept saying program proposals, do

         24  have any details that you could share with us on

         25  your proposals at this time?
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          2                 MR. JOHNSON:  Well, we, well, first

          3  of all, I want to thank you for your compliments on

          4  KeySpan's program and I can only say that that

          5  program will be even more robust and more effective

          6  once we're able to provide energy efficiency

          7  services to our customers as well and to tie that to

          8  the HeartShare program.

          9                 Our programs proposals are to put in

         10  place similar programs where we already operate in

         11  New England.  Those programs are time tested.

         12  They've been in place for ten years.  They're

         13  nationally recognized.  Again, for our low- income

         14  customers, we provide up to $4,500.00 worth of

         15  weatherization or heating system improvements to

         16  reduce their energy bills.  We've evaluated that

         17  program and, on average, those customers saved 17

         18  percent when we were done.  Believe me, there were

         19  some buildings where they saved 50 percent or more

         20  because they were in such bad shape.

         21                 We also have rebate programs for all

         22  customers residential for things like thermostats,

         23  weatherization, heating systems, advanced water

         24  heating systems, EnergyStar windows.  We use

         25  EnergyStar as a platform for many of our residential
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          2  programs.

          3                 We also are providing incentives for

          4  the micro- CHP product.  It's a brand new incentive.

          5    It's $2,000.00 off the cost of that product.  We

          6  are also starting a solar thermal program, so that

          7  our residential customers can use solar to heat hot

          8  water to supplement their natural gas and hot water

          9  heating.

         10                 On the commercial industrial side,

         11  everything is much more tailored to the customer

         12  because commercial industrial customers come in all

         13  sizes and businesses.  There, we can provide energy

         14  audits or if the facility is too large, we'll make a

         15  contribution to have an engineering study done to

         16  give them a guide book as to what next steps they

         17  should take.

         18                 Then, we'll follow that with

         19  incentive programs, paying up to 50 percent of the

         20  incremental cost of energy efficient products, up to

         21  $100,000.00.  You know, in New York, that might not

         22  go as far.  It might have to be higher than that.

         23  But, we try to make sure that whenever our customers

         24  are making an energy decision, we have the

         25  opportunity to be there and help them make an
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          2  efficient decision.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Out of the

          4  testimonies that you've heard today, and I want to

          5  thank you for staying all day. It's unusual that a

          6  utility is so patient, but that just shows that

          7  you're a lot more flexible than most and I

          8  appreciate that. Out of the testimonies that you

          9  heard today, what struck you the most out of the all

         10  the presentations that you heard?

         11                 MR. JOHNSON:  Well, first and

         12  foremost, I'm going to repeat that natural gas and

         13  electricity are inextricably linked.  Most

         14  generation is natural gas because it's clean and

         15  it's easy to build.  The natural gas central station

         16  power plants may be only 50 percent efficient and

         17  that's, you know, with advanced technologies.

         18  Whereas, technology such as cogeneration and micro-

         19  CHP using, creating electricity on site and using

         20  the waste heat may be 70, 80 or more percent

         21  efficient.

         22                 So, regardless, natural gas is going

         23  to be used and used a lot in this country.  We want

         24  to make sure that it's being used as efficiently as

         25  it can so that not only do we reduce the emissions
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          2  that are put into the air, but that the natural gas

          3  is going to last as long as possible.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay.  Well,

          5  thank you, Mr. Johnson, for coming down.  I

          6  appreciate your insight and responses and we hope to

          7  see the definitive rollout is soon and if there's

          8  anything that we could do to help to open up some

          9  legislative avenues to make it easier, please let us

         10  know.

         11                 MR. JOHNSON:  Thank you so very much.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you Mr.

         13  Johnson.  I just want to add my voice to Leroy's to

         14  thank you for your forward thinking with the in-

         15  home energy audits and the promotion of green

         16  technologies and solar and micro- CHP.  Certainly,

         17  we need, you know, more in the way of this kind of

         18  forward thinking and KeySpan has consistently

         19  provided that and we really appreciate you being,

         20  you know, really one of the good guys and we thank

         21  you for that and we thank you for being part of our

         22  Hearing today.  Appreciate it.

         23                 MR. JOHNSON:  Thank you so much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  And your

         25  patience.  The last panel Lewis Kwit, Adam Friedman
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          2  and Peter Funk.  Okay, Donna will do the honors.

          3  We'll get you duly sworn, not just sworn, but duly

          4  sworn.

          5                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Please raise

          6  your right hand.  In the testimony that you are

          7  about to give, do you swear or affirm to tell the

          8  truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          9                 MR. KWIT:  I do.

         10                 MR. FRIEDMAN:  I do.

         11                 MR. FUNK:  I do.

         12                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

         14  It's good to have the last panel of all friends.  I

         15  appreciate that.  Probably less likely to not like

         16  me for putting you on last or whatever. So, we

         17  appreciate that, but we've worked together a long

         18  time. So, you know, without further adieu, why don't

         19  we start with my good friend Lewis and then we'll

         20  proceed.

         21                 MR. KWIT:  Okay, is this on?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yes, you're

         23  good.

         24                 MR. KWIT:  Okay.  Chairpersons

         25  Gennaro and Comrie and other Council Members of, on
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          2  the Environmental Protection and Consumer Affairs

          3  Committees, my name is Lewis Kwit.  I am President

          4  of Energy Investment Systems, a New York City

          5  consultant firm specializing in energy- saving

          6  implementation strategies for multi- family

          7  buildings.  So, we're here representing the multi-

          8  family building sector.

          9                 Today, I would like to focus on the

         10  issue of reducing energy demand in the City.  If

         11  public policy programs and incentives can be

         12  coordinated to promote demand response, our electric

         13  reliability will be enhanced.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Lewis, I just

         15  want to quell the fears of my Co- Chairman, who is,

         16  and myself, you weren't going to read the whole

         17  statement, right?

         18                 MR. KWIT:  No.  No, I'll go fast.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, great.

         20                 MR. KWIT:  I'll go fast.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  We feel better

         22  now.

         23                 MR. KWIT:  We enhanced  --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  We feel better

         25  now.
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          2                 MR. KWIT:  --  And will be cleaner

          3  and our electricity costs will also be lower.  We

          4  also represent the Cooperative Coalition to Prevent

          5  Blackouts, which was a group that came together by

          6  my colleague, Peter Funk, George Reyes Montblanc and

          7  Greg Carlson  --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I saw him here

          9  earlier, George, and he left a statement  --

         10                 MR. KWIT:  Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  We have his

         12  statement.

         13                 MR. KWIT:  Yes he did and he had to

         14  go.  I guess what we're trying to say is that the

         15  U.S. Department of Energy has cited demand response

         16  as one of its top priories and FERC and the U.S.,

         17  and the New York Public Service Commission as well

         18  as the City of New York.

         19                 They demand, they define demand

         20  response as kind of a way for consumers to actually

         21  affect the electric marketplace by doing two things.

         22    Number one, by buying electricity based on the

         23  time of day, which we call real time pricing.

         24  Number two, by participating in the ISO Demand

         25  Response programs, decurtailment incentive programs

                                                            192

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  that Dave Lawrence discussed before.  Those two

          3  things together allow consumers to actually affect

          4  the electric marketplace.

          5                 The residential sector consumes about

          6  35 percent of the City's power and in the outer

          7  boroughs, not including Manhattan, over 50 percent.

          8                 The blackout in Queens this past

          9  summer reminded New Yorkers of the reliability

         10  limits to the City's electric system.  Subsequent

         11  reports of even more widespread weaknesses

         12  throughout other neighborhoods raised alarm levels

         13  higher.  This event underscored the need for

         14  electric pricing incentives to stimulate responses

         15  that reduce peak use.  Real time pricing bring the

         16  economic law of supply and demand into the

         17  electricity marketplace to produce efficiencies in

         18  the delivery of electric service.

         19                 Our theme for Peter Funk's building

         20  at 322 Central Park West, the first real time

         21  pricing building in the City, which we put into

         22  service in October of 2003, is we can get it for you

         23  wholesale.

         24                 The blackout happened at a time of

         25  escalating electricity prices, added further insult
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          2  to injury and injury to insult as well.  New York

          3  residents and small businesses were rendered

          4  helpless by the blackout that they were helpless to

          5  prevent.  As residents are charged flat rates

          6  throughout the day, most of us have no incentive to

          7  shift our power use away from peak periods to off-

          8  peak periods and that's what real time pricing

          9  allows.

         10                 When power is used now is as much, is

         11  as important as how much power is used.  Real time

         12  pricing allows consumers to purchase the generated

         13  portion of electric service at the variable rate set

         14  by the ISO based on the law of supply and demand.

         15                 In this way, we're able to actually

         16  shape the short-, long- and middle- term effects of

         17  power on, in the City. By adopting practices that

         18  shift electric consumption to periods when prices

         19  are low, we flatten electric demand on the entire

         20  system and that reduces costs, reduces pollution,

         21  reduces global warming and also maximizes the

         22  benefits of new power plants because they'll be able

         23  to absorb more of the base load power that's

         24  required.

         25                 The ISO said something interesting in
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          2  2001, when they were talking about, when they were

          3  thinking about the fact that our actual demand was

          4  actually outpacing our supplies.  In 2001, you

          5  remember that, the government put ten small power

          6  plants around the City in order to basically make

          7  sure that we could get through, through that summer.

          8                 The ISO said something interesting,

          9  informed somewhat by the rolling blackouts in

         10  California that occurred at the time, they said to

         11  achieve the full benefits of electricity marketplace

         12  deregulation, some customers need to be exposed to

         13  the true price of electricity based on, based on

         14  real time pricing.  What they said is that if they

         15  cannot connect the wholesale and retail markets

         16  together in time and space, that the results could

         17  be disastrous.

         18                 When Peter Funk and I testified at

         19  and gave presentation some years ago, at a housing

         20  and energy conference in the City for multi- family

         21  buildings and we said that this was really a

         22  problem, we really wanted real time pricing to come

         23  down, they accused us of being histrionic and at the

         24  same time then there was a blackout that summer and

         25  then again, of course, this summer in areas in

                                                            195

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  Queens.

          3                 Demand response actually improves the

          4  cost effectiveness and, therefore, the

          5  attractiveness of high cost energy- efficient

          6  appliances and capital improvements as well and

          7  photovoltaics as well as that.  Because, if we pay

          8  more for power during the day when we use most of

          9  our, these appliances, then the savings are also

         10  valued at a higher amount.

         11                 The flip side of it, of course, is

         12  that if we, if we can substitute high cost power

         13  for, with conservation for savings, then the flip

         14  side is that we pay much less at night when we

         15  continue to use power, but that when the system is

         16  actually off- peak.  So, it actually enhances both

         17  photovoltaics and both energy efficiency products.

         18                 There was one line that I did want to

         19  read, which said the, the economies of this

         20  principal are, however, lost with the overly-

         21  simplistic pay back analysis used by conventional

         22  practitioners and government agencies.  In other

         23  words, the idea of how much you save versus divided

         24  by the capital cost for pay back doesn't really make

         25  any sense when the whole idea of savings during the
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          2  day will, in fact, create much lower rates at night.

          3  Of course, leverage is the entire system.

          4                 Unfortunately, I was going to tell

          5  you a little bit about smart meters, but we've done

          6  that before.  I did want to say that the advanced

          7  meters now have what we call two- way communication.

          8    That's kind of an interesting thing because we

          9  don't necessarily have to only send out data in

         10  order for billing analysis and evaluation, et cetera

         11  from the home or the apartment to a central

         12  processing station, but we can also send in

         13  communications to the building and then to the

         14  apartment as well, which can do a lot of interesting

         15  kind of things.

         16                 It's kind of rudimentary and

         17  cumbersome right now, but, if the government could

         18  effectively stimulate real time pricing and load

         19  curtailment, then the market would exist for new

         20  products and new applications to be developed.

         21                 Those would include things like

         22  notifying people of price changes, notifying people

         23  of power emergencies, even signals which raise and

         24  lower thermostat settings, you know, automatically

         25  from a remote distance and dim lighting and raise
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          2  lighting as well.  We actually think that those

          3  would be commonplace applications that they would

          4  actually represent points of departure for future

          5  applications of the two- way communications

          6  technology.

          7                 The problem, the problem that we have

          8  is that, is that New York State, we have one of the

          9  most abysmal records of penetrating new, of advanced

         10  meters into, you know, practically any place, from

         11  the home to the apartment to anywhere.  According to

         12  FERC this summer, they just released a report, we

         13  have only one- tenth of one percent penetration of

         14  advanced meters.

         15                 It's axiomatic to say that, that if

         16  you can't measure electricity based in the time of

         17  the day, then you can't bill based on it either.

         18  So, you have to have those, those meters to at least

         19  allow you to recognize whether, and also, you need,

         20  you need the advanced meters to recognize when

         21  you're actually curtailing power.  You have to see

         22  how much you used before, how much you used after a

         23  curtailment event, how much you used on other days

         24  when there were not curtailment event, to see

         25  whether people were really saving and then be able
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          2  to  --  excuse me  --  to reward them accordingly.

          3                 So, that's, so that's a major

          4  concern.  Yet, our record is one- tenth of one

          5  percent.  Give me a break. Pennsylvania has 52

          6  percent.  So, it's clear that in order for

          7  incentives, that if incentives and institutional

          8  barriers were, institutional barriers eliminate the

          9  incentives applied, that we would be able to do this

         10  stuff.

         11                 We are working with the City of New

         12  York and Gil Quiniones' office and Mike Delaney and

         13  Peter in your office also, to talk about it.  He

         14  just sent a letter, Mr. Quiniones sent a letter to,

         15  to Bill Flynn at the Public Service Commission, the

         16  Chairman of the Public Service Commission, to talk

         17  about promoting real time pricing in the City and

         18  the residential sector, which has a great deal of

         19  discretionary use.  He asked to, he asked to create

         20  an interagency collaborative with the following

         21  summarized objectives to fix RTP in the City:

         22                 One, explore the idea of capping the

         23  RTP cost at the rate of the standard tariff; two,

         24  look at other options to cover losses; three,

         25  conduct a lessons- learned analysis with a view
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          2  towards developing a new program; and four, to help

          3  design a program with reasonable financial

          4  incentives for the residential sector to participate

          5  voluntarily in dynamic pricing programs. There are

          6  none right now.  That's really sad because we have a

          7  terrible record of introducing them and then even

          8  the ones that we introduce, we don't use for it.

          9                 So, we're recommending and Quiniones

         10  recognizes another barrier, that the cost of

         11  enabling technologies, where RTP and curtailment

         12  programs have achieved success around the country,

         13  California, Gulf Power, the LIPA Edge program, even

         14  in Long Island, is not borne by the consumers.

         15                 So, this is the only place where the

         16  actual cost of the, of the enabling technology, the

         17  advanced meter, is actually borne by the consumer.

         18  We want the homeowner to pay or we want the

         19  cooperative corporation to pay for those meters and

         20  that's not the case any place else.  So, that's one

         21  of the barriers that you have as well.

         22                 It doesn't make any sense, Jim, and

         23  the reason it doesn't make any sense is because the

         24  whole concept of demand response is that the actions

         25  of a few will reduce the cost and protect the
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          2  reliability for everyone.  So, if I'm doing

          3  something that's going to benefit the whole society,

          4  why should I have to bear the cost alone?  Of

          5  course, none of the other communities that are doing

          6  this actually have that philosophy.  They all pay

          7  for it or, in some way, the government does

          8  something.

          9                 So, we think that there's, that

         10  there's also a role for the City Council here as

         11  well.  There are certainly steps that the City

         12  Council can take toward promoting demand response in

         13  the City's vast residential sector.  In this regard,

         14  the Cooperative Coalition to Prevent Blackouts and

         15  my company, Energy Investment Systems, have been

         16  especially pleased to work with Peter Washburn of

         17  your staff, to assess the policy implications of a

         18  new demand response property tax abatement strategy.

         19    We simply call this J52.

         20                 The Coalition urges the City Council

         21  to provide incentives for consumer education and

         22  demand response implementation, as well as the

         23  enabling technology, a comprehensive program of

         24  education, training and analysis is appropriate to

         25  maximize demand response benefits.  Even well
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          2  educated cooperative directors and condominium

          3  managers are ill informed about RTP and curtailment

          4  and they could earn money because of it too.  So,

          5  they don't know about it and they can earn money

          6  about it, doesn't make a lot of sense.

          7                 Tax incentives should further depend

          8  on actual demand response participation in a time

          9  sensitive electric rate and/or an ISO curtailment

         10  program.  The singular introduction of technology

         11  should not trigger incentives alone.

         12                 That's really pretty much it.  On

         13  behalf of the Cooperative Coalition to Prevent

         14  Blackouts, we look forward to working with Chairman

         15  Gennaro, Peter Washburn and other elected officials

         16  and staff to provide the policy framework for a new

         17  tax abatement initiative, as discussed above.  This

         18  concludes my testimony and I'm prepared to answer

         19  any questions.  Thanks.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Lewis, thank

         21  you.  We appreciate you being here and, yes, we'll

         22  talk more.  Peter.

         23                 MR. FUNK:  Good afternoon.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Peter, you've

         25  got to talk right into the thing, right like that,
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          2  otherwise I won't be able to hear you.

          3                 MR. FUNK:  All right.  How's that?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Good.

          5                 MR. FUNK:  Terrific.  Good afternoon

          6  Chairpersons and other Council Members and staff.  I

          7  will  --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Do you have a

          9  statement Peter?

         10                 MR. FUNK:  I will file a statement

         11   --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Oh, fine, okay

         13   --

         14                 MR. FUNK:  --  Afterwards  --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  --  So I could

         16  just listen then, fine.

         17                 MR. FUNK:  What I'm going to do is

         18  just make a few points.  I realize it's late in the

         19  day and you've heard a lot of testimony.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I'm good, I'm

         21  getting my second wind, you know.

         22                 MR. FUNK:  Oh, don't, don't say that

         23  to me.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I'm just

         25  messing with you.
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          2                 MR. FUNK:  I am appearing here on a

          3  pro bono basis for the Cooperative Coalition to

          4  Prevent Blackouts.  I'm both a member and my firm

          5  also has a pro bono project to address energy

          6  efficiency, demand side savings and other mechanisms

          7  for addressing the energy situation in New York

          8  City.

          9                 I will say this, we've all read in

         10  the paper the other day and over a period of time

         11  how the promise of deregulation is not being

         12  realized.  In fact, energy prices are higher.  How

         13  do you respond to that?  I happen to think that time

         14  differentiated pricing and real time pricing is how

         15  deregulation will actually realize its

         16  possibilities, because it puts the, the end user

         17  really into the wholesale retail markets.

         18                 It's something that Lewis has talked

         19  about.  I'm not going to repeat his statements, but

         20  I think that is the answer to the series of articles

         21  that are appearing in the New York Times.  Of

         22  course, I can elaborate quite a bit on that, but

         23  that is the possibility.  Before, the average person

         24  had no control over the price they were paying for

         25  electricity.  Here, the remarkable thing is that if

                                                            204

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  enough people flatten the load curve by reducing

          3  demand in New York City, everybody's rates drop

          4  because of the market, the wholesale market

          5  mechanism that prices energy in each hour, based

          6  upon the last accepted price in that hour.

          7                 So, if the demand is less, the price

          8  is less for every single megawatt of electricity

          9  sold in that hour.  It's a simple mechanism.  It's

         10  an economic principal.  But, for example, if the

         11  last bid accepted was say $60.00 a megawatt hour,

         12  but we reduced demand such that the, that particular

         13  price now was no longer necessary because the demand

         14  was lower and the bid accepted was $55.00, all the

         15  power in that hour, through the Day Ahead Market,

         16  would be priced at $55.00.  That mechanism can

         17  result in New York City paying enormously less for

         18  its, for its energy.

         19                 That's what Lewis is talking about.

         20  That's what we're doing in our building.  That's why

         21  we volunteered to do a demonstration project.

         22                 A few other points.  When testimony

         23  is solicited, often it's from, it's from agencies or

         24  it's from NYPA, from utilities.  Part of the reason

         25  I came here today was to respond to Con Edison, so
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          2  I'm a little disappointed they're not here.  I

          3  cooperate with Con Edison, but I also take issue.  I

          4  spent 30 years as an outside general counsel for

          5  utilities, so I know a little bit about their

          6  business.

          7                 The point, the important point here

          8  is that, what about the actual buildings that are

          9  implemented, implementing cogeneration?  What about

         10  the providers, the people who are going in and doing

         11  the job and, from my perspective, the legal

         12  documents and the liabilities and the risks that

         13  building owners are assuming?

         14                 I'll give you an example and I'll

         15  only take one. Today, I got an e- mail from the

         16  manager of a co- op, this is a large co- op in New

         17  York City.  He said, I don't understand why we have

         18  to bear all the costs of going forward and, and

         19  trying to make a case for cogeneration in our

         20  building.

         21                 What is he talking about?  For three

         22  years now, in this particular building, we've been

         23  trying to do a cogeneration project.  The project

         24  involves microturbines and it's a great project

         25  because instead of, boilers get older, they produce
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          2  soot and smoke.  So, instead of replacing the

          3  boilers, you put in microturbines and take the

          4  thermal energy off the microturbines. That provides

          5  the heat and the hot water and the actual units that

          6  are installed produce energy much more efficiently.

          7                 Buildings have to deal with these

          8  things.  This is a co- op.  The co- op board has to

          9  be made to understand.  You're dealing with

         10  manufacturers.  You're dealing with New York City.

         11  And, what is the problem with New York City?  Well,

         12  at the moment, we can't install microturbines in the

         13  building.  Why is that?  Because the Building

         14  Department has determined, well, at least it's a

         15  tentative determination, that based upon a fire

         16  department determination, that microturbines cannot

         17  be installed within multi- family dwellings.  The

         18  project is stopped in its tracks.

         19                 Now, the manufacturer is trying to

         20  work with the fire department and the Building

         21  Department.  But, what problem do we have here?

         22  What I'm talking about  --  I don't want to get too

         23  technical, but, this is the MEA issue.  An MEA is a

         24  mechanical acceptance approval.  When you have a

         25  piece of equipment, you're going to install it for
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          2  certain pieces of equipment, you have to get

          3  approval from the Building Department to install it.

          4    But, it's done, it's done a piece of equipment by

          5  piece of equipment.  They're not generic decisions

          6  that are made about pieces of equipment.

          7                 So, if one manufacturer goes in and

          8  makes a bad presentation or has a difficult piece of

          9  equipment, that can be carried forward to other

         10  entities and that's what we're facing right now.

         11  We're trying to resolve it, but, for the moment,

         12  it's going to be very hard to install microturbines

         13  in New York City until that issue is resolved.

         14                 I'm not saying anybody's

         15  unreasonable, but this is where I think the City

         16  Council can help.  What we're asking for is, if the

         17  City takes the position that developing of the

         18  clean, distributed generation is important, which we

         19  all agreed on, I could, I could spend quite some

         20  time talking about all the reasons it's desirable,

         21  but I won't burden you with it.  But, there are

         22  issues where we have to get the different, the

         23  different departments in New York City to focus on

         24  the larger issue.

         25                 One of the consultants here is
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          2  probably the most experienced cogeneration attorney

          3  in the State of New York, probably in the country.

          4  He doesn't see what the fire issue is. He thinks

          5  it's a matter of making a presentation.  The problem

          6  is, is it resides with the manufacturer to make the

          7  presentation. So, others who have a tremendous

          8  interest in this in New York can't get involved in

          9  that process.  It's partially a legal process.  It's

         10  partially a technical process.  But, the issues

         11  involved are much larger than that particular

         12  manufacturer and that particular project.  So,

         13  that's the, that's the kind of thing that I think is

         14  very important.

         15                 The other point about microturbines

         16  is, it came out in the FERC report, one, a terrific

         17  report, it came out last August.  This follows the

         18  requirements of the energy policy act of  '05.  FERC

         19  was required to write a lengthy report and so they

         20  did.  One of the things that, that they pointed out

         21  was, as long as utilities have, gain a significant

         22  amount of income from their demand charges, it's

         23  going to be difficult for them to accommodate demand

         24  side strategies and, such as real time pricing, such

         25  as running generators in customers' premises,
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          2  because that cuts back on their earnings.

          3                 There's a natural conflict here.  I'm

          4  not saying that Con Edison is doing anything wrong.

          5  This is countrywide. The PSC has to adjust, has to

          6  address that issue, but that is very important to

          7  New York City.

          8                 I have other points to make, but let

          9  me do this, the hour is late.  So, with those two

         10  points, that will be the conclusion of my comments

         11  today.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  Thank

         13  you.  Before I forget, I know I was going to save

         14  comments until the end, but regarding the first

         15  thing with the microturbines, just tell me what you

         16  want me to do and get it to Peter Washburn.  You

         17  know, Lewis, in the end of his statement, he had his

         18  proposal for like a J52 thing.  I went right over to

         19  Peter and said, let's do this. You know, so, that's

         20  all I need you to just, place your order.

         21                 MR. FUNK:  I will submit  --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Write it up,

         23  give it to Peter.

         24                 MR. FUNK:  It's a City, it's not just

         25    --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I got it.

          3                 MR. FUNK:  --  City- wide.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I got it.

          5                 MR. FUNK:  I will submit information

          6  to him  --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Write it up,

          8  give it to Peter.

          9                 MR. FUNK:  --  So he understands

         10  exactly what it is.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Place your

         12  order and we'll see, you know, and then we'll see if

         13  we can cook it up.

         14                 MR. FUNK:  Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  So,

         16  thank you, thank you.  I just wanted to, because I

         17  already took Lewis' thing right over.  I said,

         18  Peter, let's do this.  So, yes, Peter, thank you,

         19  thank you  --

         20                 MR. FUNK:  You're welcome.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  --  Appreciate

         22  that.  Adam I just want to recognize to like the

         23  throngs that are assembled here  --

         24                 MR. FRIEDMAN:  Right.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  --  That NYIRN
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          2  and New York Apollo are implementing this, you know,

          3  green manufacturing initiative that I was able to

          4  get into the FY  '07 budget with the support of good

          5  people like Leroy Comrie and others who saw it as

          6  something good and wanted it to get legs.  Now,

          7  we're doing that.  So, I just wanted to recognize

          8  you for that and to welcome you here.  I look

          9  forward to your testimony.

         10                 MR. FRIEDMAN:  Thank you very much

         11  and we're very appreciate of that.  We hope that the

         12  next Council Meeting will actually do some tours and

         13  go see some of the green manufacturers and show you

         14  what we've done with, to earn our keep  --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Let's go green.

         16    We're ready.  Leroy, you ready for that?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  As long as it's

         18  not a four hour meeting.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.

         20                 MR. FRIEDMAN:  I'm going to summarize

         21  my, every word here is precious.  I handed out

         22  written comments earlier, written testimony and I'm

         23  just going to refer to two tables at the end of

         24  that, of that testimony and  --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Do I have that
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          2  testimony?

          3                 MR. FRIEDMAN:  I hope so.  I'm

          4  praying.  It's got our little logo up here NYIRN.

          5  If not, I have two more copies.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  No, okay.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  I don't think we

          8  got that one.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  From New York

         10  Industrial Retention Network.

         11                 MR. FRIEDMAN:  Here's two more

         12  copies.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.  All

         14  right. Ready to go?  There we go.  Okay.

         15                 MR. FRIEDMAN:  What I've this  --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Oh.

         17                 MR. FRIEDMAN:  There we go.  Thank

         18  you.  You're good.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  Thank

         20  you.

         21                 MR. FRIEDMAN:  You know, if, maybe

         22  this is presumptuous on my part, but what I think

         23  I've heard this morning is a certain amount of

         24  frustration on the City Council's part. Everyone

         25  agrees, we need to be conserving energy and things
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          2  should be moving more quickly.  So, why isn't it

          3  happening?  What I wanted to offer up this morning,

          4  or this afternoon, was really you should view

          5  industrial facilities, manufacturing facilities as a

          6  resource that you can call upon to promote energy

          7  conservation and also to supply back energy to the

          8  grid.

          9                 What I'd like to do is look at the

         10  first table, which is entitled  --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Appendix A,

         12  that one?

         13                 MR. FRIEDMAN:  The NYIRN North

         14  Brooklyn Energy Grant Summary.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yes, yes.

         16                 MR. FRIEDMAN:  What this is is, as a

         17  result of the rezoning in Greenpoint and

         18  Williamsburg, we received $400,000.00 from the City

         19  Council to make small grants for quick conservation

         20  measures in industrial facilities and also to use as

         21  gap closing for larger, more complex projects.

         22                 This is what we've done with the

         23  money.  We've awarded grants to 19 companies that

         24  employ a total of 1,250 people and we've been able

         25  to take 100 kw off the grid.  In addition, we've
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          2  provided gap financing for two cogen projects, each

          3  of which is one megawatt of power.

          4                 In my testimony, I go into some

          5  specific examples, but if you just looked at three:

          6  Colonial Mirror, Marjam Supply and Consolidated

          7  Packaging, those three companies received a total of

          8  $120,000.00 from us.  They employ 250 people.

          9  Together, they were able to take well over a meg of

         10  power off the grid. Basically, what we were able to

         11  do is save 250 jobs at a cost of about $500.00 per

         12  job.  You can't beat that anywhere.

         13                 If you look down the line of what the

         14  types of projects that we did, you know, this is not

         15  rocket science, this is replacing lights, this is

         16  insulation, this is swapping out old motors.  This

         17  is, without a doubt, one of the most cost- effective

         18  ways that the City can promote energy conservation

         19  and save jobs at the entire, at the same time.

         20  We've allocated the entire $400,000.00.  It was a

         21  unique funding source, but I would hope that this

         22  could serve as a model that could be replicated

         23  throughout the City.

         24                 Some of the ways that that might

         25  look, if you go to the next page, what we've done,
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          2  one of the projects I mentioned earlier, Marjam

          3  Supply, was a 20 kw solar installation at an

          4  industrial facility in East Williamsburg.  It led us

          5  to map out all the industrial roofs above 10,000

          6  square feet in the City.  We found that there's a

          7  total of 77 million square feet of flat industrial

          8  roofs in chunks of 10,000 square feet each.

          9                 If only a third of that were feasible

         10  for solar, that would generate 250 megawatts of

         11  solar power.  That's a small power plant that,

         12  that's availability coincides with New York City's

         13  peak demand and you don't have to worry about siting

         14  it at all.

         15                 There was some talk earlier about

         16  what's happened and the blackout in Long Island City

         17  and Astoria and Maspeth. Those areas, in particular,

         18  have very large industrial facilities.  We've

         19  identified close to 14 million square feet of

         20  industrial space in just the Queens, that Queens

         21  community alone. 14 million square feet of

         22  industrial space should translate into somewhere

         23  around 30 megs of power and you don't have to worry

         24  about siting, you know.

         25                 So, I would urge you to look at this.
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          2    Maybe we can collaborate moving forward in how

          3  this could become a pilot program to both encourage

          4  energy conservation and take some of the stress off

          5  what are really very fragile parts of the grid at

          6  this point in history.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Do you have some

          8  costs that would, have you estimated costs  --

          9                 MR. FRIEDMAN:  We'd work, we'd have

         10  to work with you to come up with that.  There really

         11  is a lot of funding that's available.  There's a gap

         12  for solar.  I, I would place the gap somewhere

         13  around $5.00 a foot for solar power installed.  So,

         14  for a million dollars, for two million dollars, you

         15  can still have a very significant impact as a pilot

         16  project.

         17                 The, we, the amount of funding that

         18  we got for North Brooklyn was only $400,000.00  --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Right.

         20                 MR. FRIEDMAN:  --  And that really is

         21  responsible for keeping two megs of power off the

         22  grid and for saving, you know, over a thousand jobs.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Right.  I

         24  remember the whole discussion, during budget, trying

         25  to figure out how much we could give you and what
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          2  was viable.  I would really appreciate it if you

          3  could give us a full report on that and hopefully do

          4  a tour, as long as it's not a four- hour tour, to

          5  show the Members, you know, what we could actually

          6  save in energy and costs and taking that up.  I'm

          7  truly energized with your presentation and I want to

          8  thank you for being here.

          9                 MR. FRIEDMAN:  We'd be happy to do

         10  that.  Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I want to thank

         12  you as well, Adam, I really appreciate the long

         13  collaboration we've had, you know, with this budget

         14  initiative, I know we're going to continue to do

         15  good things.  So, it's great to see you today and

         16  thanks always for your, and for your thoughtful and

         17  insightful testimony.

         18                 MR. FRIEDMAN:  You guys have amazing

         19  staying power.  I just have to say.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  We're  --

         21                 MR. FRIEDMAN:  That you could  --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  This is my

         23  fourth Committee meeting this month, so, and every

         24  meeting has not gone less than three hours.

         25                 MR. FRIEDMAN:  I would just comment,
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          2  just something that was said earlier though about

          3  the technology isn't there, the technology isn't

          4  ready yet.  You know, nonsense.  The technology's

          5  available.  It's how do we pay for it or the

          6  political will to pay for it.  You know, all of this

          7  is available.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yes, people

          9  just have to have the will to do that and I'm sure

         10  that the reason Con Ed didn't come to the Hearing

         11  today, they're probably working like anything  --

         12                 MR. FRIEDMAN:  I'm sure.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  --  To like

         14  make this happen even sooner.  You know what I mean,

         15  if we go to the Hearing and spend three hours, four

         16  hours, it's going to set us back four hours and they

         17  weren't willing to   --

         18                 MR. FRIEDMAN:  Yeah, it's  --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  --  Four hour

         20  setback.

         21                 MR. FRIEDMAN:  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  So, let's give

         23  them the benefit of the doubt on that one.  Guys,

         24  thanks very much, appreciate having you here.  Thank

         25  you.  I want to thank everyone that came to today's
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          2  Hearing.  I'd like to thank, in a special way,

          3  Chairman Comrie for his fifth energy- related

          4  Hearing of his Committee, which I'm so proud to

          5  serve on.  Mr. Chairman, why don't you do the

          6  honors.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Well, I want to

          8  thank you Chairman Gennaro and all the staff people

          9  again.  This is not our last Hearing on energy-

         10  related matters.  I found a lot of useful

         11  information from this Hearing.  I hope to make sure

         12  that we compile this into effective legislation to

         13  do the things necessary, together with Councilman

         14  Gennaro, to ensure that any roadblocks that are

         15  there by the City can be eliminated as soon as

         16  possible because the advent and the incorporation of

         17  new technology saves us in immeasurable ways.

         18                 As Mr. Friedman pointed out towards

         19  the end, it can actually save us real dollars and

         20  can actually save us from other heat emergencies.

         21  So, I've learned a lot from these Hearings and I

         22  intend to keep going.  If I have to do four meetings

         23  per month for the next four years in order for us to

         24  improve our energy grid, that's something that I'm

         25  dedicated to do.
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          2                 I'm only antsy because I have some

          3  people waiting in my office because I didn't think

          4  that this meeting would go as long.  But, it's clear

          5  the topic is important and the issues that hopefully

          6  we highlight today will force the people that are

          7  not here to be prepared to accept the proposals that

          8  we bring them, which we will.  Thank you and thank

          9  you Council Member Gennaro. With that, I'll declare

         10  the Hearing closed.

         11                 (Meeting adjourned at 2:26 p.m.)

         12                 (Following written testimony was read

         13  into the record)

         14

         15  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         16  LAURA GALLO

         17  NEW YORK BUILDING CONGRESS

         18

         19                 Please find attached for your

         20  consideration the position statement of the New York

         21  Building Congress, which is being submitted in lieu

         22  of testimony.  We would be happy to speak with

         23  Council Members to answer any questions about the

         24  statement or our Electricity Outlook report, which

         25  is also attached.
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          2                 New York is not alone.  Rolling

          3  blackout warnings in California and hundreds of

          4  thousands of citizens in St. Louis without power in

          5  July paint a picture of a nation coming to grips

          6  with the difficulties of reliably creating and

          7  distributing a commodity we so often taken for

          8  granted- electricity.

          9                 In our own backyard, the power outage

         10  that affected a section of Queens marks the second

         11  time in the past three years that large segments of

         12  New York have endured extended periods without

         13  electricity.  On numerous other occasions, including

         14  during the most recent heat wave, large City

         15  businesses and property owners voluntarily reduced

         16  their electricity usage during periods of high

         17  demand to prevent the possibility of a system

         18  overload.

         19                 While the circumstances in each

         20  instance have been different, collectively, they

         21  speak to the City's increasing vulnerability to

         22  potentially devastating power failures- a

         23  vulnerability that will only increase in the coming

         24  years as tens of thousands of new housing units come

         25  online; as sophisticated new personal and business

                                                            222

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  technologies demand more power; and as major mixed-

          3  use developments, such as the World Trade Center,

          4  Hudson Yards and Atlantic Yards, are realized.  All

          5  will place greater strain on the power supply and

          6  the networks that must reliably distribute

          7  electricity into homes and businesses, as well as

          8  essential facilities such as subways, hospitals and

          9  schools.

         10                 The normal political response to a

         11  situation such as occurred in Queens, is to isolate

         12  the problem, offer a narrow remedy, and move on.

         13  While this approach is necessary in the short- term,

         14  we cannot miss the opportunity emergencies present

         15  to more comprehensively and strategically address

         16  the City's long term power needs.

         17                 What is needed is a much broader

         18  approach, by both New York City and State, examining

         19  a series of interdependent challenges- from

         20  increasing electricity supply to reliable

         21  distribution and enhanced conservation.  The City

         22  would be responsible for charting a course for the

         23  future while Albany must fulfill its share of the

         24  responsibility to maintain and expand the City's

         25  power supplies and related infrastructure.
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          2                 Mayor Bloomberg has begun this

          3  process through his Energy Task Force, and he should

          4  immediately convene a CEO level public/private

          5  leadership group that will provide him with an

          6  ongoing and comprehensive energy agenda for the

          7  City.  The group would be asked to come up with an

          8  immediate game plan to address projected power

          9  shortages in the coming years, as well as provide a

         10  road map for accommodating future demand.  Such an

         11  ongoing review could, for instance, identify and

         12  reserve sites for power plants and develop a working

         13  plan for updating the City's energy infrastructure.

         14  It could also be helpful in shepherding crucial

         15  projects through the approval process.

         16                 In Albany, the Governor and the State

         17  Legislature must do the following to ensure the

         18  ongoing reliability of New York City's electricity

         19  network:

         20                 Adopt long overdue new statewide

         21  legislation governing the expedited siting and

         22  approval of the next generation of cleaner, more

         23  efficient power plants.  The prior law expired in

         24  2002, meaning that no new power plants have started

         25  the regulatory process in four years.  Such needless
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          2  delays are unconscionable and send a terrible

          3  message to the financial markets about the State's

          4  commitment to power generation.

          5                 Create stronger incentives to promote

          6  energy efficiency, clean on- site generation, peak

          7  load management and high performance building

          8  design.  New York has made great strides in this

          9  area, but it is obvious that more can and must be

         10  done to conserve our resources.

         11                 Assist in strengthening the region's

         12  electric transmission and distribution

         13  infrastructure.  Investments and improvements are

         14  needed to more effectively transmit electricity from

         15  the source to the end user.

         16                 Ensure that power producers can

         17  obtain financing necessary to build proposed plants

         18  once approved.  Marshalling the tremendous financial

         19  expertise in New York City can help identify

         20  mechanisms that can improve the prospects for power

         21  plant financing.

         22                 Work with the private sector to

         23  create intelligence and technology within the grid,

         24  such as broadband over power line technologies that

         25  could provide real time information on system
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          2  problems and breakdowns, to ensure that what

          3  happened in Queens won't happen again.

          4                 Promote increased access to diverse

          5  and affordable supplies of fuel, such as natural

          6  gas, to generate electricity.

          7                 A great deal is at stake.  Every bit

          8  of growth the City is contemplating is predicated on

          9  the availability of clean, reliable and affordable

         10  electricity.  Each blackout, no matter what the

         11  cause, serves to further erode public confidence.

         12  New York is not alone as cities and states across

         13  the country grapple with similar problems, but the

         14  solutions to our problems must be derived locally,

         15  as we have historically done.  The New York Building

         16  Congress Energy Committee, for instance was created

         17  over 30 years ago to help the City respond to an

         18  energy crisis, and its membership still includes

         19  leaders of labor, management, utilities, the public

         20  sector and environmental groups.

         21                 Continued inaction in response to

         22  each blackout will only cement negative viewpoints,

         23  driving away the businesses and residents the City

         24  is counting on to fill all the apartments and

         25  offices it is planning to build over the next
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          2  decade.  The Governor and Mayor have led New York

          3  City to the verge of one of the greatest building

          4  booms in its history, promising to improve all

          5  facets of City life.  Now is the time to make

          6  certain there is enough power to bring these plans

          7  to fruition.

          8

          9  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         10  MARK WILLIAMS

         11  NYC APOLLO ALLIANCE

         12

         13                 Good Morning Ladies and gentlemen of

         14  the New York City Council:

         15                 My name is Mark Williams and today I

         16  am speaking on behalf of the New York City Apollo

         17  Alliance- a coalition of labor unions, businesses,

         18  educators, and community- based organizations of

         19  which my organization, GENERGY, is a member. Thank

         20  you for providing this public forum for the airing

         21  of an array of perspectives on the very important

         22  issues regarding the city's energy demand and ways

         23  for us to deal with it as business, residents, and

         24  government.  The city's energy demand is so great it

         25  necessarily begs for the implementation of policies
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          2  that promote energy efficiencies.  This leads us to

          3  revisit the topic of distributed generation or

          4  distributed energy- a topic obscured by decades of

          5  large megawatt power plant generation and

          6  distribution.

          7                 In 2004, the New York City's Energy

          8  Policy Task Force reported that New York City has

          9  adequate in- city electricity resources, but only by

         10  a slim margin.  At the time that margin was 71

         11  megawatts.  The task force estimated that by 2008,

         12  New York City will need about 3,780 megawatts of new

         13  electricity resources for the reduction of load

         14  growth, the reduction of energy and capacity prices,

         15  and the replacement of potential power plant

         16  retirements.

         17                 Our huge power demand can not be met

         18  by reinstituting old fossil fuel- based

         19  technologies.  These have proven and are proving to

         20  be detrimental to our environment, and therefore can

         21  not sustain a healthy society and vigorous economy.

         22  Though the big megawatt power plants are not soon

         23  disappearing, the city should view distributed

         24  generation as a mechanism for decentralizing and

         25  stimulating the use of clean, efficient, and
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          2  renewable energies.

          3                 Distributed generation generates

          4  power at or near the end- user site verses (sic)

          5  large, conventional electricity producing plants.

          6  This is not a new phenomenon.  Distributed

          7  generation was the principal method of producing

          8  electricity in the 1900 before the construction of

          9  large scale power generation, and the development of

         10  massive transportation and distribution systems.  In

         11  the 1980s, the trend toward large power plants began

         12  to revert to installations that generally consist of

         13  smaller advanced systems with improved technologies.

         14    Advanced distributed generation using clean,

         15  renewable energy that include photovoltaic solar

         16  systems, windmills, and biomass fuels for example,

         17  will complement the process of providing the city's

         18  future clean, energy efficient power.  Distributed

         19  generation can save consumers money by the

         20  installation of appropriate metering systems that

         21  promote electricity conservation during periods of

         22  high peak usage.  And according to the Mayor's task

         23  force, distributed generation can be installed

         24  relatively quickly.  It can improve the system's

         25  reliability, enhance environmental quality, and
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          2  accommodate cost- effective peak load strategies.

          3                 Distributive generation also has many

          4  stakeholders.  Among them, construction engineers,

          5  architectural engineers, electrical engineers,

          6  bankers and investment analyst, and energy suppliers

          7  not to mention newly trained installation

          8  maintenance workers.  The system can be used by

          9  homeowners, small, medium, and large size

         10  businesses, industrial facilities, utilities, and

         11  economic development projects.  It takes up less

         12  space, is flexible, adaptable, and customizable.  It

         13  lends itself to hybrid systems that are more fuel

         14  efficient.  Public policy and legislation must be

         15  fashioned so as to incentivize the expansive

         16  installation of distributive generation in the

         17  private sector.  As for our government, it should

         18  take the lead by celebrating the installation of

         19  distributed generation at its largest city owned

         20  buildings that use large amounts of energy.

         21                 I would like to end by stating that

         22  the NYC Apollo does not favor a distributed

         23  generation system that relies on the use of

         24  combustible fossil fuels.  That will only harm the

         25  city. We must work to change the past practices that
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          2  got us into the mess we're in.  The option of

          3  distributed generation sourced by renewable energy

          4  and energy efficient technologies, we in the NYC

          5  Apollo, believe is the way to go.

          6                 Thank you.

          7

          8  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

          9  J. REYES- MONTBLANC

         10  COOPERATIVE COALITION TO PREVENT BLACKOUTS

         11

         12                 Good morning.  I am J. Reyes

         13  Montblanc the Chairman of the Cooperative Coalition

         14  to Prevent Blackouts, which we refer to as the CCPB

         15  or the Coalition.

         16                 The CCPB is an unincorporated

         17  association whose members seek to develop and

         18  implement methods for New York City's cooperative

         19  residential sector to advance the goals of retail

         20  competition in the electricity marketplace and

         21  assure immediate and long- term electric reliability

         22  at competitive prices. Coalition members promote

         23  electric submetering as a benefit to all master-

         24  metered and direct- metered buildings and, as a

         25  vehicle to facilitate time- based electricity
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          2  pricing structures including real time pricing

          3  ("RTP"), when the energy portion of a building wide

          4  electric purchase derives from the New York State

          5  Independent System Operator's ("ISO") wholesale

          6  electric Day Ahead Market ("DAM").

          7                 The Cooperative Coalition to Prevent

          8  Blackouts originally formed to address the

          9  underlying causes of the 1999 blackout in Northern

         10  Manhattan and the Bronx.  Since then the CCPB has

         11  advocated time based rates for the residential and

         12  small business customers with an advanced

         13  electricity metering infrastructure to enable

         14  effective curtailment responses to peak system

         15  demand.  The power blackouts in Queens this past

         16  summer evidence the need for much work to establish

         17  effective rates and technical support for greater

         18  system reliability.

         19                 The experience of the CCPB has been

         20  primarily in the area of enabling multifamily

         21  buildings to respond to peak system demand in New

         22  York City through dynamic price response and

         23  curtailment.  To this end Energy Investment Systems

         24  (EIS) has been assisting the Coalition equip

         25  buildings with time based (advanced interval)
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          2  metering systems and utilizing time based rates,

          3  including Real Time Pricing (RTP) from Con Edison.

          4                 The CCPB works with New York City and

          5  New York State governments to develop solutions to

          6  present widespread dangerous weaknesses in the

          7  electricity delivery system in New York City.  Our

          8  primary focus is on neighborhoods that are

          9  predominately (sic) residential with small

         10  businesses that are most severely affected by the

         11  blackouts, continue to be the most at risk, and have

         12  the fewest resources to protect themselves.

         13                 The CCPB is alarmed at the vulnerable

         14  condition of the Con Edison power system as exposed

         15  by the power emergencies and blackouts of July and

         16  August this year.  The press reported that even

         17  larger areas were in danger of blacking out during

         18  these emergencies.  Queens in many ways experienced

         19  what Washington Heights did in 1999- that gave rise

         20  to the CCPB. Investigations of the 1999 events

         21  disclosed needs for major upgrading of the Con Ed

         22  system and vulnerabilities to high power demands.

         23  Information to date from the NYS Attorney General's

         24  Office reveals that Con Ed did little to upgrade the

         25  network City Wide.  Programs that should have been

                                                            233

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  provided by State Agencies were not in place to

          3  prevent and effectively respond to power

          4  emergencies.

          5                 New York City Government at all

          6  levels has demonstrated an awareness of the

          7  seriousness of the City's electricity system needs

          8  and a determination to effect the necessary changes.

          9    The primary responsibility for improving NYC's

         10  electricity reliability and affordability lies with

         11  Con Edison, the NYS Public Service Commission (the

         12  PSC), the State Energy Research and Development

         13  Authority, (NYSERDA.

         14                 The CCPB sees the need for major

         15  collective consumer action and public support to

         16  ensure that effective programs and resources are in

         17  place to prevent power emergencies in New York for

         18  the short and long term.  Programs are needed that

         19  provide strong incentives and support for consumers

         20  to cut back on usage during periods of high demand

         21  on the system.  As residents are presently charged

         22  flat rates throughout the day and evening, they have

         23  no price incentive to reduce usage when demand and

         24  wholesale market prices are highest.  The flat rate

         25  structure further prevents them from reducing their
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          2  costs through reducing demand by shifting usage to

          3  lower demand periods.  Our work with Energy

          4  Investment Systems on NYSERDA sponsored

          5  demonstrations has found that Real Time Pricing

          6  (known as RTP) rate structures can potentially

          7  stimulate substantial curtailment in usage in

          8  response to high prices and emergencies.

          9                 We have been attempting to achieve

         10  such results over the past two years through

         11  collaboration with the NYC EDC to develop a summer

         12  RTP curtailment program, with support of the PSC and

         13  NYSERDA.

         14                 We have engaged the PSC and NYSERDA

         15  in these efforts to provide the necessary investment

         16  and rate incentives with minimal effect.

         17                 One)  To be fully effective, rate

         18  based demand response programs in New York City have

         19  to overcome barriers built into Con Ed Tariffs and

         20  PSC regulations, including:

         21                 A)  Only flat monthly rates are

         22  available to single family homes and direct metered

         23  apartments.  NYC Council Resolution 425 addresses

         24  this problem.

         25                 B)  Cost disadvantage and opaque
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          2  information for consumers on market supply costs in

          3  relationship to RTP costs. The CCPB with NYC EDC and

          4  EIS have raised this issue which has been ignored by

          5  NYSERDA.

          6                 C)  Difficulty of consumers

          7  responding to [Transmission and Distribution] Demand

          8  charges [unpredictable and not in sync with RTP

          9  market supply].  The CCPB with NYC EDC have raised

         10  this issue and the NYS PSC.

         11                 D)  Direct metered rental apartments

         12  cannot be aggregated for time based rates [hourly

         13  and demand] Because the PSC does not allow their

         14  submetering.

         15                 E)  Con Ed has a monopoly on

         16  electricity distribution and it responsible only to

         17  the PSC for customer service.

         18                 Two)  Further serious questions need

         19  to be answered concerning the effectiveness of PSC

         20  direction and oversight of Con Edison and use of

         21  NYSERDA resources for this purpose:  Specific items

         22  include:

         23                 A)  Results of the PSC Mandatory

         24  Hourly Pricing (MHP) proceeding.

         25                 B)  Response to EDC and CCPB concerns
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          2  raised about effectiveness of Con Ed RTP Tariff.

          3                 C)  Availability of effective

          4  incentive programs to reduce demand on local grids-

          5  including the Con Ed Distribution Load relief

          6  Program [DLRP].

          7                 D)  Reaching effective resolution of

          8  long proceedings on competitive metering, net-

          9  metering and time- based metering.

         10                 These proceedings should spur the

         11  implementation of demand response enabling

         12  technologies.  To date no results exist.

         13                 Three)  CCPB proposes the following

         14  initiatives for vulnerable residential and small

         15  business areas.

         16                 These initiatives could be

         17  spearheaded by the City, enlist the cooperation of

         18  relevant State agencies, and draw on the resources

         19  of local stakeholders.

         20                 A)  NYC initiatives:

         21                 One)  Continue investigation into the

         22  effectiveness of existing incentives and programs

         23  for demand response.

         24                 Two)  Develop special NYC real estate

         25  tax abatement incentives for demand response
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          2  enabling technologies.

          3                 B)  Cooperative NYC NYS initiatives:

          4                 One.  Develop robust pricing and

          5  curtailment demand response incentive programs to

          6  prevent and respond to power emergencies.

          7                 Two.  Develop special incentives to

          8  reduce demand on local utility distribution

          9  networks.

         10                 Three.  Direct funding from System

         11  Benefit Charges to support new NYC demand response

         12  initiatives that contribute the most to NYC system

         13  reliability and efficiency.

         14                 Four.  Have new demand response

         15  programs address major ignored housing sectors:

         16                 (One)  Direct metered rental

         17  buildings [cannot be aggregated through submetering]

         18                 (Two)  Single family homes- not

         19  eligible for RTP or ISO programs [practically]

         20                 (Three)  Mixed use buildings- need

         21  for effective coordinated demand response

         22  strategies.

         23                 C)  Sponsor and support demonstration

         24  projects and policy analysis research to assure the

         25  effectiveness of demand response incentive programs.
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          2                 D)  Sponsor and support reporting on

          3  and marketing effective programs and educating

          4  consumers on their use.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 2:26 p.m.)
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